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ABB Grain is a leading Australian agribusiness with a multi-faceted operation and 
international focus. ABB’s diversified operations stretch across the entire supply 
chain. The company’s core business divisions include supply chain operations, 
grain marketing, malt and rural services. ABB employs 1100 staff across its 
divisions throughout Australia and internationally.

Supply Chain
ABB’s supply chain division involves storage, 

handling and logistics operations, which includes 

111 silos with a total capacity of more than 

10m tonnes. ABB owns eight silos on the east 

coast of Australia through its joint ownership of 

Australian Bulk Alliance with Japanese trading 

house Sumitomo, which includes combined 

ownership of the Port of Melbourne grain 

terminal. ABB’s South Australian grain storage 

network includes all seven grain export terminals 

located in the state. This supply chain position 

will be strengthened further with the completion 

of ABB’s world class Outer Harbor grain export 

terminal in early 2009.

Another aspect of ABB’s supply chain activities 

is its container packing operations through 

subsidiary, Prograin, which specialises in the 

containerisation of a whole range of grains 

and other commodities for export shipment. 

Prograin has sites at Laverton (Melbourne), 

Dooen ( Victoria), Port Adelaide (SA), Two Wells 

(SA) and Henderson (WA), together with a new 

state-of-the-art facility planned for Sydney 

(Minto). Complementing the container activities 

are a range of cleaning, grading and bagging 

options in three of the above sites. ABB has also 

strengthened its freight network through an 

agreement with Genesee & Wyoming Australia 

to utilise rail networks throughout South Australia 

to transport grain to port in a cost effective and 

environmentally friendly way. Another aspect 

of the supply chain is Southern Wharf Services, 

which manages the shipping program for ABB 

and provides ship owners and shippers with 

bulk shipping services across Australian ports. 

ABB utilises its supply chain strength to  

optimise the movement of grain through its 

network, as well as continuing to increase the 

volume of non-grain commodities handled 

through its system. 

The division continues to increase efficiencies 

through the storage and handling network and 

in recent years has successfully reduced the 

overall breakeven tonnage figures for its sites. 

This enables ABB to operate more efficiently in 

low receival years and maximise opportunities  

in normal to above-average years. 

Joe White Maltings
ABB Grain’s malting division, Joe White Maltings 

(JWM), is one of the world’s largest producers of 

malt with the capacity to produce more than 

500,000 tonnes per annum. The eight malting 

plants strategically positioned across Australia 

include the largest malt house in the southern 

hemisphere, situated in Perth (WA). JWM's capacity 

will increase by another 108,000 tonnes when 

the Minto malt house, south-west of Sydney, 

is completed. JWM is one of the top 10 sales 

maltsters in the world and exports approximately 

80 per cent of its malt. JWM supplies to brewers 

in countries including Singapore, Japan, Thailand, 

Vietnam, Korea, Indonesia, Cambodia, Papua 

New Guinea, Philippines, eastern Russia and 

Nepal. JWM supplies to major world brewers 

such as Carlsberg, Heineken, Beer Thai, San Miguel 

and Sapporo. Its Australian customers include 

Lion Nathan, Coopers and Nestle. JWM is also 

responsible for research into various aspects of 

malting techniques, including a single steeping 

process to reduce water usage. 

Grain Marketing
ABB’s grain marketing division involves a 

national accumulation team that sources grain 

from all grain growing regions across Australia, 

and in turn markets all commodities both 

domestically and overseas. ABB has long 

been Australia’s largest barley exporter but 

today is a significant marketer of a range of 

commodities. ABB’s integrated business model 

enables it to source malting barley through its 

grain accumulation operations to supply its 

malt houses. ABB is also an active marketer of 
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third-origin grain, enabling it to supply grain to 

customers all year round. Shipping cottonseed 

out of the United States in containers is now one 

of ABB’s largest export programs. ABB has already 

committed hundreds of thousands of tonnes 

of wheat through its significant wheat export 

program following the recent deregulation 

of the Australian bulk wheat export market. 

Since the container export market was 

deregulated in August 2007, ABB has been 

supplying customers with wheat in containers 

and is now able to export wheat in bulk to its 

growing network of overseas customers.

ABB’s New Zealand operations are focused 

on the marketing and distribution of grains 

and proteins. ABB supports its New Zealand 

marketing activity with strategically positioned 

infrastructure assets which include two new 

storage facilities and a state-of-the-art feed mill, 

which is currently under construction. ABB this 

year completed its purchase of New Zealand 

maize player, NZ Grain and Seed Ltd, known as 

TAG, one of New Zealand’s largest maize dryers. 

Also in 2008, ABB purchased the cattle feed 

business of New Zealand’s PCL Feeds (a division 

of New Zealand company Mainland Poultry). 

Through PCL, ABB focuses on feed manufacturing 

and retailing.

ABB’s Ukrainian joint venture with Soufflet, 

New World Grain, is another element of the 

company’s grain marketing activity. Through New 

World Grain, ABB is involved in accumulating 

grain, managing supply chain activities and 

marketing grain from Ukraine.

Rural Services
The Rural Services division was established in 

late 2006 as part of ABB’s diversification strategy 

and expansion into non-grain agricultural areas, 

primarily farm inputs and outputs. ABB’s range 

of rural services include fertiliser and agchem 

supply, general merchandise, financial services, 

wool and livestock activities. The latter have been 

supported by the acquisitions of Adelaide Wool 

Company, Wardle Co and Stawool in 2007.

Wardle Co’s network expanded in 2008 with 

new merchandise stores in Minlaton, Streaky Bay 

and Broken Hill. Agchem depots were opened 

in Tumby Bay, Loxton and Pinnaroo, while a new 

livestock and real estate office was opened in 

Port Lincoln.

Livestock marketing activities continue to be a 

key part of ABB’s diversification plan. The current 

focus is on the export of dairy cattle to China, 

Indonesia and a number of other key markets in 

Asia. This division successfully exported a number 

of shipments of beef cattle to clients in Indonesia 

earlier in the year. ABB has a dynamic live export 

team and a key focus on developing new clients 

and markets, positioning it to capitalise on an 

increased demand for dairy products in these 

expanding markets.

ABB's Pt Giles facility.
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Year in Summary

Grain Marketing
• 4.4mt marketed (up 13% on 2007)

• Internal supply to Joe White Maltings

• Increase in volumes marketed

• Growth in international marketing 

• Prudent risk management in volatile  

price environment

Rural Services
• Positive contribution in first full year  

of operations

• Significant growth

• Acquisition of Stawool and Bagnell & Gordon

• New Wardle Co. store openings

Supply Chain
• Receivals of 3.5mt, an increase of 94%  

on 2007, but still drought impacted

• New pricing structure 

• New mineral sands contract

• New  five year rail freight agreement  

with Genesee & Wyoming Australia 

• Port Adelaide Prograin facility  

commenced operations

Malt
• Record result

• Maintaining long term customer  

relationships

• Management of WA gas disruption

• Water recycling focus

• Production at full capacity
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Chairman’s Report
The past year has seen enormous transformation 

in our industry. The deregulation of export grain 

markets has provided interesting challenges and 

opportunities for companies such as ABB Grain.

Deregulation of the barley ‘single desk’ means 

ABB Grain no longer has sole responsibility for 

accumulating and marketing export-bound 

grain from South Australia. This has warranted a 

total review of how pools should operate given 

the multiplicity of traders now able to accumulate 

and sell grain to international customers. ABB Grain 

has further improved its efficiency and innovation 

in response to meeting changed marketing 

circumstances and, importantly, continued to 

invest in research and development.

With the deregulation of wheat exports, 

and awarding of export accreditation to ABB Grain, 

our company is now able to satisfy international 

customers who for some time have been seeking  

to buy wheat from ABB Grain. In October 2008  

we loaded our first bulk shipments of wheat for 

Papua New Guinea and New Zealand and were  

one of the first companies to do so under the  

new export arrangements. In the coming months 

and years, ABB will be seeking to further expand  

its international marketing horizons, satisfying  

long-standing and newly acquired customers’  

needs for wheat.

ABB Grain continues to diversify its business both 

in Australia and internationally. In Ukraine, our joint 

venture with Soufflet Groupe – New World Grain – 

is progressing successfully and we already are 

accumulating and exporting grain from the 

Black Sea. Investigations continue towards 

acquisition or construction of storage and handling 

facilities to complement our marketing activities. 

In New Zealand, work is nearing completion  

on ABB’s extensive storage facilities at Tauranga, 

while our storage facilities at New Plymouth are 

already open for business. Next year we plan to 

begin work on a major new feed mill in 

South Auckland.

Looking back on some of ABB’s achievements 

during 2008, one highlight was the successful 

institutional placement through the issue of 

20.5 million new ordinary shares raising 

approximately $187 million. Proceeds from that 

placement will be used to fund a new malt house 

and container packing facility near Sydney; the three 

growth projects in New Zealand mentioned above 

and for general corporate purposes. The capital 

raising has enabled ABB Grain to consolidate its 

market position as, irrefutably, Australia’s leading,  

listed agribusiness company.

While mentioning financial matters, in August 

ABB Grain successfully completed a new 

$1.2 billion syndicated debt facility. Arranged by 

the Commonwealth Bank of Australia and Rabobank 

International, the debt facility received strong 

support from Australian and international banks and 

closed over-subscribed. The new facility provides 

ABB with greater funding flexibility to meet its future 

growth plans both in Australia and overseas.

ABB Grain’s Community Fund continues to support 

the wider community in Australia’s rural regions. 

Since the launch of this fund two years ago ABB  

has been able to provide over $420,000 to a variety 

of rural community projects in areas such as 

education and training, health, youth development 

and local amenity.

In November 2008, ABB announced that it had 

entered into discussions with AWB Ltd regarding  

a possible merger. 

Managing Director’s Report
During the past 12 months, ABB Grain has 

worked extremely hard to improve its balance 

sheet, reduce debt, pursue a returns-driven 

culture and continue a strategy of organic 

growth and diversification.

ABB Grain has established a strong balance 

sheet – and reduced gearing from 47 per cent 

to 25 per cent in the second half of 2008 – 

by making reductions to working capital 

and issue of new equity. Working capital 

was reduced by 42 per cent to $482m in the 

second half of 2008. Limits have been set on 

the quantum of capital available for use within 

each business unit, with a focus on achieving 

acceptable returns.

In June, a successful institutional placement 

resulted in ABB raising $187 million through 

the issue of an additional 20.5 million shares. 

This was followed in August, when ABB 

successfully refinanced its debt through a 

$1.2 billion syndicated debt facility. The facility 

was arranged by the Commonwealth Bank of 

Australia and Rabobank International,  

and strongly supported by Westpac Bank,  

ANZ Bank, National Australia Bank and HSBC 

Bank. ABB now has greater funding flexibility 

enabling the company to meet its growth 

plans here and overseas. 

Despite a below-average harvest in 2007 of  

3.5 million tonnes, ABB delivered a six-fold 

increase in net profit after tax for 2008 of  

$48.8 million. This was due to strong 

performances from all of ABB’s businesses 

including grain marketing, malt manufacture, 

supply chain and rural services, which  

delivered its first full-year of operations. 

ABB’s malt-manufacturing division, Joe White 

Maltings, posted a record earnings result,  

driven off production, margins and costs.  

Earnings before interest and income tax (EBIT)  

rose 21 per cent to $35.8 million. 

Malt production was at available capacity 

but sales fell 8 per cent due to the Perth plant 

gas outage, resulting in two months of lost 

production. In 2008, we also celebrated 

Joe White Maltings’ 150th anniversary.

Grain Marketing’s significantly improved 

result was driven by better margins and 

increased volumes, and growth. EBIT increased 

by 539 per cent to $65.9 million. Overseas, our 

new Ukrainian grain marketing operations to 

the end of November 2008 was in excess of  

400,000 tonnes handled.
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The board was interested in exploring opportunities 

for the two businesses to come together and create 

an Australian company with increased scale and 

strength. The board also believed the merger had 

the potential to capture synergy opportunities for 

the benefit of shareholders. 

However, after working through a detailed process 

with AWB, the board was unable to agree to 

commercial terms for a merger with AWB that would 

have created value for ABB shareholders. As a result, 

your board unanimously decided to not continue 

the discussions. The board was united in the view 

that the negotiations with AWB would not result  

in a merger that would have been in the interests  

of ABB shareholders. 

Finally, on behalf of the ABB board, I express  

gratitude for the leadership demonstrated 

over many years by our Managing Director,  

Michael Iwaniw. Michael’s dedication and  

extensive understanding of the grains industry  

was acknowledged in late October when he 

was named National Australia Bank’s ‘Agribusiness  

Leader of the Year’. 

As announced at the last annual general meeting, 

Michael has indicated to the board that he plans to 

retire during 2009 after dedicating most of his entire 

working life to the grains industry – 40 years of that 

with our business. 

In the next 12 months I look forward to further 

progressing ABB Grain’s business activities in what 

clearly will be challenging times – especially given 

the uncertainty of the current global financial 

environment and volatility of commodity prices  

and exchange rates. I remain convinced, however,  

that ABB Grain is well served by its current board 

and has the experienced staff to overcome 

whatever major challenges may lie ahead.

Perry Gunner

Chairman 

Supply Chain division increased EBIT by 

114 per cent to $15.8 million despite only 

3.5 million tonnes of grain being delivered 

into the system. This excellent result was due 

to the introduction of a new storage and 

handling structure, continued cost containment 

and diversification.

Rural Services’ positive result, in its first full 

year of production, principally was achieved 

through growth and acquisitions.  EBIT increased 

131 per cent on the previous year to $12 million. 

Growth came from businesses established 

in the last year or so: wool, chemicals and live 

export cattle shipments and acquisitions 

including the purchase of Stawool and Bagnell 

& Gordon. Four new Wardle Co stores 

were opened across South Australia and 

New South Wales.

Time has the effect of compressing events 

nevertheless it seems unbelievable that in 

the past year ABB has purchased Stawool in 

Western Australia, NZ Grain & Seed (TAG) and 

PCL Feeds’ ruminants division in New Zealand. 

The past year also has seen work continue on 

ABB’s deep sea grain terminal at Outer Harbor, 

to be commissioned in the first quarter of 2009. 

ABB in New Zealand has completed extensive 

new grain and feed supplement storage 

facilities at New Plymouth and larger facilities 

are nearing completion at Tauranga. As I write 

this report, work is due to begin on a new feed 

mill in South Auckland which will have an initial 

annual capacity of 150,000 tonnes.

During 2009, construction will begin on 

ABB Grain’s ninth malt house – at Minto, 

in outer Sydney – besides a grain container 

packing and handling complex. Both will 

maximise production and containerisation of 

product for export to overseas brewers using 

rail connections to Port Botany.

Also noteworthy during 2008 was our first 

grain exports from Ukraine, following creation 

of ABB’s joint venture with Soufflet Groupe – 

New World Grain. In August our first bulk 

shipment of barley was loaded at Sevastopol 

for two long-established customers in the 

Middle East. Exporting grain from Ukraine 

enables ABB to extend its shipping program  

for most of the year.

In September, ABB Grain received confirmation 

of bulk wheat export accreditation from 

Wheat Exports Australia. Subsequently, at Port 

Adelaide on October 15, ABB began loading 

its first bulk shipment aboard the Ma Cho, 

bound for Papua New Guinea.

While ABB has been synonymous with 

handling grain, non-grain commodities are 

increasingly becoming part of our business. 

In 2008 ABB signed an agreement with Iluka 

Resources to export 600,000 tonnes  

of mineral sands. While a significant addition 

to the existing 2.7 million tonnes of non-grain 

commodities ABB annually handles, 

a quantum leap will occur when South 

Australia experiences a substantial increase  

in mining sector activity.

Finally, I want to acknowledge the tremendous 

efforts made by all ABB Grain staff in 2008.  

Each year as ABB grows it seems we require 

more of our staff – and they respond with 

increased enthusiasm and resolve. As I have 

said many times, ABB’s dedicated staff are 

fiercely protective of our company’s  

reputation and culture.

In the past decade ABB Grain has grown 

exponentially, through good times and hard 

times. This has been done by sticking to what  

we know best – our core business – and pursuing 

a disciplined growth program. 

ABB through growth in adversity has shown 

its adaptability, willingness for diversification 

and a preparedness to tackle major structural 

challenges such as strengthening the balance 

sheet, reducing costs and normalising our  

share structure.

These are exhilarating but challenging 

times. However, I am certain that with 

the determination of our staff and senior 

management, and the guidance of the  

board, ABB Grain can look forward to a  

very bright future.

Michael Iwaniw

Managing Director
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The deregulation of the Australian grains industry 

presents a range of opportunities and challenges 

for ABB’s Supply Chain division. In South Australia, 

the majority of grain still flows towards ABB’s 

ports but there are now more bidders and 

owners of grain within the system. Therefore,  

an increasingly complex task has been to meet 

the company’s expanding road and rail tasks 

for bulk and containerised grain and to meet 

customer requirements. 

One way in which ABB has tackled this task is 

through its recent agreement with rail-freight 

transportation operator Genesee & Wyoming 

Australia, representing a significant investment 

in the supply chain. This five-year agreement 

will see millions of tonnes of grain harvested 

in SA and moved on the rail network, enabling 

ABB to efficiently rail into its Port Adelaide and 

Port Lincoln export facilities and eventually 

its new Outer Harbor terminal. The industry 

requires a coordinated supply chain approach 

for all exporters and ABB is uniquely positioned 

to provide this service and in-turn capture 

opportunities along the supply chain path.

For the 2008/09 harvest, ABB introduced Export 

Select, which is a grain logistics solution that 

enables other grain marketers operating within 

ABB’s storage and handling network to engage 

ABB to manage the movement of their grain 

to an export position at port. This allows ABB 

operations and logistics teams to determine 

when and from where grain will be drawn 

to meet shipping requirements, enabling 

reduced costs and resource efficiencies. 

ABB is uniquely positioned 
to capture opportunities 
along the supply 
chain path.

In recent years ABB’s storage and handling 

division has consistently reduced its operating 

costs, reducing the breakeven tonnage figure 

required in its receival system. This enables ABB 

to operate more efficiently in low receival years 

and to maximise opportunities in average 

to above-average seasons.

Another aspect of ABB’s supply chain activities 

includes its container packing operations, 

Prograin. Container exports have continued to 

grow in 2008 and Prograin last year processed 

over 20,000 TEUs (20-foot equivalent units). 

A new site at Pt Adelaide was commissioned 

and is fully operational, while a site at Henderson 

near Kwinana, WA, became operational in 

October. A container packing facility is also due 

to be built alongside the new malting plant 

at Minto, near Sydney in NSW, cementing ABB 

Grain’s position as one of the biggest container 

exporters in Australia. 

ABB’s strength in the supply chain extends beyond 

the movement of grain. The storage, handling 

and shipment of non-grain commodities like 

dolomite, salt, gypsum and mineral sands has been 

a continued focus of ABB. The company recently 

reached a memorandum of understanding 

with resources company Iluka to ship up to 

600,000 tonnes a year of mineral sands, primarily 

zircon, from the export terminal at Thevenard, 

which will add to the 2.7m tonnes of non-grain 

commodities ABB handled last financial year.
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ABB's Bowmans site.

Strength in our supply chain 
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Outer Harbor 
ABB’s world-class deep sea port grain terminal is 

on track to be completed early in 2009. This site 

will have the capacity to fully load Panamax-size 

vessels (50,000 to 70,000 deadweight tonnes) 

and part-load Cape-size vessels. This will speed 

up vessel turnaround and provide savings in 

two-port loading costs and blue water sea 

freight costs. The new facility will ensure ABB 

retains its competitive advantage to be able 

to ship to the Middle East and Asia, as well as 

providing an irreplaceable service to other grain 

companies. It will be a welcome addition to ABB’s 

existing extensive port and storage network, 

further cementing its position in the supply 

chain. The facility will also meet the long-held 

demands of the grain industry by providing an 

ability to one-port load grain from central and 

eastern South Australia. The Outer Harbor grain 

terminal will extend ABB’s catchment region well 

in to western Victoria.

Outer Harbor’s ten steel storage bins will 

have a total capacity of 65,000 tonnes of grain. 

A 20-storey high central elevator tower will take 

grain on receival and distribute it into the bins. 

The site capacity will be supported during 

vessel loading by the incoming rail and road 

delivery of grain receivals. The grain terminal 

is circled by a 3.5 kilometre long rail loop 

enabling continuous unloading of trains. 

Two rail wagons can be unloaded at a time 

at 2400 tonnes of grain an hour. A road grid 

can also take A-double (36.5m truck + trailer 

+ trailer configurations) vehicles. The ship 

loader will be connected by an above-ground, 

enclosed conveyor system. The site will have a 

high level of automation. For example, 

trucks and trains will be weighed automatically 

before and after unloading. This information 

will be transferred in real time through ABB’s 

computer system so staff will know precise 

amounts of grain in the system. The staffing 

levels will be reduced to suit the application 

and these efficiencies will benefit both 

growers and grain marketers.

Outer Harbor, once fully commissioned early 

in 2009, will be able to operate 24 hours a day, 

seven days a week. The facility highlights ABB’s 

commitment to the grain industry. 

This has been a significant investment designed 

to add value to ABB’s business and improve 

efficiencies for the future. 

The new facility at Outer Harbor will also 

provide an opportunity for ABB to continue its 

storage, handling and shipments of non-grain 

commodities. This will position the company 

to support the strength in the mining industry 

in South Australia and benefit from other 

markets. It will also mean more efficient use of 

SA ports, improved returns through cost savings, 

averting the potential loss of premium overseas 

markets and optimising matching of grain stocks 

to customer needs.

Outer Harbor.



Heading

ABB GRAIN LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2008

  
The Australian grains industry has entered  

a new era. Gone are the wheat and barley  

single desks and in their place, a fully  

deregulated grains market. 

After months of consultation, the Federal 

Government’s Wheat Export Marketing 

Act 2008 was passed in the last week of June. 

This legislation is significant in that AWB is no 

longer the only company able to export wheat 

from Australia. In its place are a number of 

Federal Government accredited companies, 

allowing more competition and benefits to 

growers, customers and marketers alike.

In September, ABB received the green light to 

export bulk wheat. This means ABB is now able  

to export wheat in bulk to its growing network  

of overseas customers. These customers are eager 

to buy wheat from an established Australian 

company that has demonstrated its reliability  

and professional manner in conducting 

international business activities. Since the 

container export market was deregulated in 

August 2007, ABB has been supplying many 

of these overseas customers with wheat in 

containers. The majority of this has been packed 

through ABB’s container packing division, 

ABB actively engages 
with its customers to 
ensure it provides them 
with the quality and 
quantity of grain they 
require, when they 
require it.

Prograin, and through Australian Bulk Alliance, 

a partnership between ABB Grain and 

Japanese trading company Sumitomo. 

This early container trade has helped to 

develop and strengthen those relationships 

in preparation for deregulation.

ABB wasted no time in securing its first bulk 

wheat export under the new deregulated 

system. The Hong Kong registered Ma Cho 

loaded 16,000 mt of APW wheat in October 

from Port Adelaide for Papua New Guinea.  

ABB has already committed hundreds of 

thousands of tonnes of wheat through its 

significant wheat export program. 

ABB has been in the grains business for  

almost 70 years and has vast experience  

in running pools and exporting grains and 

other commodities to dozens of countries  

and diverse cultures. ABB actively engages 

with its customers to ensure it provides  

them with the quality and quantity of grain 

they require, when they require it. ABB has  

a solid export program on the books for  

the new Australian grain crop; giving 

Australian growers confidence ABB can 

connect them to the international market.

The Ma Cho in port to load ABB's first bulk wheat export.

A new era in grain marketing 
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Grain accumulated and marketed by ABB finds 

its way to many and varied destinations around 

the world. In Asia, millions of people each year 

drink beer brewed from Australian malting 

barley. In Saudi Arabia, Bedouin tribes people 

feed their camels and livestock Australian feed 

barley. And in Italy, meals of pasta have been 

created from Australian durum wheat.

The volatility in the global economy in 2008 

has not slowed ABB’s marketing activities. 

The lower Australian dollar and lower ocean 

freight rates mean Australia is now favoured by 

many international customers. ABB is a global 

business and has a marketing team keyed into 

the global commodity marketplace. Although 

its major activities still occur within Australia, 

much of what the company does is dependant 

on the global markets.  ABB has managed 

extremely well through recent volatility and is 

well-positioned to serve both customers and 

growers in 2009.

The Middle East has and continues to be a 

strong trading destination for ABB. Feed barley 

is a core demand and these customers prefer 

Australian feed barley as it is bright and clean 

and familiar. Australia’s barley moisture level of 

under 12 per cent is also favourable to buyers 

against higher moisture levels from other 

origins. ABB has a 10-year supply relationship 

with the United Feed Company, Saudi Arabia’s 

largest barley importer.

But it is not only Australian grain that ABB 

supplies to customers. ABB is active in 

moving third-origin grain, enabling ABB to 

supply grain to customers all year round. 

Shipping cottonseed out of the United States 

in containers is now one of ABB’s largest 

export programs. 

ABB’s team of grain accumulation managers 

are based in the key grain-growing regions 

of Australia where they accumulate all grains 

from Australian growers to in turn supply 

international and domestic markets. ABB’s field 

staff provide expert advice and assistance to 

Australian growers about the products and 

services offered by ABB. 

Through the integrated nature of ABB’s 

business model, the marketing division 

works closely with other parts of the business. 

For example, marketing for New Zealand and 

Ukraine is managed through the marketing 

division. ABB's Grain Marketing division is also 

responsible for marketing and shipping the 

malt produced by Joe White Maltings and 

supplying the majority of its malting barley 

requirements. Much of the grain accumulated 

through ABB’s field network has a ready 

market and this provides security to growers, 

marketers and shareholders alike. 

ABB has traded with, and had a presence in, 

New Zealand for several years and this division 

of the business is focused on the supply of 

meal and grain as inputs to the NZ compound 

feed industry, or to retailers who on-sell to 

producers. This also includes the marketing 

of milk powders to the dairy, poultry and pig 

industries through NZ and Australia.

In Ukraine, ABB has developed its joint  

venture New World Grain with French 

agribusiness Soufflet Groupe to accumulate 

grain. This grain is marketed domestically 

or on-sold to ABB and Soufflet for export 

to customers in northern Africa, the 

Mediterranean and the Middle East, 

strengthening ABB’s marketing abilities  

year-round. 

The market place – ABB’s marketing activities

Current export destinations
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Joe White Maltings (JWM) continues to be one  

of the company’s strongest performing divisions. 

In 2008, not only did Joe White Maltings celebrate 

its 150th anniversary, it also announced plans to 

build a new malt house in Sydney’s south west.

JWM will build a $90m plant at Minto, NSW, 

which will have an annual capacity of 

approximately 108,000 tonnes, adding to the 

company's existing 500,000 tonne capacity. 

This allows ABB to further cement its position 

as a reliable, low risk supplier of quality malt. 

The location is on the main Sydney-Melbourne 

rail line, allowing easy transfer of grain and it is 

also close to a major container export outlet  

at Port Botany. 

In April, Joe White Maltings celebrated its 150th 

anniversary in the Victorian city of Ballarat. 

The nation’s largest maltster, and one of the top 

10 sales maltsters in the world, began producing 

malt in the goldfields town in 1858.

Far from living in the past, JWM is determined 

to progress its business. Installation was 

completed late in the year of a 100-tonne 

circular kiln for drying malt at the Port Adelaide 

plant that produces about 80,000 tonnes of malt 

each year. This new kiln will replace three kilns 

that have operated over the past 30 years and 

will deliver improved energy efficiency, 

increased automation and improved process 

control as well as higher quality.

Production also increased at the Joe White 

Maltings plant in Devonport, Tasmania, 

this year to keep up with increasing demand 

for Tasmanian malt from local brewer Boags. 

Around 80 per cent of the malt produced by 

Joe White Maltings is exported to 16 countries. 

Domestic customers include Lion Nathan, 

Coopers and Nestle.

ABB stands uniquely positioned to service the 

emerging demands of the Asian malt market. 

JWM has developed strong relationships with 

many Asian customers and the development 

of the new malt plant means JWM will be able 

to fulfil those customers’ requirements. With a 

projected 8 per cent increase in beer production, 

the appetite for malt will remain strong in Asia. 

Australia is in an ideal position to capitalise on 

freight advantages with its proximity to the 

growing Asian markets. Shipments from Australia 

can arrive in their Asian destinations in under 

two weeks, while shipments from Europe can 

take four weeks. JWM is able to accumulate 

high quality Australian barley, preferred by 

Asian breweries, through its extensive grain 

accumulation network. 

Growing our malt business
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Australia is in an ideal position  
to capitalise on freight advantages  
with its proximity to the growing  
Asian markets.

Joe White Maltings’ Perth malt house.
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New Zealand

Three weeks before the official handover of 

ABB’s new storage facility in New Plymouth, 

on the North Island of New Zealand, in August, 

ABB loaded-in its first cargo of approximately 

24,000 tonnes of Palm Kernel Expeller Meal 

(PKE). This demonstrates the strong demand 

for feed imports into New Zealand and ABB’s 

commitment to making a significant investment 

in infrastructure in a country where export 

demand for dairy products has increased 

exponentially over recent years.

This New Plymouth site can store more than 

30,000 tonnes of product. A further site at 

Tauranga is nearing completion and will be able 

to store more than 50,000 tonnes of product.  

And a third project to build a A$30m state-of-

the-art feed mill in South Auckland began late 

in 2008. This will have an initial annual capacity 

of 150,000 tonnes which will increase to a 

maximum of 240,000 tonnes.

ABB has traded with and had a presence in 

New Zealand for many years with offices in 

Auckland and Christchurch operating as ABB NZ. 

Currently ABB NZ’s business is focused on the 

supply of grain and meal as inputs to the NZ 

food and feed industries, or to retailers who on-

sell to end users.

ABB NZ conducts a range of activities, including 

the distribution of a variety of milk powders to 

the dairy, poultry and pig industries 

throughout New Zealand and Australia. 

ABB NZ also this year completed its 

purchase of high-profile New Zealand 

maize player, NZ Grain and Seed Ltd,  

known as TAG, one of New Zealand’s 

largest maize dryers. This purchase is 

designed to further integrate ABB’s 

business model in NZ with TAG’s proximity 

to grain sources and key markets.

ABB’s international presence grows 
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Ukraine 

This has been a year of firsts for ABB in Ukraine. 

One of the most significant was in August,  

when the first bulk shipment of Ukrainian feed 

barley purchased from ABB’s joint venture 

company New World Grain was loaded and 

shipped. Nearly 40,000 tonnes of the recently-

harvested Ukrainian barley was shipped aboard 

the merchant vessel, Salome, to two of ABB’s 

long-established customers in Oman and the 

United Arab Emirates. 

New World Grain is a joint venture between ABB 

Grain and French agribusiness Soufflet Groupe.

Throughout 2008, ABB has been working hard  

to establish New World Grain as a leading 

international exporter of Black Sea origin grain. 

New World Grain accumulates grain from farmers 

and local trading companies, manages supply 

chain activities and markets grain both 

domestically and for export. Most business  

is undertaken on a ‘free on board’ basis to the 

marketing arms of ABB and Soufflet, who sell  

the grain globally to customers in northern Africa, 

the Mediterranean, the Middle East and Asia.

Last year, Ukraine had a harvest of 29 million 

tonnes but only 4 million tonnes was exported. 

This year, the Ukrainian grains harvest was a 

record 55 million tonnes and it is forecast that  

23 million tonnes will be exported.

New World Grain’s buying network covers the 

central and southern regions of Ukraine from  

its head office in Kiev and three regional offices 

in Nikolaev, Kirovograd and Dnipropetrovsk. 

New World Grain is investigating the purchase 

of existing Ukrainian storage facilities as well 

as the development of new storage in order to 

capture further value in the supply chain and 

enjoy greater logistics control. ABB’s Ukrainian 

activity enables it to extend its international 

shipping program for most of the year, 

supplying grain to customers from both 

Australian and Ukrainian origins. ABB’s export 

activity in Ukraine is complementary to its 

Australian export focus. The company is 

operating in a highly competitive market in 

Ukraine and continues to be a strong player in 

the global marketplace, all of which have 

positive outcomes for its Australian operations.

ABB continues to broaden its 
international network by forging 
partnerships in key markets.

The Salome loading Ukrainian feed barley.
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Diversification is a key factor in ABB’s  

continued growth and strength in the 

agricultural industry. Since its establishment 

in late 2006, ABB’s rural services division has 

grown significantly to now offer many farm 

input and output services to existing and 

new customers of ABB. 

In 2008, Wardle Co has expanded its domestic 

rural presence. New merchandise stores have 

opened in Minlaton, Streaky Bay and Broken 

Hill, a new livestock and real estate office was 

opened in Port Lincoln and agchem depots in 

Tumby Bay, Loxton and Pinnaroo were opened. 

Wardle is the largest independent livestock 

agent in SA and its network extends across 

Eyre and Yorke Peninsulas and into South 

Australia’s Northern and Far North regions. 

While the company’s chief activity is livestock, 

it also offers merchandise, real estate, insurance, 

fertiliser and wool broking services to growers. 

Late in 2008, Wardle Co established a dedicated 

wool broking and auctioning service, extending 

its range of services to its customers. 

The Wardle Co experience is now also available 

online after the launch in November of the 

Wardle Co website. The website has not been 

designed to replace the personal service that 

Wardle Co stores and staff are well known for 

but will instead enhance the way Wardle Co 

interacts with its customers.

Diversification has also extended beyond 

Wardle Co, with wool brokering business 

StaWool, purchased late in 2007, now being 

ranked the third largest wool broker in 

Western Australia. In SA, Adelaide Wool 

Company continues to grow its market share, 

also acquiring Melbourne-based VicWool, 

securing a new auction show floor and 

Melbourne wool handling facilities.

ABB’s wool export division is another success 

story for the company. ABB Wool Export has 

grown from a start-up with a streamlined and 

direct to customer business model late in 2007 

to become the fourth largest wool exporter 

out of Australia. This has been achieved while 

exceeding budget expectations and delivering 

a significant financial contribution to the 

company each year. Wool from Australian 

growers is exported to customers in the major 

markets of China, Italy and India. 

ABB’s fertiliser division has continued to exceed 

customer expectations and hold its market 

share in its major operating markets of South 

Australia and Victoria during volatile times in 

the fertiliser industry, while delivering a record 

financial contribution to the group.

Another key part of ABB’s diversification plan 

has been livestock marketing activities where 

the current focus is on the export of dairy cattle 

to China, Indonesia and a number of other 

key markets in Asia. The division successfully 

exported a number of shipments of beef cattle 

to clients in Indonesia earlier in the year. 

ABB is well placed to capitalise on an 

increased demand for dairy products in these 

expanding markets due to its dynamic live 

export team and key focus on developing new 

clients and markets and dealing directly with 

them whenever possible.

Value adding through diversification
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ABB and the community 
As an Australian agribusiness ABB Grain has 

strong connections to rural and regional 

communities across the country. 

ABB values this relationship and understands 

the importance of providing support, which it 

does in a number of ways including through 

the ABB Grain Community Fund. 

Since it was launched in late 2006, the Fund 

has donated more than $420,000 to regional 

community groups across Australia. Grants are 

provided to education and training, health, 

youth development and community amenity 

projects, which have a positive impact on the 

communities involved. In its first two years, 

the Fund has assisted more than 100 groups 

with funding for projects. All grants are chosen 

through an independent selection committee 

and distributed twice yearly. 

Separate to the Community Fund, ABB also  

has a broad sponsorship program that 

provides support to local communities. 

For example, this year ABB was the major 

ABB provides community support  
in a number of ways, one of which  is 
through the ABB Grain Community Fund. 
In its first two years the Fund has assisted 
more than 100 groups with project funding.

sponsor of Kick for Cancer, which was a 

fund-raising event that involved a team of 

volunteers kicking a football from Port Lincoln 

to Adelaide to raise money for the Cancer 

Council. Daily activities along the route enabled 

local communities together with ABB staff to be 

involved with this great fund-raising initiative.

ABB also provides financial and corporate 

support to a wide range of cropping and 

agronomic groups across the country. 

Reproduced courtesy Calum Robertson,  
The Advertiser.
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Climate Change
Climatic data shows Australia is experiencing 

rising temperatures and declining rainfall, 

presenting a challenge for agricultural industry 

participants. According to CSIRO, temperatures 

are expected to rise by another 1° C by 2030  

and between 1°C and 5°C by 2070 depending  

on the rate of greenhouse gas emissions.  

ABB recognises this challenge and is responding 

by minimising its environmental footprint  

and adapting to changing conditions.  

ABB’s adaptation strategies include increasing 

operational efficiencies, diversification 

geographically and across the supply chain, 

supporting progressive and sustainable  

farming practices and investing in research  

and development. 

Increasing efficiencies

ABB’s Supply Chain division has been steadily 

reducing its breakeven costs during the past 

few years to mitigate the financial impact of 

lower grain receival years. The focus has been on 

reducing grain handling labour costs,  

value adding to by-products and generating 

additional income from handling non-grain 

commodities. The streamlined utilisation of  

ABB’s network of storage sites included a greater 

focus on strategic sites, not opening smaller sites 

in lean receival years and restricted operating 

hours. This has resulted in containment of 

labour costs and better management of labour 

resources. ABB has also restructured its storage 

and handling charge structure to reduce risk  

and minimise the financial impact of low  

receival years.

Diversification

ABB’s significant expansion in New Zealand  

and move into Ukraine are part of the company’s 

diversification strategy to manage risk. The Ukraine 

operation allows ABB to accumulate grain all 

year round, increasing the company’s grain 

accumulation capacity and improving surety  

of supply to customers. The importance of this 

diversification strategy was highlighted when 

Australia had a relatively low receival year in 

2007/08 whereas the recent Ukraine harvest  

was the largest there in almost two decades. 

In New Zealand ABB’s business has expanded 

to take advantage of growth in compound 

feed in the dairy industry, which has presented 

commercial opportunities as well as reducing 

climatic risk. Compound feeding also provides 

opportunities to add supplements, some of 

which suppress methane production and 

optimise milk production. These opportunities 

are likely to become increasingly important in 

New Zealand where agriculture makes up nearly 

50 per cent of greenhouse gas emissions.

Sustainable agricultural practices

ABB recognises the importance of supporting 

environmentally sustainable agricultural practices 

and has been a major sponsor of the South 

Australian No-Till Farmers Association (SANTFA) 

and the Victorian No-Till Farmers Association 

(VNTFA) for several years. No-till farming assists 

with retaining moisture in the soil and is an 

important agronomic technique used by grain 

growers to attain improved yields in lower rainfall 

years. No-till farming practices also have carbon 

sequestration potential. Overseas, plans have 

been developed to allow growers to create 

and sell carbon credits generated from no-till 

farming practices. If similar practices are 

introduced in Australia in the future, ABB would 

be well-placed to assist growers with carbon 

credits.  Other sustainable agricultural practices 

adopted by growers include water-use efficiency, 

managing the nutrition of crops to maximise soil 

moisture and management of the use of fertiliser.  

As a result, yields have increased, as represented 

in the below graph.

Research and Development

ABB continues to invest significantly in research 

and development to ensure it remains innovative 

and to support the sustainability of Australia’s 

grain industry. This commitment includes a  

$5.7 million cooperation agreement with the 

University of Adelaide to develop new malting 

and feed barley varieties. The company is investing 

in the development of drought tolerant and 

resistant grain varieties. Wild barley varieties 

grown in Syria, which has a third of the average 

rainfall as Australia, are being analysed for their 

drought tolerance genetics, while early maturing 

varieties that are designed to avoid the impact  

of dry spring conditions are also being examined. 

Sustainability 
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ABB is committed to building a successful and sustainable business. The company’s 
key sustainability challenges are climate change, water scarcity, minimising impact  
on the environment, providing a safe working environment for employees and the 
public, and ensuring the availability of a rural workforce.
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Energy Efficiency Opportunities (EEO) Program

ABB Grain is registered under the Energy 

Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006. Energy use 

for the group in the identified trigger year of 

2005-06 was 1.76PJ. The threshold for reporting 

and participation in the EEO program is 0.5PJ.

In the year ending June 30, 2008, ABB Grain 

used 1.88PJ of energy. Additional energy use 

(exceeding the trigger year level) was the result 

of expansion of the malting division’s activities 

particularly the commissioning of the Perth malt 

house, Stage 2 (resulting in an additional kiln).

This year, ABB commenced a number of Energy 

Efficiency Opportunity assessments as per the 

program’s requirements. Thermal consultants 

are conducting assessments of the malting 

division with the exception of the Devonport 

site. The malting division uses 1.76PJ of the 

group’s total energy. These assessments will 

take into account in excess of 94 per cent of 

the total energy use of ABB Grain, exceeding 

the 80 per cent of total energy use required by 

the EEO legislation.

At the time of preparation of this report, 

the consultant’s recommendations of energy 

efficiency opportunities had not been finalised. 

More information about ABB Grain's participation 

in the EEO program is available at www.abb.com.au.

Legislation

Other legislative programs that ABB participates 

in include the Environment and Resource 

Efficiency Plan (EREP), National Greenhouse and 

Energy Reporting (NGER), National Pollutant 

Inventory (NPI), and other state environmental 

planning legislation.

ABB is actively responding 
to the challenge of 
climate change.
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Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme (CPRS)

ABB supports the need to address the climate 

change challenge and is actively participating in 

the consultation process for the proposed carbon 

pollution reduction scheme. ABB's intention is 

to ensure that energy intensive industries are 

supported for a transition period to ensure 

global emissions reductions are achieved.

Reducing our footprint

ABB is reducing the energy required to produce 

malt, as malt production accounts for more than 

90 per cent of ABB’s total energy use. The malting 

division is continually exploring ways to reduce 

energy use as it has both a positive economic 

and environmental impact. In 2008, the malting 

division achieved a reduction in energy 

consumption per tonne of malt produced and 

expects further reductions in 2009 with the 

commissioning of a new 105 tonne batch kiln  

at the Port Adelaide plant. This kiln has 

advanced technology which will deliver both 

improved energy efficiency, higher quality malt,  

increased automation and improved process 

control. This technology has been successfully 

employed at Joe White Maltings’ Cavan, 

Devonport and Perth plants, with excellent 

improvements in energy efficiency. 

Water 
ABB recognises that it has an important role in 

helping to address the nation’s water challenges. 

The majority of water used by ABB is in the 

production of malt, and therefore ABB’s goal is to 

continuously decrease the amount of water used 

to produce malt. Significant reductions in the 

future are likely to be achieved from a  

combination of barley breeding solutions and 

innovative malting process developments.  

To this end, ABB has committed to undertake 

research into single steeping varieties of barley. 

This has the potential to reduce water use in  

the malting process by 30 to 40 per cent. A range  

of other initiatives, including the installation of 

waste water recycling plants, collaborative  

projects, participating in government water 

programs and continually reviewing practices,  

are also being undertaken.

An example of ABB’s involvement in a government 

program is at JWM Brisbane, which created a 

Water Efficiency Management Plan, as required  

by the Queensland Water Commission, in 2008.  

This has resulted in a 25 per cent reduction in 

water consumption in 2007 and a further 

9 per cent in 2008.
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included piping from the sheds, linings and 

covers for the dams and security fencing. This was 

mainly carried out by local volunteers and local 

ABB employees. The water captured will be used 

to irrigate the local bowling and sports oval,  

which will annually save more than 2.6 million 

litres. At Cummins, also on the Eyre Peninsula,  

a 5 megalitre dam was built with the assistance 

of the local council, while ABB has installed more 

than 100 rain water tanks at its country sites to 

capture run-off from storage sheds.

Rural Workforce
Each year, ABB works with local communities  

in a variety of ways to support its local workforce 

and the communities in which they live.  

The company relies on rural based workers to 

operate its network of silos.

ABB has both a responsibility and a commitment 

to the safety of its people and the ongoing 

viability of the communities in which they live. 

At the same time ABB is also seeking to mitigate 

its risk of rural labour shortages by diversifying its  

labour options. 

Community involvement

One of the methods of support is through  

the ABB Community Fund, which provides 

funding for education, training, health,  

youth development and community amenity 

projects. In the two years since its introduction,  

the Community Fund has delivered more than 

$420,000 worth of funding.

ABB employment programs

ABB provides a range of opportunities for new 

and existing employees including traineeships, 

cadetships and apprenticeships. A large number 

of employees are based in rural areas and this 

number significantly increases during harvest. 

Water recycling plants

Joe White Maltings has implemented a national 

water reduction strategy for all of its operations.  

As part of this, waste water recycling plants are 

being incorporated into all new facilities and 

into existing facilities as well. At the Lake Gardens 

plant in Ballarat, Victoria, a waste water recycling 

plant has been installed which has reduced 

JWM’s demand on the local water supply by 

up to 230,000 litres per day. A similar project is 

planned for the Tamworth site.

Collaborative water projects

The company’s storage and handling division 

has also implemented water saving strategies. 

For example, two dams – with a combined 

capacity of four million litres – have been 

constructed to capture rainwater from ABB’s 

bulk grain storage sheds at Arno Bay on the 

Eyre Peninsula in South Australia. The work 

ABB is committed to efficient water management.
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ensures the cost effective movement of grain 

and viability of the company’s up-country sites. 

It also provides many other benefits for local 

communities including a reduction in road 

freight in rural communities and ensuring rail 

lines remain operational. 

Safety
ABB’s safety performance continued to improve 

with a reduction in our claims frequency rate. 

Some of ABB’s other safety highlights include:

• The renewal for a further three years of a South 

Australian self insurance licence. ABB’s total 

South Australian claims cost for 2008 was less 

than 0.7 per cent of remuneration compared to 

a premium cost which would otherwise be  

in excess of 5 per cent of remuneration.

• Enhanced drug and alcohol testing  

introduced during 2008. 

• The new Outer Harbor rail loop was successfully 

included in ABB's Rail Safety Accreditation 

programme.

• The introduction of a Code of Practice for  

the new road transport Chain of Responsibility 

Legislation and a Fatigue Management Plan. 

• The continuation of safety plans for senior 

management and the linking of safety 

performance to remuneration outcomes.

• No Occupational Health and Safety prosecutions.

• An 11 per cent improvement in claims  

frequency rates.
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Traditionally, ABB has relied on locals to assist 

during harvest. Due to competition from other 

industries and smaller communities, this supply 

of labour is dwindling. To ensure ABB can 

continue to secure enough staff to run its sites, 

a range of programs and initiatives have been 

implemented to encourage rural employment. 

One of the more innovative approaches adopted 

this year was targeting backpackers and “grey 

nomads”- older people who travel and work 

at the same time -to work as part-time casuals  

at our receival sites. 

Equal opportunity

Equal opportunity initiatives are an important 

element of retaining and attracting women to  

a local and rural workforce. ABB Grain established 

the ABB Equal Opportunity Committee (AEOC) 

in 2007 to promote equal opportunity initiatives 

across the organisation. The AEOC has been 

instrumental in championing an industry leading 

paid parental leave program, which came into  

effect on October 1, 2007and establishing a 

stay in touch program for employees on 

parental leave. 

A sustainable supply chain

ABB has again underwritten the provision of rail 

freight in South Australia in 2008. It entered into 

a long-term agreement with rail freight operator 

Genesee & Wyoming Australia to move millions 

of tonnes of grain harvested in South Australia. 

This agreement is key to ABB’s business as it 

ABB is committed to safe  
work and the viability  
of rural communities.
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In the past decade ABB Grain has grown exponentially, 
through good times and hard times. This has been done 
by sticking to what we know best – our core business– 
and pursuing a disciplined growth program.   
-Michael Iwaniw
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Our Approach
The ABB Board of Directors believes that 

sound and ethical corporate governance 

practices are essential to both conformance 

and performance, and send a positive signal 

to our workforce, our suppliers, customers 

and our shareholders about our culture. 

We further believe that responsiveness to 

the interests of other stakeholders and the 

undertaking of responsible and sustainable 

practices, including the safety and welfare 

of our employees and the protection of the 

environment in which we work, will help build 

a long-term future for the Company.

The Role of the Board
We see good corporate governance practices  

as a framework to allow the Board to perform 

these important roles:

• Providing strategic direction and approving  

the resulting business plans and budgets;

• Monitoring management’s performance  

against those plans;

• Appointing the Managing Director and 

working through the Managing Director  

to achieve the Company’s strategic goals;

• Overseeing remuneration policy for the group 

and approving remuneration arrangements  

for senior executives;

• Ensuring regulatory and ethical standards  

are met, and risks are appropriately  

managed; and

• Reporting the Company’s financial  

condition and outlook to shareholders.

ASX Corporate Governance  
Council Guidelines 

The Company supports the “Principles of 

Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 

Recommendations (revised guidance)” issued 

by the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 

Governance Council (“CGC Guidelines”).  

Unless otherwise stated, the policies, practices 

and structures referred to in this Statement,  

and required by the CGC Guidelines to be 

discussed, have been in place for the whole  

of the reporting period. 

Delegation to Management
Under the Company’s Constitution,  

the Board is responsible for the management 

of the Company. The Board delegates the 

responsibility for day-to-day management  

of the Company to the Managing Director, 

who operates under strict limits on operating 

and capital expenditure and the ability to 

commit the Company to financial obligations. 

The Managing Director in turn delegates these 

limits to his or her management team subject 

to the approval of the Board.

As well as performing the roles identified  

above, the Board reserves to itself a number  

of important functions including approval of:

• the long term strategic plans;

• the annual business plan;

• the annual operating and capital budgets;

• the financial reports to shareholders; and

• major acquisitions and divestitures.

Board Size and Composition
The Board is comprised of eight non- 

executive directors and the Managing  

Director.  The maximum number of directors 

permitted by the Constitution is ten directors. 

At least three of the directors are required by 

the Constitution to be active rural producers.

Board skills and Experience
The Board has a broad range of skills and 

experience to enable it to perform its role.  

The background and qualifications of each  

of the current directors and the Company 

Secretary are set out elsewhere in the  

Directors’ Report.

Selection of Chairman 

The Chairman of the Board is elected by the 

Board for an indefinite term. The Chairs of each  

of the Committees are selected on an annual 

basis by the Board.

Corporate Governance Statement

Retirement and Re-Election of Directors
At each AGM one-third of the directors or,  

if their number is not a multiple of three then  

the number nearest one-third, must retire  

from office (but are eligible for re-election).

The Managing Director’s tenure is not  

subject to rotation.

Nomination and Appointment  
of New Directors
The directors may appoint, or the shareholders 

may elect a person either as an additional 

director or to fill a casual vacancy.  

However if a casual vacancy in the number of 

directors who are active rural producers occurs, 

the directors must appoint an active rural 

producer to fill the vacancy within 60 days of 

the vacancy occurring.

Recommendations for nominations of new 

directors are made by the Board Nomination 

Committee, and considered by the Board  

as a whole. 

The Committee may use external recruitment 

consultants to identify candidates. In all cases,  

the Committee assesses candidates in terms  

of their ability to augment the existing skills  

and experience of the Board, their personal 

qualities and their availability to commit to  

the Board’s activities. 

If the directors appoint a new director prior  

to the AGM as an additional director or to  

fill a casual vacancy, that person must stand  

for election by shareholders at the next  

occurring AGM. 

Board Code of Conduct
In November 2004 the Board adopted a Board 

Code of Conduct which codifies the Board’s 

views, expectations and standards regarding 

a diverse range of matters, some of which 

are referred to in this Statement. The Code is 

reviewed on an annual basis. A summary of the 

Code is available on the Company’s website. 
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Maximum Tenure
The Board Code of Conduct provides that 

directors should not hold office for more than 

12 years, except for the incumbent Chairman 

who may be on the Board as a director for up 

to 16 years. Service prior to the 2007 Annual 

General Meeting will not be taken into account.

Independence of the Board
All of the non-executive directors of the 

Company are considered independent,  

as measured against the CGC Guidelines. 

The Chairman of the Board and the Audit  

& Finance and Corporate Risk & Compliance 

Committees are considered to be  

independent directors. 

It is Board policy that the roles of the  

Chairman and Managing Director should  

not be combined.

The Board Finance & Audit Committee is 

comprised of three independent non-executive 

directors. The Managing Director attends by 

invitation. It is Board policy that the roles of 

Chair of the Board and Chair of the Finance  

& Audit Committee are separated. 

Review of Board performance
It is the policy of the Board to conduct a 

self-review of its performance on an annual 

basis and, every 2 years, to engage the service 

of an external facilitator to conduct a formal 

exercise to assess and critically review the 

Board’s performance as a whole. The Board will 

also assess the quality of interaction between 

the Board and the Chairman and Managing 

Director. The external facilitator’s report will 

be used as the basis to address any issues of 

concern or opportunities for improvement.  

The Chairman will also meet individually with 

each director to review individual performance 

and establish training and development  

needs. These processes did not occur in the 

reporting period.

Review of Management Performance
The Board oversees a Performance & 

Development Review (“PDR”) system under 

which clear and measurable performance 

targets are set for senior management 

on an annual basis. Achievement of these 

performance targets is linked to the payment 

of variable remuneration benefits.

Remuneration
The Company’s remuneration policies are set 

out in the Remuneration Report forming part 

of the Directors’ Report. It is the policy of the 

Board, as set out in the Board Code of Conduct, 

that directors’ fees should not be tied to the 

performance of the Company.

Access to independent advice
Each director has the right, subject to prior 

consultation with the Chairman, to seek 

independent professional advice at the 

Company’s expense, to assist directors to  

carry out their duties and to resolve any  

issues of concern.

Audit independence
It is the policy of the Board to tender the 

external audit every 3 to 4 years. In the event 

that the incumbent auditors are re-appointed, 

the Company supports the requirement for 

partner rotation every 5 years.

It is Board policy that the external auditors 

are excluded from providing advice to the 

Company on a range of matters including 

systems and accounts implementation, and the 

provision of internal audit and clerical services.

Board Committees
The Board has established an active  

committee structure that capitalises on the 

skills and experience of individual directors. 

Each committee is established by the Board 

under a charter. Both the terms of reference  

of each committee and the composition of 

each committee are reviewed annually by  

the Board and the charters are published  

on the Company’s web site. 

Finance and Audit Committee

Recommends to the Board the appointment 

of the external auditor, coordinates the quality 

and scope of the internal audit program and 

related reports, ensures that the Company’s 

capital and operating business plans support 

its strategic objectives, oversees the timeliness 

and quality of financial reporting and assesses 

the adequacy of accounting and financial 

reporting systems.

Corporate Risk and Compliance Committee

Oversees the development and implementation 

of risk and credit management policies and 

procedures across the Group. The Committee 

reviews and monitors the Group’s risk 

identification and risk transfer strategies and 

business continuity planning and receives 

regular reports on the adequacy of risk 

controls and risk treatment programs within 

the Company from the Group Risk Manager 

and other responsible officers. The Committee 

establishes and monitors compliance with 

position trading limits and authority limits.  

The Committee monitors compliance with 

safety, health and environmental policies and 

the law and monitors performance against key 

measures in these important areas.  

Information system risk oversight is also the 

responsibility of the Committee.

Nomination Committee

Oversees the selection of directors, the process 

for the election of directors, the selection, 

recruitment and initial remuneration of the 

Managing Director and succession planning. 

Remuneration Committee

Monitors remuneration of the Managing 

Director and senior management,  

sets performance targets and evaluates  

the performance of the Managing Director  

and senior management. Establishes  

policies for staff remuneration including  

performance based profit and equity 

participation arrangements.

Grower Links Committee

Provides mechanisms for growers to 

communicate their need and concerns  

to the Company and facilitates discussions 

amongst growers on issues affecting growers,  

the Company and/or the grains industry.

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)



  

Controlling and Managing Risk
ABB’s activities across its revenue generating 

business units and corporate services entail  

a number of major risk categories ranging  

from market risk (including currency risk, 

interest rate risk and commodity price risk), 

credit risk, statutory compliance risk, 

information systems risk and operating risk 

(including safety and environmental risk).

The Corporate Risk & Compliance Committee 

has responsibility, amongst other things,  

for the implementation of risk management 

strategy, policy and procedures to ensure 

the Company’s achievement of its corporate 

objectives is not compromised by unforeseen 

or uncontrolled adverse events.

 The Company has recognised that a fully 

integrated approach to identifying and 

managing risk is required not only for the 

business streams of grain marketing,  

Supply Chain, malt and rural services but  

also across the entire corporate body.  

ABB Grain continues to improve and develop 

its Enterprise Risk Management System, 

consistent with the Australian standard for  

Risk Management – AS/NZS 4360.

The Group Risk Manager reports to the 

Chief Financial Officer, and is responsible for 

overseeing the Company’s insurance program, 

treasury function and the introduction and the 

ongoing maintenance of a risk management 

system. Internal Audit is responsible for 

evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness 

of management controls and risk treatments 

through regular internal audit reports. 

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial 

Officer have stated in writing to the Board that, 

to the best of those officers’ knowledge and 

belief, the integrity of the financial statements 

for the reporting period is founded on a sound 

system of risk management and internal 

compliance and control which implements  

the policies adopted by the Board, and  

that the Company’s risk management and 

internal compliance and control system is 

operating efficiently and effectively in all 

material respects.

Annual Accounts Assurance
The Managing Director and the Chief  

Financial Officer have provided the Board  

with a statement in writing that the Company’s 

financial report for the reporting period 

presents a true and fair view, in all material 

respects, of the Company’s financial condition 

and operational results and is in accordance 

with relevant accounting standards. 

All relevant executives have completed  

a directors’ questionnaire providing  

assurances to the Board in respect of  

the content of the financial report,  

within the limits of each executive’s area  

of knowledge and responsibility. 

Ethical Standards
The Board Code of Conduct requires  

directors to observe the highest standards  

of ethical behaviour when engaging in 

Company business. 

The ABB Code of Business Conduct for 

employees sets out the Board’s expectation 

of our people to be trustworthy and to deal 

ethically and responsibly with the Company’s 

stakeholders. Employees must:

• comply with the law and the terms of our 

operating licenses;

• produce accurate records and accounts;

• not exceed delegations;

• follow guidelines to avoid conflicts of interest 

with the Company;

• respect confidential information and  

the privacy of information gathered  

from individuals;

• deal courteously and professionally with 

suppliers and customers;

• not accept bribes or lavish gifts;

• refrain from misleading or deceiving 

our suppliers and customers or taking 

unconscionable advantage of them;

• refrain from unfair competition;

• protect the human rights, safety and health  

of our people; and

• respect the communities and the 

environments within which we operate. 

The Code of Business Conduct also outlines 

a mechanism to allow employees to 

report unethical practices internally under 

appropriate protections, or if they prefer, 

externally to an independent fraud hotline.

International Business Policy
The Company has an International Business 

Policy which prohibits the Company from 

being a party to bribery, kickbacks and like 

payments in both Australia and in the  

countries with which we trade. Our overseas 

agents are required to be reputable and  

to adhere to the policy. Our people must  

not falsify documents and are required to 

report any transactions which they reasonably 

suspect to involve money laundering or the 

financing of crime or terrorism.

The Company has undertaken an  

education program for all relevant staff  

and has established a panel of senior 

executives to review any transactions which 

any of our people believe may be in breach  

of the Policy. The internal auditor is charged 

with the responsibility of auditing our 

international transactions on a periodical  

basis to ensure adherence.

Share Trading
In general the Company encourages directors 

and employees to hold shares in the Company, 

in order to better align their interests with the 

interests of shareholders. They are, however, 

made aware that they should never trade  

in the Company’s shares when in possession  

of market sensitive information.

In addition, the Company has a strict policy  

for directors and senior officers relating to  

the buying and selling of ABB securities 

(including options and share derivatives). 

Trading is prohibited outside periods  

(or “windows”) of six weeks commencing  

48 hours after specified events  

(announcement of annual and half year results, 

the Annual General Meeting and any other 

major public release (such as a prospectus), 

except with the consent of the Chairman  

in special circumstances. 

Executives are prohibited from entering  

into securities contracts which have the effect  

or purpose of hedging the failure to achieve 

performance hurdles under ABB’s variable 

remuneration plans. Executives should also  

not engage in short term trading of  

Company securities.

A breach of this policy will result in disciplinary 

action including the possibility of dismissal.

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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Continuous Disclosure
The Company has nominated the Company 

Secretary as the person responsible for 

communications with the ASX. This role 

includes responsibility for ensuring compliance 

with the continuous disclosure requirements 

of the ASX listing rules and overseeing and 

coordinating timely and balanced information 

disclosure to the market.

The Company has a Continuous Disclosure 

Policy and procedures to elevate to the 

attention of the Managing Director or the 

Company Secretary any material market 

sensitive information. All information  

disclosed to the ASX or to segments of the 

market such as analysts, brokers or investors  

is posted on the Company’s website as soon  

as it is disclosed.

Stakeholder Communication
The Company has a stakeholder 

communication plan dealing, amongst 

other things, with strategies for regular 

communication to stakeholders via:

• regular news releases on subjects of  

interest, plus associated media interviews;

• attendance of directors and senior 

management at industry conferences,  

field days and country meetings  

throughout the year;

• regular newsletters and the Grain  

Business magazine;

• website updates;

• contributions to rural newspapers;

• investor and financial media briefings;

• the half yearly and annual reports; and

• the Annual General Meeting. 

The external auditor attends the Annual 

General Meeting and is available to answer 

questions from shareholders about the audit.

Corporate Responsibility
The Board recognises that the long term 

success of the Company will depend not only 

on its financial strength but also on the welfare 

of its staff and the responsible interaction of 

the Company with the community in general. 

The Board ensures that, within prudent 

financial bounds, there are no constraints 

on capital expenditure for essential safety 

equipment and maintenance, and that 

appropriate policies and procedures are in 

place. The Board receives regular reports on  

the Company’s environmental and 

occupational health and safety performance. 

The Company sponsors programs and  

projects that benefit the Company and its 

standing in the community, and publishes 

guidelines on its website on how to apply  

for community grants and sponsorships.

Sustainability
The Board recognises the need to identify 

and address the issues which threaten the 

long term future of the Company. The three 

most important issues have been identified 

as climate change, water availability and rural 

employment. The Company has appointed  

a Sustainability Manager reporting to the 

Office of Governance and Sustainability who  

is charged with coordinating strategies to  

meet these challenges and to develop metrics 

to report progress to our stakeholders.  

The Sustainability report is set out elsewhere  

in the Annual Report.
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Directors’ Report 

The directors of ABB Grain Ltd submit herewith 

the annual financial report of the Company  

for the financial year ended 30 September 2008.  

In order to comply with the provisions of the 

Corporations Act 2001, the directors report  

as follows:

The names and particulars of the directors of  

the Company during or since the end of the 

financial year are:

Non Executive Directors 

P R (Perry) Gunner 
B. Ag., Sc., Grad. Dip. Bus. Admin 

Appointed 27 September 2004 

Chair from 27 September 2004

• Chair of the Board Nomination Committee 

• Member of the Board Remuneration 

Committee 

• Director of Australian Vintage Ltd  

and Freedom Nutritional Products

• Previous director of Ausbulk Ltd (1997 – 2004)

M F (Max) Venning 
MAICD 

Appointed 27 September 2004 

Deputy Chair from 24 February 2006

• Member of the Board Nomination Committee, 

and chair of Grower Links Committee 

• Previous director of AusBulk Ltd and United 

Grower Holdings Ltd (2002 – 2004)

• Previous chair of  Ausbulk Ltd (2004)

• Grower from Bute (South Australia)

A R (Andrew) Barr
MAICD, FAICD 

B. Ag. Sc., PhD (Ag Sc) 

Cert Rural Bus Management 

Appointed 24 February 2006

• Member of the Board Corporate Risk and 

Compliance Committee, and Grower Links 

Committee

• Member of Southern Panel of the Grains 

Research & Development Corporation

• Member of Board of Trustees of CIMMYT 

(International Maize & Wheat Improvement 

Center)

• Grower from Owen (South Australia)

P W (Paul) Daniel
FAICD 

Appointed 24 February 2006

• Member of the Board Finance and Audit 

Committee, and Grower Links Committee

• Previous director of Direct Fertilisers Ltd  

(1997 – 2004)

• Grower from Balaklava (South Australia)

T M (Trevor) Day
MAICD 

Appointed 30 October 1999 

• Chair of the Board Remuneration Committee

• Member of the Board Nomination Committee

• Previous chair of ABB Grain Ltd (1999 – 2004)

• Previous director of Australian Barley Board 

(1993 – 1999)

• Grower from Riverton (South Australia)

K G (Kevin) Osborn
FAICD, FPNA 

Appointed 27 September 2004

• Chair of the Board Finance and Audit 

Committee

• Member of the Board Corporate Risk 

and Compliance Committee, and Board 

Remuneration Committee

• Deputy chairman of Bendigo and Adelaide Bank 

Ltd and director of Leaders Institute of SA Inc

• Member of South Australian Economic 

Development Board, and South Australian 

Government Projects Co-ordination Board

• Chairman of Desalination Project Steering 

Committee

• Previous director of Ausbulk Ltd (2003 – 2004)

R M (Ross) Johns 
FAICD 

Appointed 10 September 1999

• Member of the Corporate Risk and Compliance 

Committee, and Grower Links Committee

• Board member of Grains Research and 

Development Corporation (GRDC) – October 

2002 to September 2008

• Deputy Chairman of GRDC – October 2005  

to 2008

• Previous director of Australian Barley Board 

(1993 – 1996)

• Grower from Warracknabeal in the Northern 

Wimmera (Victoria)

T J (Timothy) Ryan 
MAgrSc, PhD, FAICD 

ISMP Harvard 

Appointed 30 September 1999

• Chair of the Board Corporate Risk and 

Compliance Committee 

• Member of the Board Finance and Audit 

Committee

• Managing Director of Timothy J Ryan and 

Associates Pty Ltd

• Previous Director of Australian Barley Board 

(1996 – 1999)

Executive Director 

M A (Michael) Iwaniw 
BSc, Grad Dip Bus Admin 

Managing Director 

Appointed 21 December 1998

• Commenced service with the Australian Barley 

Board in 1969

• General Manager of the Australian Barley Board 

(1989 – 1998)

• Director of Five Star Flour Mills Co (SAE) and  

Five Star Feed Mills and Animal Production Co 

(SAE) in Egypt

Company Secretary 

A S (Ashley) Roff 
LLB, LLM (Hons) (Syd), FAICD, FCIS 

Appointed 28 September 2004

• Commenced service with ABB Grain in 

September 2004

• Former Company Secretary of AusBulk Ltd 

(2000 – 2004), Aboriginal Holdings Ltd (1998 – 

1999), Berri Ltd (1994 – 1998), and State Bank of 

South Australia (1992 – 1994).

The above named directors held office during 

and since the end of the financial year.
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Principal Activities
The principal activities of the consolidated entity 

during the financial year were the marketing 

of agricultural commodities, the handling and 

storage of grain and other bulk commodities, 

the provision of rural services and products to 

growers, and malt manufacture and marketing.

Review of Operations
The consolidated entity recorded a net profit 

after tax of $48.8 million for the year ended 30 

September 2008, up $41.5 million on the year 

ended 30 September 2007, reflecting the impact 

of higher 2007/08 seasons grain receivals,  

and higher grain and malt margins. 

Grain receivals into the storage and handling 

network of 3.5 million tonnes for the 2007/08 

season represents a significant increase (up 94%) 

on the 1.8 million tonnes received in the previous 

season, however this is still below normal season 

receivals due to continuing drought conditions  

in South Australia. 

Global grain and malt prices and margins 

continued to be high throughout 2008, the effect 

of which is reflected in strong grain marketing 

and malt earnings. ABB has also continued 

to diversify its grain marketing operations 

with containerised wheat export (following 

deregulation), new operations in Ukraine,  

and expanded operations in New Zealand.  

ABB has also been granted an Australia based 

bulk wheat export accreditation. 

A summary of consolidated revenues and results 

for the year by business segment is set out below.

Revenue from operations
Earnings before interest  

and income tax
Profit before income tax

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

$million $million $million $million $million $million

Business Segment

Supply chain 140.8   100.2 15.8 7.4 16.4 7.5

Grain marketing 1,695.5 1,168.6 65.9 10.3 35.1 (10.4)

Malt manufacture 321.3   250.5 35.8 29.5 34.3 30.0

Rural services 332.5   164.6 12.0 5.2 3.9 1.0

Other (251.9)   (167.2) (19.8) (17.3) (18.8) (17.2)

Total 2,238.2 1,516.7 109.7 35.1 70.9 10.9

Income tax expense (22.1) (3.6) 

Net profit attributable to the members  

of ABB Grain Ltd
48.8 7.3 
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Revenue
Revenue of $2,238.2 million for the year ended 30 

September 2008 is $721.5 million (or 48%) higher 

than the previous year. This increase represents 

higher grain marketing volumes, strong grain and 

malt prices and the first full year of operations of 

the rural services business unit (up 102%). 

Net Profit
Net Profit after income tax of $48.8 million for the 

year ended 30 September 2008 is $41.5 million 

(or 568%) higher than the previous year ended 30 

September 2007. Profit before income tax of $70.9 

million is $60.0 million (or 550%) higher than the 

previous year. These considerable increases are 

the result of improved performance across all 

business segments, in particular grain marketing 

due to higher volumes marketed and higher 

margins for both grain marketing and malt.

Supply Chain profit before income tax of $16.4 

million is $8.9 million higher than the previous 

year reflecting significantly higher harvest 

receivals of 3.5 million tonnes compared to 

1.8 million tonnes in the 2006/07 season and 

continued cost containment plan accompanied 

by the new pricing structure. Non grain handling 

receivals of 2.7 million tonnes for the year have 

also contributed to the improved result. 

Also contributing to the improved result were the 

acquisitions of New Zealand based PCL Feeds and 

New Zealand Grain and Seed (also known as TAG). 

Grain Marketing profit before tax of  

$35.1 million is $45.5 million higher than  

the previous year reflecting higher volumes  

and higher gross margins. 

Prudent risk management and strong customer 

relationships have assisted the grain marketing 

segment achieve an excellent result.

Grain volumes marketed of 4.4 million tonnes 

are 13% higher than the previous year reflecting 

increased international marketing activity in 

part as a result of ABB Grain’s operations in the 

Ukraine and New Zealand. 

Malt Manufacture profit before income tax 

of $34.3 million is $4.3 million higher than the 

previous year driven by higher malt margins.

Sales of 463 thousand tonnes are down 8% on 

the previous year as a result of the Perth Malt 

plant’s temporary suspension of operations due 

to the Western Australia gas pipeline rupture. 

Rural Services profit before income tax of  

$3.9 million is $2.9 million higher than the 

previous year reflecting the first full year of 

operations, improved fertiliser margins and 

contributions from newly acquired businesses.

The Rural Services business continued to  

expand with growth in the wool, fertiliser and 

live export businesses, and the acquisitions 

of Stawool in Western Australia and Bagnell & 

Gordon on the Eyre Peninsula.

The primary activities of Stawool are wool 

broking, marketing and financing services.

The primary activities of Bagnell & Gordon  

are livestock and real estate services.

Other loss before income tax of $18.8 million 

is $1.6 million higher than the previous year 

loss, and includes other business operations, 

corporate expenses and elimination of 

intersegment transactions and balances. 

Corporate expenses that can be directly 

attributed to individual business segments  

are allocated to those segments accordingly.
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Balance Sheet
Net assets of $1,110.9 million have increased 

$211.6 million compared to 30 September 2007, 

reflecting share placement of $187.2 million  

and current year earnings. 

Current assets of $793.9 million have decreased 

$250.5 million and current liabilities of $372.6 

million have decreased $375.9 million over  

the year to 30 September 2008 principally due  

to reductions in financial assets and liabilities  

and current debt. 

Financial assets and liabilities represent fair  

value adjustments to commodity, currency  

and other contracts. Gross financial liabilities have 

decreased $378.9 million to $105.9 million and 

gross financial assets have decreased  

$298.4 million to $134.3 million. These gross 

decreases principally represent the impact of 

lower grain prices on commodity contracts.  

These fair value adjustments offset gains in 

inventory valuation and hedge reserves to  

reflect the net back to back position.

Net debt (interest bearing liabilities less cash)  

as at 30 September 2008 is $361.8 million which 

represents a net debt to equity ratio of 25%  

(net debt/total capital). 

This compares to 32% as at 30 September 2007.  

Capital expenditure of $97.6 million for the 

year ended 30 September 2008 compares 

to depreciation and amortisation charges of 

$31.6 million. Significant investment in capital 

infrastructure includes the Outer Harbor  

terminal development project, development 

of storage solutions in New Zealand and the 

development of a single IT platform to  

streamline the business, improve efficiency  

and allow better service to customers. 

On 4 June 2008, the Company completed  

a $187.2 million share placement through  

the issue of 20.5 million new ordinary shares.  

The placement proceeds will principally be used 

to fund a new malt house and container packing 

facility near Sydney and for three growth 

projects in New Zealand.

The Company paid its 2007 final dividend of 

$7.5 million in December 2007, and the 2008 

interim dividend of $10.5 million in June 2008. 

The dividend reinvestment plan was in place for 

the 2007 financial year and continued to operate 

for the 2008 interim dividend. During the 2008 

financial year shareholders reinvested $7.2 million 

of their dividends with the issue of 0.8 million 

ordinary shares.  

Cash Flows
Operating activities provided cash of $4.3 million 

for the year ended 30 September 2008, which 

compares to net cash provided by operating 

activities of $22.5 million in the previous year. 

Cash used in investing activities of $116.6 

million for the year ended 30 September 2008 

is $48.1 million more than the previous year 

reflecting continued expansionary investment 

primarily related to the Outer Harbor terminal 

development project along with acquisitions  

of new businesses during the year.

During the year, net cash from share issues was 

$190.8 million, some of which was used to repay 

debt resulting in net borrowings of $47.7 million 

repaid compared to the $32.1 million drawn  

in the prior year. After the payment of dividends 

(net of the dividend reinvestment plan),  

net cash provided by financing activities of  

$132.3 million was sourced to fund operating 

and investing activities.

Changes in State of Affairs
During the year, the Company completed a 

$1.2 billion syndicated debt facility to refinance 

existing debt and to provide the Company with 

additional funding capacity. 

The Company completed a capital raising which 

provided net proceeds of $187.2 million.  

The placement represented 12% of shares on 

issue at 30 September 2008.

There were no other significant changes in  

the state of affairs of the consolidated entity  

or Company during the year.

Subsequent Events
There has not been any matter or circumstance 

occurring subsequent to the end of the 

financial year that has significantly affected, 

or may significantly affect, the operations 

of the consolidated entity, the results of 

those operations, or the state of affairs of the 

consolidated entity in future financial years.

Future Developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely 

developments in the operations of the 

consolidated entity in future financial years 

and the expected results of those operations is 

likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 

consolidated entity. Accordingly, this information 

has not been disclosed in this report.

Environmental Regulations 
The consolidated entity’s environmental 

obligations are regulated under both State  

and Federal law. All performance obligations  

are monitored by the economic entity and  

the economic entity has a policy of complying 

with its environmental performance obligations. 

The Board is not aware of any significant 

environmental breaches during the financial year.

Dividends
In respect of the financial year ended 30 

September 2007, an interim dividend of 5.0 cents 

per share franked to 100% at 30% corporate 

income tax rate was paid to the holders of fully 

paid ordinary B-class shares on 5 July 2007,  

and a final dividend of 5 cents per share franked  

to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate to  

the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on  

21 December 2007.

In respect of the financial year ended 30 

September 2008, an interim dividend of 7.0 cents 

per share franked to 100% at 30% corporate 

income tax rate was paid to the holders of fully 

paid ordinary shares on 30 June 2008 and the 

directors recommend the payment of a final 

dividend of 14.0 cents per share franked to 100% 

at 30% corporate income tax rate to the holders  

of fully paid ordinary shares on 17 December 2008. 

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors
During the financial year, the Company and 

Directors paid a premium in respect of a  

contract insuring the directors of the Company 

(as named above), the Company Secretary,  

and all executive officers of the Company  

and of any related body corporate against  

a liability incurred as such a director, secretary  

or executive officer to the extent permitted  

by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract  

of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature  

of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or  

since the financial year, except to the extent 

permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to 

indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company 

or of any related body corporate against a  

liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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Directors’ Meetings 
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the financial year and  

the number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a director or committee member). During the financial year, 14 Board meetings,  

4 finance and audit meetings, 4 corporate risk and compliance meetings, 3 remuneration committee meetings, 4 grower links committe meetings  

and nil nomination committee meetings were held.

Directors’ Shareholdings 
The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares, debentures, and rights or options in shares or debentures of the Company or a related 

body corporate as at the date of this report.

Fully paid ordinary shares Share based payment rights to ordinary shares

Number Number

Directors

M A Iwaniw 68,682 77,627

P R Gunner 36,581 -

A R Barr 3,219 -

P W Daniel 64,558 -

T M Day 48,730 -

R M Johns 138,125 -

K G Osborn 11,349 -

T J Ryan 33,599 -

M F Venning 268,347 -

Board of directors Finance & Audit Risk & Compliance Remuneration Grower Links 

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

P R Gunner 14 12 3 1

A R Barr 14 14 4 4 4 4

P W Daniel 14 14 4 4 4 4

T M Day 14 13 3 3 4 4

M A Iwaniw (1) 14 14 4 4 3

R M Johns 14 14 4 4 4 4

K G Osborn 14 14 4 4 4 4 3 3

T J Ryan 14 14 4 3 4 4

M F Venning 14 14 4 4

(1) M A Iwaniw attends all committee meetings by invitation

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Remuneration Report 

Overview
The ABB Board is committed to securing  

and retaining the best people to support  

the Company’s strategy and ensuring that  

the organisational structure and remuneration 

structures are in line with that strategy.  

At the same time the Board aims to provide 

shareholders with open and transparent 

information regarding reward policies  

and procedures.

This Remuneration report forms part of  

the Directors’ Report and outlines the 

remuneration arrangements for executives, 

employees and Directors of ABB including  

Key Management Personnel.

The remuneration structure and philosophy 

discussed in this report applied for the 2007/2008 

financial year and unless otherwise indicated has 

not been altered at the date of this report.

Performance and ABB Competencies
ABB has focused on the establishment of remuneration programs, processes and practices  

in order to establish a clear and direct link between Company and individual performance  

and employee remuneration.

The ABB Way is dependent on all of our people excelling in the following competencies  

which we call “the 6 Pillars”:

The Six Pillars

Competency Comment

Safety, health and environment Our care and focus in these areas is vital to our long term future 

and is the responsibility of every employee.

Financial performance We establish challenging targets relating to business cell, 

business unit and group performance and we will be measured 

wherever possible against these targets. Ultimately our 

shareholders benefit from the Company’s strong performance.

Customers Our position as an integrated agribusiness depends on 

understanding and meeting the needs of our customers and 

aligning our suppliers to that strategy.

Business improvement We will always strive to be better, through maximisation of 

the benefits of our integrated supply chain and continuous 

improvement in the way we do things.

Leadership, team and people Our leaders must be inspirational and set the vision and plan 

for the Company. Our managers must be business savvy and 

set challenging goals for their people. Our people must be well 

trained and know how to work effectively on projects and in 

cross-functional teams.

Business development We will grow. Our future depends on our ability to increase 

shareholder value by identifying new and profitable 

opportunities for the Company and to execute those 

opportunities decisively and professionally.

These 6 Pillars are incorporated in the ABB 

Performance Development System which 

in turn is tied to variable performance based 

remuneration schemes within the Company. 

Employees are required at the commencement 

of each financial year to commit to measurable 

objectives within the 6 core competencies and 

their performance against those objectives 

is reviewed by their respective managers 

six-monthly and appraised annually by their 

respective managers (in the case of key 

management personnel by the Chairman and 

Board Remuneration Committee) in order to 

determine the payment of variable remuneration. 

The Board Remuneration Committee operates 

under delegated authority of the Board of 

ABB. The Committee charter is available on 

ABB’s website. The Committee is responsible 

for formulating, monitoring and reviewing 

the Company’s remuneration strategies and 

practices. In particular it:

• monitors the remuneration of the Managing 

Director and senior management; 

• reviews and recommends changes to Director 

remuneration;

• sets performance targets for the Managing 

Director, reviews the performance targets 

of senior managers and evaluates the 

performance of the Managing Director and 

senior management; 

• establishes policies for employee remuneration; 

and 

• develops performance based profit and equity 

participation plans.

Where appropriate the Committee enlists  

the help of independent external advisers  

to keep itself informed of market practice  

and market data.
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Executive Remuneration Philosophy 

Remuneration quantum and mix should place 

the Company in a sound position to secure 

and retain the services of executives of the 

calibre required by the Company to execute the 

strategic direction set by the Board.

The measures of performance for variable 

remuneration should as far possible be relevant 

to the Company’s reporting systems and must  

be transparent.

The structure of the variable remuneration 

package should have a balance of: 

• short term incentives, focusing on the 

achievement of key financial performance 

indicators and key results areas dictated by  

the annual business plan; and 

• long term incentives focusing on achievement 

of longer term strategy and sustainable growth  

in Company value.

The Board believes that the long term interests  

of executives and shareholders should be aligned 

and that such alignment is best achieved by 

executives having significant shareholdings in 

the Company. Therefore, executive remuneration 

should facilitate and encourage executives to 

receive part of their remuneration in the form  

of equity in the Company.

Remuneration Structure Overview 

ABB’s remuneration structure for its senior 

managers consists of fixed remuneration and 

variable or “at risk” remuneration. The Company 

adopts a Total Target Return (or “TTR”) approach 

to remuneration. This approach emphasises that 

an executive’s total package comprises Total 

Fixed Remuneration (or “TFR”) and potential 

significant additional remuneration opportunity 

through short and long term incentive schemes. 

Fixed Remuneration  

The TFR is composed of the cost to the Company 

of salary, superannuation, and cash and non-cash 

benefits.

TFR levels:

• are reviewed on an annual basis by 

benchmarking against other comparable 

positions on the basis of job worth and 

accountabilities;

• but may be reviewed more frequently in 

exceptional circumstances to address changes 

in individual job descriptions, market practice or 

industry trends;

• target the 50th percentile of market practice, as 

forecast to mid way through the year to which 

the base package will apply i.e. it will aim to be 

in advance of the intended market position for 

the first 6 months and behind for the second 6 

months of the year;

• but may be above or below this level if 

circumstances warrant e.g. higher to meet 

competition or lower if an executive has 

recently been promoted and is relatively 

inexperienced.

The market data upon which TFR reviews 

are conducted is provided by independent 

remuneration consultants.

Variable Remuneration 
Variable (or “at risk”) remuneration is comprised  

`of the annual Short Term Incentive Plan,  

a discretionary bonus scheme, the Executive 

Share Option Plan and the Long Term Incentive 

Plan. The proportion of variable remuneration 

opportunity varies for senior employees and 

takes into consideration the level of individual 

accountability, performance and experience. 

Participation in these plans encourages senior 

employees’ direct involvement and focus on 

achieving profitable results that link to and 

improve overall Company performance, and in  

so doing, deliver increased value for shareholders.

Short Term Incentive (“STI”) 2007/ 2008
The STI Plan is an integral part of the Company’s 

overall approach to competitive performance-

based remuneration. The plan aims to align 

employees’ activities to the Company’s Risk, 

Safety and Compliance objectives and  

financial targets.

The STI Plan is made available to employees who 

are in a position to influence the performance of 

the Company or who are otherwise critical to the 

success of the business. The grant date of the STI 

is the date employees elect to participate in the 

scheme following an offer from the Managing 

Director. The STI is paid and vests in December 

each year following the release of the annual 

financial results.

The STI has 2 components:

Individual STI: A component based on  

the individual’s performance (including  

achievement of financial and non-financial  

KPIs) as measured by the Performance 

Development Review system.

Business STI: A component based on both  

the performance of the participant’s business 

unit against budget and the ABB group’s 

performance against budget; or in the case  

of corporate employees the group’s  

performance against budget. 

The STI 2007/08 Plan payments pool is  

capped at 5% of group net profit after tax.  

Key executives may be entitled to 30% of TFR  

for on target performance.

Participants who terminate their employment 

with the Company prior to the end of the 

financial year forfeit their entitlement to an STI. 

Participants who are made redundant or retire 

may at the discretion of the Board be entitled  

to a pro-rated share of the STI. 

Discretionary Bonus  

The Managing Director may also recommend  

to the Board Remuneration Committee the 

award of discretionary bonuses of up to  

$500,000 per annum in total. This is intended 

to recognise exceptional performance by any 

employee whether eligible to participate in the 

STI scheme or not.

Executive Share Option Plan
Options over shares in ABB Grain are granted 

under the ABB Grain Ltd Executive Share 

Option Plan. The Executive Share Option Plan 

is available to ABB’s senior executive team as 

part of an ongoing strategy of retention and 

motivation. Vesting of the options is subject to 

a performance requirement of 10% per annum 

compound growth in ABB Grain Ltd’s share 

market price over a three year period. Once 

vested, the options remain exercisable for a 

period of two years. 

The terms and conditions of the grant of options 

affecting remuneration in this reporting period 

are as follows:

Grant date 30 April 2008

Date vested and exercisable 30 April 2011

Expiry date 30 April 2013

Exercise price $11.55

Value per option at grant date $2.27

Options granted under the plan carry no 

dividend or voting rights.

When exercisable, each option is convertible  

into one ordinary share. The exercise price of  

the options is based on the value weighted 

average price at which the Company’s shares  

are traded on the Australian Stock Exchange  

for the 60 market trading days up to and 

including grant date. 

The Executive Share Option Plan is independent 

of other business unit or group incentive plans.

Remuneration Report (continued)
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Long Term Incentive Plan
The Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTI Plan”) is 

available to the Managing Director and up to  

10 executives. ABB’s long term incentives balance 

executive retention and corporate performance 

by providing key executives with a long term 

financial incentive to ensure ABB has a healthy 

and growing share price and delivers sustained 

growth in value for shareholders. The LTI Plan  

is independent of other business unit or group 

incentive plans. 

An annual offer to participate is made to  

senior employees approved by the Board.  

The maximum bonus opportunity under the 

LTI Plan is 30% of the employee’s average TFR 

calculated over the performance period (40% 

in the case of the Managing Director for the 

2004/05, 2005/06 and 2006/07 tranches).

Entitlement to payment under the LTI Plan 

is subject to achievement of performance 

hurdles. For the 2004/05, 2005/06 and 2006/07 

tranches, performance is measured over a 3 year 

period against 3 measures which are designed 

to encourage both absolute and relative 

performance at superior levels:

1. Return on equity (“ROE”) measured as the 

Company’s annual net profit after tax divided 

by average annual shareholders funds 

(excluding merger goodwill). This measure 

was selected to provide a direct and visible 

financial focus for management on both 

profit and the efficient use of capital. If the 

Company is achieving consistently solid 

returns on equity the share price will normally 

be expected to respond positively.

2. Relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”).  

TSR seeks to measure the pre-tax return 

an ABB shareholder would obtain from 

holding the shares during the performance 

measurement period taking into account both 

changes in the market value of the shares and 

the receipt and reinvestment of dividends 

paid on the shares. The ABB TSR is measured 

against the companies in the ASX/S&P 200 

Index (excluding mining companies) and will 

only be payable if the Company is in the 62nd 

or higher percentile of performance compared 

to the market index.

3. Relative TSR as measured against a peer 

group comprised of AWB Ltd and GrainCorp 

Ltd. TSR must be higher than the average 

TSR of the peer group. This measure was 

selected to ensure that management strives 

to outperform its industry peers and helps 

fulfill ABB’s vision to be the leading integrated 

agribusiness in Australia.

The weightings and performance levels for executives other than the Managing Director  

are summarised below:

Weightings and Performance Levels LTI Plan Tranches 2004/05 – 2006/07

Measure Weighting % of TFR Performance period Performance level

ROE 50% 0 – 15% 3 years 10.5 – 13.5% ROE

TSR (Index) 25% 7.5% 3 years
62nd %ile of ASX/S&P  

200 TSR or higher

TSR (Peers) 25% 7.5% 3 years
Exceed average  

peer TSR

Total 100% 30%

The Managing Director may earn up to 40% of his TFR under the LTI Plan.

At the end of the 3 year performance period, an amount under the LTI plan may be payable to 

participants depending on the performance of the Company as measured against the specified 

measures. No LTI plan amount vests until assessment is made at the end of the 3 year performance 

period. Participants must sacrifice any bonuses they are eligible to receive under the LTI Plan for ABB 

ordinary shares under the Deferred Employee Share Plan. The maximum number of shares that may  

be issued under the current tranches of the LTI Plan assuming all performance measures are  

satisfied is shown as follows:

Tranche Conversion price
Maximum number  

of shares
Number of participants Vesting year

2004/05 $6.91 100,599 8 2007

2005/06 $6.98 128,147 9 2008

2006/07 $6.48 120,951 7 2009

Total 349,697

The conversion price is based upon the weighted average share price for the 60 ASX trading days  

after grant date.

Long Term Incentive Plan 2008
An additional tranche was offered to participants after 30 September 2008. Grant date for the 2008 

tranche was 24th October 2008. An independent review of the LTIP structure during the current year 

resulted in the following changes to performance measures: 

Weightings and Performance Levels LTI Plan 2008 Tranche

Measure Weighting % of TFR
Performance 

period
Performance level

Threshold  

(0% of 

weighted 

TFR)

Target 

(30% of 

weighted 

TFR)

Stretch 

(100% of 

weighted  

TFR)

TSR relative 

growth over 

performance 

period

50% 15% 3 years

50%ile of 

ASX/S&P 

200

62.5%ile of 

ASX/S&P 

200

75%ile of 

ASX/S&P 

200

Growth in 

share price 

(compounded) 

over 

performance 

period

50% 15% 3 years
5% per 

annum

7.5% per 

annum

12% per 

annum

Total 100% 30%
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Employee Share Plans  

Deferred Employee Share Plan (“DESP”)  

Under the DESP, Directors and employees may elect to sacrifice their fees, salaries and/or STI to receive 

ordinary shares in ABB. The election is required to be made at the commencement of the financial year, 

in the case of salaries or fees, or in the case of STI at the time of accepting an offer of a STI. The issue 

price is based on the average market price for the week prior to the issue date.

In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, approval of shareholders is sought before issuing ordinary 

shares to Directors under the DESP.

There is no restriction on the sale of ordinary shares acquired under the DESP and ordinary shares may 

remain under the Plan until the earlier of a termination of employment and 10 years from date of issue.

Exempt Employee Share Plan (“EESP”)  

Under the EESP the Board may elect to issue up to $1,000 worth of ordinary shares to employees, 

taking advantage of tax concessions available for employee share plans. No consideration is payable  

by the recipient of EESP shares. 

It is intended that, dependent on achieving a reasonable level of profitability, an issue of up to $1,000 

worth of ordinary shares may be made to each qualifying employee under the EESP on an annual 

basis, provided that the Company meets pre-agreed performance targets measured against the 

forecast profit announced at the Company’s AGM. This is part of the Board’s strategy  

to instill a performance culture throughout the whole organisation. 

Relationship of Reward to Company Performance
The correlation between the short term incentive scheme and Company performance is illustrated  

in the table below. 

Correlation Between Short Term Incentives and Company Performance

2003/04 
(AGAAP)

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 

Profit before tax ($m) 31.5 59.4 95.1 10.9 70.9

Average share price ($) $5.95 $6.73 $7.15 $7.65 $8.50

Earnings per share (cents) 34.6c 29.8c 47.1c 4.9c 31.2c

Short term incentive pool as 

a % of Profit before tax 
5.7% 1.3% 2.6% 0.7% 3.4%

At the date of this report, the 2007/08 STI has been estimated at $2.4 million (2007: $500,000) for all STI 

participants, however this is subject to final determination and allocation to individuals at the Board’s 

discretion. The Managing Director has recommended the award of discretionary bonuses of $83,000 

(2007:$190,000) to recognise exceptional performance. 

The 2006/07 scheme allocation had not been determined at the date of the 2006/07 annual report. 

The incentive pool as a % of Profit before tax 2006/07 comparative has now been included above.

Remuneration Structure Overview  

Summary of Remuneration Mix
As employees gain seniority, the balance 

between fixed and “at risk” remuneration shifts 

to a higher proportion of “at risk” remuneration 

through performance incentives. The current mix 

of remuneration, for the Managing Director and 

executives, can be represented as follows:

Remuneration Mix of the Managing Director and Executives – 2007/2008 

Managing Director Executives

Total Fixed Remuneration  72% 73%

Short term bonus 21% 22%

LTI Plan bonus 7% 2%

Share Option Plan - 3%

Total maximum remuneration 100% 100%

 ABB GRAIN LTD FINANCIAL REPORT 2008 REMUNERATION REPORT
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Correlation between Long Term Incentives and Company Performance
The LTI Plan was established in the 2004/05 year thus only the outcome for the 2004/05 tranche is demonstrated. The LTI Plan is measured against  

three measures, return on equity, relative total shareholder return (TSR) measured against ASX/S&P 200 Index (excluding mining) and relative TSR  

measured against a peer group. 

Source: Datastream

The chart demonstrates ABB’s relative TSR performance over the past three years against a peer group including AWB Ltd and Graincorp Ltd.

The Executive Share Option Plan was established in the 2007/08 year. Accordingly, at this stage there is no demonstrable correlation between  

the plan and the performance of the Company.

Executive Director and Key Executives  

The key management personnel of the Group and specified executives of the Company and consolidated group for the whole of the 2007 and 2008 

financial years, except where indicated, are set out in the following tables.

The executive director of ABB Grain Ltd is:

M A Iwaniw Managing Director

The key management personnel of the Group are the Directors and those executives that report directly to the executive director being: 

P M Collins (to 30 September 2007) General Manager Commercial

K R David (from 31 January 2008) Chief Financial Officer

I N Farnsworth (26 March to 20 December 2007) General Manager Business Process and Information Systems

P E Jones General Manager Marketing

T J O’Connor General Manager New Zealand

S D Read General Manager Rural Services

A S Roff Company Secretary & Legal Counsel

P G Ryan (to 26 February 2007) Chief Financial Officer

G J Spiel Executive Manager Corporate and Business Development

J P Warda Executive Manager Group Operations

B Wojewidka (from 2 October 2007) General Manager Business Process and Information Systems
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Details of Remuneration of Executive Director and Key Executives

Year Primary Post - employment Equity

Base Salary/ 

fees

Non-

monetary 

Benefits

STI Plan & 

Discretion- 

ary Bonus(1)

Super-

annuation

Retirement 

Benefits

Options 

Granted

LTI Plan 

Rights 

Granted  
(2)

Total

Executive Director

M A Iwaniw 2008 614,401 31,461 19,257 53,596 - - 64,392 783,107

2007 532,344 31,462 17,158 47,775 - - 80,089 708,828

Key Executives at 30 September 2008

K R David (3) (4) (5) 2008 399,537 3,505 6,551 26,958 - 12,266 - 448,817

2007 - - - - - - - -

P E Jones (3) (4) 2008 298,165 45,000 4,007 26,835 - 12,266 12,088 398,361

2007 276,735 45,000 17,213 24,770 - - 12,088 375,806

T J O’Connor 2008 263,399 - 17,948 10,536 - 12,266 20,707 324,856

2007 269,257 - 13,920 23,451 - - 27,152 333,780

S D Read (4) 2008 286,255 - 7,500 13,745 - 12,266 10,768 330,534

2007 262,250 - - 12,750 - - 10,768 285,768

A S Roff (6) 2008 247,706 - 2,500 22,293 - 12,266 17,620 302,385

2007 - - - - - - - -

G J Spiel (4) 2008 307,339 3,505 17,908 27,661 - 12,266 20,599 389,278

2007 249,763 20,079 13,475 20,298 - - 20,599 324,214

J P Warda (4) 2008 293,269 8,263 21,009 48,468 - 12,266 22,136 405,411

2007 257,685 8,063 15,572 23,192 - - 29,149 333,661

B Wojewidka (7) 2008 250,000 3,505 - 22,500 - 12,266 - 288,271

2007 - - - - - - - -

Past Executives

P M Collins 2008 - - - - - - - -

2007 183,434 - 14,786 18,687 81,500 - - 298,407

I N Farnsworth 2008 99,644 2,627 - 30,083 2,983 - - 135,337

2007 136,474 1,820 - 12,283 - - - 150,577

P G Ryan 2008 - - - - - - - -

2007 102,158 - 11,673 11,026 288,620 - - 413,477

(1) The 2008 STI scheme payments are in respect of performance in the 2006/2007 year. The 2007 STI scheme payments are in respect of performance  

in the 2005/2006 year and paid in cash.

 The 2007/2008 STI scheme allocation and discretionary bonuses have not been determined at the date of this report. 
(2) Remuneration includes a proportion of the notional value of equity compensation granted during the year or still outstanding at year end. The notional 

amount included as remuneration is not related or indicative of any benefit that executives may ultimately realise should the equity instruments vest.
(3) Base salary/fees includes a short term retention payment.
(4) Denotes one of the 5 highest paid executives of the Group and Company, as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001. 
(5) K R David became a member of the key management personnel on 31 January 2008, therefore no amounts are disclosed for the 2007 financial year.
(6) A S Roff is considered to be a member of the key management personnel for year ended 30 September 2008, therefore no amounts are disclosed for  

the 2007 financial year.
(7) B Wojewidka became a member of the key management personnel on 2 October 2007, therefore no amounts are disclosed for the 2007 financial year.
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Elements of Remuneration Related to Company Performance – Executive Director and Key Executives
The split of key management personnel remuneration paid for 2008 that is performance related, versus guaranteed remuneration and the percentage  

of STI paid and forfeited is set out in the table below:

Name
% of remuneration that is 

guaranteed
% of total remuneration that is 

performance related
% STI paid % STI forfeited

Executive Director 

M A Iwaniw  89% 11% 13% 87%

Key Executives 

K R David 96% 4% 18% 82%

I N Farnsworth 100% - - 100%

P E Jones 93% 7% 6% 94%

T J O’Connor 84% 16% 15% 85%

S D Read 91% 9% 11% 89%

A S Roff 89% 11% 12% 88%

G J Spiel 87% 13% 14% 86%

J P Warda 86% 14% 16% 84%

B Wojewidka 96% 4% - -

Grant of LTI Plan Bonus Share-Based Payment
Vesting of each tranche is based on three performances measures, return on equity, relative total shareholder return (TSR) measured against ASX/S&P 200 

Index (excluding mining) and relative TSR measured against a peer group.

The 2004/05 tranche plan was tested against the three performance conditions, over a 3 year period with the following results:

Hurdle Outcome

10.5% - 13.5% average ROE 7.95% average ROE Hurdle not achieved

62% percentile TSR (ASX 200 companies  

excluding mining)
16th percentile Hurdle not achieved

Peer companies TSR (AWB Ltd and Graincorp Ltd) Exceeded average TSR Hurdle achieved
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The performance period relating to the 2005/06 and 2006/07 tranches has not ceased and the 2005/06 assessment will be performed post 30 September 

2008. There has been no change to the terms and conditions of the 2005/06 and 2006/07 tranches since grant date. The grant date of the LTI Plan bonus 

share based payment is the date at which the Board and participants have an agreed understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement  

for each of the performance periods. 

The maximum number of share rights granted under the LTI Plan are set out below:

2006/07 Tranche 2005/06 Tranche 2004/05 Tranche Total

Share Rights 
Granted

Share Rights 
Vested

Share Rights 
Granted

Share Rights 
Vested

Share Rights 
Granted

Share Rights 
Vested

Share Rights 
Granted

Share Rights 
Vested

Name No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No.

Executive Director
M A Iwaniw 40,068 - 37,466 - 26,376 6,501 103,910 6,501

Key Executives 

K R David - - - - - - - -

P E Jones 15,166 - - - - - 15,166 -

T J O’Connor 13,175 - 11,782 - 10,834 2,704 35,791 2,704

S D Read 13,511 - - - - - 13,511 -

A S Roff 11,446 - 9,811 - 9,265 2,385 30,522 2,385

G J Spiel 13,581 - 11,284 - - - 24,865 -

J P Warda 14,004 - 12,666 - 11,782 2,900 38,452 2,900

B Wojewidka - - - - - - - -

Fair value of share right 

granted
$ 4.49 $ 4.32 $ 3.81

  

Grant of Executive Share Options
Details of options over ordinary shares in ABB Grain Ltd provided to key executives are set out below. When exercisable, each option is convertible  

into one ordinary share of ABB Grain Ltd.

2008

Options Granted Options Vested

Name No. No.

Key Executives
K R David 38,674 -

P E Jones 38,674 -

T J O’Connor 38,674 -

S D Read 38,674 -

A S Roff 38,674 -

G J Spiel 38,674 -

J P Warda 38,674 -

B Wojewidka 38,674 -

The assessed fair value of $2.27 per option at grant date is allocated equally over the period from grant date to vesting date. Fair values at grant date  

are determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at grant  

date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.
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Summary of Contracts 

The Managing Director and the key executives are employed under contracts of employment. Key terms of the contracts as of the date of this report  

are summarised below. All contracts allow the Company to terminate employment without notice and without any right to termination payments  

beyond statutory entitlements in the event of dishonesty or willful misconduct. All termination payments are subject to the limits imposed by section  

200G of the Corporations Act and any restrictions contained in the ASX Listing Rules. All of the named executives will in addition to the termination 

payments specified below also be entitled to statutory entitlements such as the accrued value of annual leave and long service leave.

Summary of Contracts 

Summary of Employment Contracts of Executive Director and Key Executives 2007/08

Name Duration of contract Termination by Company Termination by Executive

M A Iwaniw 1/7/2009 At expiry of the contract

Termination payment: 2 years salary plus the value of 

2 motor vehicles in use.

At any other time   

Notice: 12 months notice in writing, or notice 

equivalent to the balance of the term of employment 

contract, to the expiry date, whichever is the lesser. 

Termination payment: 2 years salary plus the value of 

2 motor vehicles in use. 

12 months notice required or the balance of term of 

contract whichever is the lesser.

K R David No fixed term 6 months notice required.

Standard Redundancy: 3 weeks TFR per year of service

6 months notice required.

P E Jones No fixed term 3 months notice required.

In the event of redundancy, 6 months salary  

plus relocation expenses.

3 months notice required.

T J O’Connor No fixed term A sum equivalent to 6 months gross salary. 

Plus 2 weeks salary for every year of service up to 15 

years and 3 weeks for each completed year of service 

over 15 years (capped at 2 years) plus six months 

salary plus 9%.

6 months notice required.

S D Read No fixed term 6 months notice required.

Standard Redundancy: 3 weeks TFR per year of service

6 months notice required.

A S Roff No fixed term 6 months notice required.

Termination payment: 6 months in lieu of notice plus 

3 weeks per year of service.

3 months notice required.

G J Spiel No fixed term 4 weeks notice required. 4 weeks notice required.

J P Warda  No fixed term 6 months notice required.

Termination payment: 3 weeks TFR for every year of 

service (capped at 2 years).

3 months notice required. 

B Wojewidka No fixed term 6 months notice required.

Standard Redundancy: 3 weeks TFR per year of service

6 months notice required.
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Non-Executive Directors 

Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors  

The Board recognises the importance of setting appropriate levels of 

remuneration for Board members to ensure that the Company attracts and 

retains Directors of the necessary calibre to properly direct the affairs of the 

Company in accordance with best corporate governance principles, taking 

into account the size and complexity of the Company and its operations.

The Company will comply with Board remuneration disclosures to maintain 

the highest standards of clarity and transparency in communications  

with shareholders.

The Board fees and superannuation contributions paid to Directors in 

any year must not exceed the annual overall limit approved from time to 

time by the Company’s members (the “global limit”). The current limit of 

$1,000,000 was approved by shareholders at an annual general meeting 

held 29 February 2008.

The Board Remuneration Committee will arrange on an annual basis for 

an independent remuneration specialist to review Board remuneration, 

compare it to market practice and prepare a report. The Committee will 

review the report and make recommendation to the Board on Director 

remuneration. This process has not occurred in the current year. 

Generally the Board will target a remuneration level at the 50th percentile  

of market practice for a reasonable sample of companies:

• listed on the Australian Stock Exchange;

• with market capitalisations in the range of approximately +/- 50% of the 

Company’s market capitalisation;

• as far as practicable, within industry sectors allied to the Company’s 

operations (provided they are not too far outside the capitalisation  

range); and

• excluding those companies that are not appropriate comparators because 

of industry sector incompatibility or otherwise, even though they are close 

to the Company’s size in terms of market capitalisation.

Directors will not be entitled to additional fees for serving on the Boards  

of subsidiaries, joint ventures or Board committees, with the exception  

of the Chair of a standing board committee, subsidiary or joint venture.  

The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Board will not be entitled to additional 

fees for chairing a board committee or a subsidiary or joint venture board.

Directors who undertake special projects at the request of the Board will  

be entitled to a ‘per diem’ fee over and above the Board fee. These additional 

fees are not taken into account in assessing compliance with the global 

limit. There were no per diems paid in 2007 or 2008.

Superannuation for Directors will be provided at the minimum statutory 

rate by way of contribution to either the Company’s accumulation-style 

plan or to an approved fund of each Director’s choice.

Generally, no benefits other than superannuation will be paid to retiring 

Directors. If a commitment to pay a retirement benefit is made it must  

be appropriately provisioned in the accounts of the Company and  

disclosed in the annual report to shareholders in the year when the 

commitment is made. 

The level of Board fees should not be tied to the performance of the 

Company. Such a structure would compromise the independence,  

from management, of the Board.

Directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company and they may 

sacrifice up to 50% of their Board fees to receive shares in the Company  

in lieu of payment. The acquisition price of the shares will be at market price 

in accordance with the rules from time to time of the Company’s Deferred 

Employee Share Plan. Directors are required to nominate what proportion  

of their fees they wish to sacrifice for shares annually in advance.

Non-Executive Directors Remuneration Structure
The non-executive Directors receive:

• Board and committee fees set in accordance with the Board remuneration 

policy and based on the report of an independent remuneration expert;

• Superannuation at the rate of 9% of all Board and committee fees; and

• Reimbursement for expenses properly incurred as a Director of ABB or in 

the course of their duties. 
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Details of Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Year Primary Post - employment Equity

Base salary/ 
fees

Non-
monetary 

benefits

Committee/
other 

service fees

Super-
annuation

Retirement 
benefits

Options 
granted

LTI plan 
rights 

granted

Total

Non-executives Directors

P R Gunner 2008 200,250 - - 18,022 - - - 218,272

2007 180,000 - - 16,200 - - - 196,200

A R Barr 2008 89,000 - - 8,010 - - - 97,010

2007 80,000 - - 7,200 - - -  87,200

P W Daniel 2008 48,200 - - 48,810 - - - 97,010

2007 80,000 - - 7,200 - - -  87,200

T M Day 2008 1,437 - 20,000 97,373 - - - 118,810

2007 80,000 - 20,000 9,000 - - -  109,000

R M Johns 2008 89,000 - - 8,010 - - - 97,010

2007 80,000 - - 7,200 - - -  87,200

K G Osborn 2008 89,000 - 20,000 9,810 - - - 118,810

2007 80,000 - 20,000 9,000 - - - 109,000

T J Ryan 2008 23,046 - 20,000 75,764 - - - 118,810

2007 80,000 - 20,000 9,000 - - - 109,000

M F Venning 2008 113,536 - - 12,577 - - - 126,113

2007 104,000 - - 9,360 - - -  113,360
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Non-Audit Services 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor 

for non-audit services provided during the year 

by the auditor are outlined in note 34 to the 

financial statements.

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of 

non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor 

(or by another person or firm on the auditor’s 

behalf ) is compatible with the general standard 

of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the 

services as disclosed in note 34 to the financial 

statements do not compromise the external 

auditor’s independence, based on advice 

received from the Audit Committee, for the 

following reasons:

• all non-audit services have been reviewed and 

approved to ensure that they do not impact the 

integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and

• none of the services undermine the general 

principles relating to auditor independence as 

set out in Code of Conduct APES 110 Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by 

the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards 

Board, including reviewing or auditing the 

auditor’s own work, acting in a management 

or decision-making capacity for the Company, 

acting as advocate for the Company or jointly 

sharing economic risks and rewards.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is 

included on page 47 of the financial report.

Rounding Off of Amounts
The Company is a Company of the kind referred 

to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 

1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 

amounts in the Directors’ report and the financial 

report are rounded off to the nearest million 

dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of 

Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the 

Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P R Gunner 

Director 

Adelaide 

25 November 2008
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

91 King William Street
ADELAIDE SA 5000
GPO Box 418
ADELAIDE SA 5001
DX 77 Adelaide
Australia
Telephone +61 8 8218 7000
Facsimile +61 8 8218 7999

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of ABB Grain Limited for the year ended 30 September 2008, I declare
that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in

relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of ABB Grain Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

DR Clark Adelaide
PricewaterhouseCoopers 25 November 2008

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION ABB GRAIN LTD FINANCIAL REPORT 2008
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

91 King William Street
ADELAIDE SA 5000
GPO Box 418
ADELAIDE SA 5001
DX 77 Adelaide
Australia
Telephone +61 8 8218 7000
Facsimile +61 8 8218 7999
www.pwc.com/au

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
ABB Grain Limited

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of ABB Grain Limited (the company), which
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 September 2008, and the income statement, statement of
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for both ABB Grain
Limited (the company) and the ABB Grain Limited Group (the consolidated entity). The consolidated
entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time
during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and
maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that
we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

For further explanation of an audit, visit our website http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
ABB Grain Limited
(continued)

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or
management.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinions.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of ABB Grain Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial
position as at 30 September 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on
that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 25 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 September 2008. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation
and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations
Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of ABB Grain Limited for the year ended 30 September
2008, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

DR Clark Adelaide
Partner 25 November 2008

AUDITOR’S REPORT ABB GRAIN LTD FINANCIAL REPORT 2008
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Directors’ Declaration

The Directors declare that:

(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe  

that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 

due and payable; 

(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and  

notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true  

and fair view of the financial position and performance of the  

Company and the consolidated entity; 

(c) the Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A  

of the Corporations Act 2001; and

At the date of this declaration, the Company is within the class of 

companies affected by ASIC Class Order 98/1418. The nature of the  

deed of cross guarantee is such that each Company which is party  

to the deed guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt  

in accordance with the deed of cross guarantee.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that 

the Company and the companies to which the ASIC Class Order applies, 

as detailed in note 27 to the financial statements will, as a group, be able 

to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, 

subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant 

to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P R Gunner 

Director 

Adelaide 

25 November 2008
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Income Statement 

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Note $ million $ million $ million $ million

Revenue 3 2,238.2   1,516.7 1,889.1 1,287.0

Other income (including fair value gains/(losses)) 5 23.0 (46.5) 18.7 (56.2)

Share of profits/(losses) of associates and jointly controlled entities (2.2) (0.6) 0.5 -

Reversal of impairment of non-current assets -         0.6 - -

Changes in inventories (3.4) (39.5) (1.1)  (39.2)

Cost of grain and commodities sold (1,629.3) (992.6) (1,503.0)    (943.6)

Employee benefits expense (95.3) (73.6) (44.0)       (29.8)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (31.6) (30.8) (2.4)         (1.8)

Transport and handling charges (276.8) (202.8) (274.1)    (191.3)

Finance costs 4 (48.2) (31.3) (55.4)      (35.8)

Other expenses 5 (103.5) (88.7) (31.5)      (33.1)

Profit/(loss) before tax 70.9       10.9 (3.2) (43.8)

Income tax expense 6 (22.1)        (3.6) 1.5     13.1

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to members of ABB Grain Ltd 48.8      7.3 (1.7) (30.7)

Earnings per share  

From continuing operations: 

Basic (cents per share) 21 31.2 4.9

Diluted (cents per share) 21 31.2 4.9

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 54 to 115.

for the financial year ended 30 September 2008
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Balance Sheet 
as at 30 September 2008

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Current assets
Note $ million $ million $ million $ million

Cash and cash equivalents 32.1 12.1 16.0 5.6

Trade and other receivables 7 301.3 256.3 458.1 363.7

Inventories 8 326.2 343.3 225.4 296.8

Other financial assets 9 134.3 432.7 117.7 417.8

Total current assets 793.9 1,044.4 817.2 1,083.9

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 10.5 13.1 - -

Investments accounted for using the equity method 10 3.5 0.1 3.5 -

Other financial assets 9 2.4 2.4 696.4 697.3

Property, plant and equipment 11 634.3 554.1 34.4 13.4

Intangibles 12 365.1 357.1 13.3 7.6

Total non-current assets 1,015.8 926.8 747.6 718.3

Total assets 1,809.7 1,971.2 1,564.8 1,802.2

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 142.5 97.4 80.1 51.4

Borrowings 14 93.1 141.6 87.0 141.6

Other financial liabilities 15 105.9 484.8 82.7 482.0

Provisions 16 13.9 12.1 6.1 3.8

Current tax liabilities 6 9.9 11.6 8.0 10.9

Other 17 7.3 1.0 7.0 0.5

Total current liabilities 372.6 748.5 270.9 690.2

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 14 300.8 300.0 300.0 300.0

Deferred tax liabilities 6 24.3 22.4 14.6 11.4

Provisions 16 1.1 1.0 0.3 0.2

Total non-current liabilities 326.2 323.4 314.9 311.6

Total liabilities 698.8 1,071.9 585.8 1,001.8

Net assets 1,110.9 899.3 979.0 800.4

Equity

Issued capital 18 1,009.5 808.9 1,009.5 808.9

Reserves 19 (10.3) 9.5 (1.0) 1.3

Retained earnings 20 111.7 80.9 (29.5) (9.8)

Total equity 1,110.9 899.3 979.0 800.4

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 54 to 115.
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Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges taken to equity (28.4)     14.6 (3.7) 1.0

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (0.2)     (0.5) -            -

Income tax on items taken directly to equity 8.5        (4.3) 1.1 (0.1)

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity (20.1)        9.8 (2.6) 0.9

Profit after tax 48.8 7.3 (1.7) (30.7)

Total recognised income and expense for the period 28.7        17.1 (4.3) (29.8)

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 54 to 115.

Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 
for the financial year ended 30 September 2008
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Cash Flow Statement  
for the financial year ended 30 September 2008

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities
Note $ million $ million $ million $ million

Receipts from customers (and on behalf of grain pools) 2,432.9 1,625.4 1,997.2 1,021.6

Payments to suppliers and employees (and on behalf of grain pools) (2,366.6) (1,587.2) (2,020.5) (1,028.7)

Interest and other costs of finance paid (57.2) (36.7) (56.2) (41.2)

Interest received 9.4 12.5 7.1 11.9

Income taxes refund/(paid) (14.2) 8.5 (10.7) 8.5

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 30(d) 4.3 22.5 (83.1) (27.9)

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3

Payments for property, plant and equipment (97.6) (60.8) (21.4) (10.4)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.2 1.1 - -

Payments for investments (3.0) - (3.0) -

Payments for businesses 30(a) (16.4) (9.1) (8.1) (9.1)

Net cash used in investing activities (116.6) (68.5) (32.3) (19.2)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of equity securities 194.8 20.8 194.8 20.8

Payment for share issue costs (4.0) (0.6) (3.6) (0.6)

Net drawdowns/(repayments) of borrowings (47.7) 32.1 (54.6) 32.2

Dividends paid (10.8) (18.9) (10.8) (18.9)

Net cash provided by financing activities 132.3 33.4 125.8 33.5

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 20.0 (12.6) 10.4 (13.6)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 12.1 24.7 5.6 19.2

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 32.1 12.1 16.0 5.6

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 54 to 115.
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Note Contents
18 Issued Capital
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20 Retained Earnings 
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32 Key Management Personnel Compensation

33 Related Party Transactions 

34 Remuneration of Auditors

1. Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial 

report which has been prepared in accordance 

with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting 

Standards and Interpretations, and complies 

with other requirements of the law. The financial 

report includes the separate financial statements 

of the Company and the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group. 

Accounting Standards include Australian 

equivalents to International Financial  

Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance  

with A-IFRS ensures that the financial statements 

and notes of the Company and the Group 

comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”). 

The financial statements were authorised for 

issue by the Directors on 25 November 2008.

Basis of Preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the 

basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation 

of certain non-current assets and financial 

instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of 

the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, 

unless otherwise noted. 

The Company is a Company of the kind referred 

to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 

1998, and in accordance with that Class Order, 

amounts in the financial report are rounded off 

to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, unless 

otherwise indicated. 

Adoption of New and Revised  
Accounting Standards
In the current year, the Group has adopted 

all of the new and revised Standards and 

Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that  

are relevant to its operations and effective for  

the current annual reporting period.  

Details of the impacts of the adoption of these 

new accounting standards are set out in the 

individual accounting policy notes set out below. 

The Group has also adopted the following 

Standards as listed below which only impacted 

on the Group’s financial statements with  

respect to disclosure:

• AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial  

Statements’; and

• AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

In the current year, the Group has early  

adopted AASB 123 ‘Borrowing costs (revised)’. 

The revised standard requires that all borrowing 

costs associated with a qualifying asset are to be 

capitalised. The revised standard does not have 

an impact on the Group’s financial statements  

as the requirements have already been applied  

to borrowing costs. 

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting 

policies, management is required to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other sources.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual  

results may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting are recognised in the period in which 

the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 

that period, or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current 

and future period. 

The following significant accounting policies 

have been adopted in the preparation and 

presentation of the financial report:

(a) Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise 

the financial statements of ABB Grain Ltd and its 

subsidiaries as defined in Accounting Standard 

AASB 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements’, referred to in this financial report  

as the consolidated entity/Group.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

prepared for the same reporting period as the 

parent Company, using consistent accounting 

policies. Adjustments are made to align any 

dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 

unrealised gains on transactions between 

consolidated entity companies are eliminated. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 

transaction provides evidence of impairment  

of an asset transferred.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the 

consolidated entity has the power to govern 

the financial and operating policies, generally 

accompanying a shareholding of more than half 

of the voting rights. The existence and effect 

of potential voting rights that are currently 

exercisable or convertible are considered when 

assessing whether the consolidated entity 

controls another entity. Accounting policies of 

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 

to ensure consistency with policies adopted by 

the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on 

which control is transferred to the consolidated 

entity and cease to be consolidated from the 

date on which control is transferred out of the 

consolidated entity. The purchase method of 

accounting is used to account for the acquisition 

of subsidiaries by the consolidated entity.

Associates

Associates are those entities over which the 

consolidated entity has significant influence 

but not control or joint control, generally 

accompanying a shareholding of between 20% 

and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 

associates are accounted for in the parent entity 

financial statements using the cost method and 

in the consolidated financial statements using 

the equity method of accounting, after initially 

being recognised at cost. The consolidated 

entity’s investment in associates includes 

goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment 

loss) identified on acquisition.

The consolidated entity’s share of its associates’ 

post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised 

in the income statement and its share of 

post-acquisition movements in reserves is 

recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-

acquisition movements are adjusted against the 

carrying amount of the investment. Dividends 

receivable from associates are recognised in the 

parent entity’s income statement, while in the 

consolidated financial statements they reduce 

the carrying amount of the investment.

When the consolidated entity’s share of losses  

in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 

the associate, including any other unsecured  

long term receivables, the consolidated entity 

does not recognise further losses, unless it has 

incurred obligations or made payments on 

behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between 

the consolidated entity and its associates are 

eliminated to the extent of the consolidated 

entity’s interest in the associates. Unrealised 

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 

provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred. Accounting policies of associates 

are consistent with the policies adopted by the 

consolidated entity.

Jointly Controlled Entities

Interests in jointly controlled entities in which the 

Group is a venturer (and so has joint control) are 

accounted for under the equity method in the 

consolidated financial statements and the cost 

method in the Company financial statements.

Grain Pools

The consolidated entity operates grain pools  

on behalf of growers and has legal title over  

the pool stocks, however the majority of the risks 

and benefits associated with pools, principally 

price risk and benefit, together with credit risk,  

are attributable to growers. As a result,  
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pool stocks and other related balances held  

by the consolidated entity on behalf of growers 

are not recognised in the consolidated entity’s 

financial statements. Separate financial records 

are maintained for grain pools.

(b) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs, including interest and finance 

charges, relating to major construction projects 

up to the date of commenced operations are 

capitalised and amortised over the expected 

useful life of the asset. All other borrowing costs 

are expensed as incurred.

(c) Business Combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are 

accounted for using the purchase method.  

The cost of the business combination is 

measured as the aggregate of the fair values  

(at the date of exchange) of assets given,  

liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 

instruments issued by the Group in exchange 

for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 

attributable to the business combination.  

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 

for recognition under AASB 3 ‘Business 

Combinations’ are recognised at their fair values 

at the acquisition date, except for non-current 

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified  

as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 ‘Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations’, which are recognised and measured 

at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised  

as an asset and initially measured at cost, 

being the excess of the cost of the business 

combination over the Group’s interest in the  

net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities recognised. 

Where settlement of any part of cash 

consideration is deferred, the amounts payable  

in the future are discounted to their present value 

as at the date of the acquisition. The discount rate 

used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, 

being the rate at which a similar borrowing could 

be obtained from an independent financier 

under comparable terms and conditions.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 

deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term,  

highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and 

which are subject to an insignificant risk  

of changes in value. 

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings  

in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

(e) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group enters into a variety of derivative 

financial instruments to manage its exposure  

to interest rate, agricultural commodity price  

and foreign exchange rate risk, including  

foreign exchange forward contracts,  

agricultural commodity futures and options  

and interest rate swaps. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at 

the date a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently remeasured to their fair value 

at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss 

is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless 

the derivative is designated and effective as a 

hedging instrument, in which event, the timing 

of the recognition in profit or loss depends on 

the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group 

designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly 

probable forecast transactions or hedges of 

foreign currency risk of firm commitments  

(cash flow hedges).

Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial 

instruments or other host contracts are treated 

as separate derivatives when their risks and 

characteristics are not closely related to those 

of host contracts and the host contracts are not 

measured at fair value with changes in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss.

Hedge Accounting

The Group designates certain hedging 

instruments as cash flow hedges. 

At the inception of the hedge relationship the 

entity documents the relationship between  

the hedging instrument and hedged item, 

along with its risk management objectives 

and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 

transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of 

the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group 

documents whether the hedging instrument 

that is used in a hedging relationship is highly 

effective in offsetting changes in cash flows  

of the hedged item.

Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value 

of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 

cash flow hedges are deferred in equity.  

The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 

is recognised immediately in profit or loss as part 

of other expenses or other income. Amounts 

deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss  

in the periods when the hedged item is 

recognised in profit or loss. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when  

the Group revokes the hedging relationship,  

the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 

terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies  

for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain  

or loss deferred in equity at that time remains 

in equity and is recognised when the forecast 

transaction is ultimately recognised in profit  

or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 

expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 

loss that was deferred in equity is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

Derivatives not Qualifying for Hedge Accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify  

for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value  

of any derivative instruments that do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

(f) Employee Benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing 

to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 

annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave 

when it is probable that settlement will be 

required and they are capable of being  

measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee 

benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, 

are measured at their nominal values using the 

remuneration rate expected to apply at the  

time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee 

benefits which are not expected to be settled 

within 12 months are measured as the present 

value of the estimated future cash outflows to 

be made by the Group in respect of services 

provided by employees up to reporting date.

Termination Benefits

Liabilities for termination benefits, not in 

connection with the acquisition of an entity  

or operation, are recognised when a detailed 

plan for the terminations has been developed 

and a valid expectation has been raised, in those 

employees affected, that the terminations will be 

carried out. The liabilities for termination benefits 

are recognised in other creditors unless the 

amount or timing of the payment is uncertain,  

in which case they are recognised as a provision.

Liabilities for termination benefits relating  

to an acquired entity or operation that arise  

as a consequence of acquisitions are  

recognised as at the date of acquisition if,  

at or before the acquisition date, the main 

features of the terminations were planned and 

a valid expectation had been raised in those 

employees that the terminations would be 

carried out and this is supported by a detailed 

formal plan. These liabilities are disclosed in 

aggregate with other restructuring costs as  

a consequence of the acquisition.

Superannuation

The amount charged in respect of 

superannuation represents the contributions 

made by the consolidated entity to the 

superannuation funds. These amounts are 
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recognised as an expense as they become 

payable. Prepaid contributions are recognised 

as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or 

reduction in future payments is available.

Share-Based Payments

The consolidated entity provides benefits to 

employees in the form of share-based payment 

transactions, whereby employees render services 

in exchange for ABB ordinary shares.

There are currently two ABB ordinary share plans 

in place to provide these benefits:

(i) Exempt Employee Share Plan (“EESP”)  

under which the Board may elect to issue  

up to $1,000 worth of ABB ordinary shares  

to employees;

(ii) Deferred Employee Share Plan (“DESP”) under 

which Directors and employees may elect to 

sacrifice their fees, salaries and / or bonuses  

to receive ABB ordinary shares.

The fair value of the shares issued under both of 

these plans is recognised as an employee benefit 

expense with a corresponding increase in equity.

A Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTI Plan”) also 

operates under which participants must sacrifice 

any bonuses they are eligible to receive for ABB 

ordinary shares under the DESP. No LTI plan 

bonus is granted or vests until assessment is 

made at the end of the 3 year performance 

period. The cost of these equity-settled 

transactions with employees is measured by 

reference to the fair value at the date at which 

they are granted. The fair value is determined by 

an external valuer using a binomial model.

The fair value determined at the grant date  

of the equity-settled share-based payments is 

expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting 

period to employee benefits expense, based 

on the consolidated entity’s estimate of shares 

that will eventually vest, with a corresponding 

adjustment to contributed equity. 

An Executive Share Option Plan also operates 

whereby options over ABB Grain Ltd shares  

are granted to ABB’s senior executive 

team. Vesting of the options is subject to a 

performance requirement of 10% per annum 

compound growth in ABB’s share market price 

over a three year period. Once vested, the options 

remain exercisable for a period of two years.  

When exercisable, each option is convertible 

into one ordinary share. The exercise price of the 

options is based on the value weighted average 

price for the 60 market trading days up to and 

including grant date.

The dilutive effect, if any of the outstanding rights 

and options arising from LTI plan or Executive 

Share Option Plan are reflected as additional 

share dilution in the computation of diluted 

earnings per share.

Profit Sharing and Performance  

Incentive Schemes

The consolidated entity recognises a liability  

and an expense for performance based incentive 

schemes and profit-sharing based on a formula 

that takes into consideration the profit after 

certain adjustments. The consolidated entity 

recognises a provision where contractually 

obliged or where there is a past practice that  

has created a constructive obligation.

(g) Financial Assets
Investments are recognised and derecognised 

on trade date where the purchase or sale of an 

investment is under a contract whose terms 

require delivery of the investment within the 

timeframe established by the market concerned, 

and are initially measured at fair value, net of 

transaction costs except for those financial assets 

classified as at fair value through profit or loss 

which are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments 

in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the 

Company financial statements. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, investments in associates are 

accounted for under the equity method in the 

consolidated financial statements and the cost 

method in the Company financial statements.

Other financial assets are classified into the 

following specified categories: financial assets ‘at 

fair value through profit or loss’, ‘held-to-maturity 

investments’, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, 

and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification 

depends on the nature and purpose of the 

financial assets and is determined at the time of 

initial recognition.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through 

Profit or Loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss where the 

financial asset: 

(i) has been acquired principally for the purpose 

of selling in the near future;

(ii) is a part of an identified portfolio of financial 

instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of 

short-term profit-taking; or 

(iii) is a derivative that is not designated and 

effective as a hedging instrument. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or 

loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or 

loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any 

dividend or interest earned on the financial  

asset. Fair value is determined in the manner 

described in note 29(k).

Held-to-Maturity Investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non- 

derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments and fixed maturities  

that the consolidated entity’s management 

has the positive intention and ability to hold 

to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are 

carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method.

The effective interest method is a method  

of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

asset and of allocating interest income over the 

relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 

rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-

derivatives that are either designated in this 

category or not classified in any of the other 

categories. Gains or losses on available-for-

sale investments are recognised as a separate 

component of equity until the investment is sold, 

collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the 

investment is determined to be impaired,  

at which date the cumulative gain or loss 

previously reported in equity is included in the 

income statement. Fair value is determined in  

the manner described in note 29.

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non derivative  

financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. They arise when the consolidated entity 

provides money, goods or services directly to  

a debtor with no intention of selling the 

receivable. Loans and receivables are recorded  

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method less impairment. Loans and receivables 

are included in current assets, except for those 

with maturities greater than 12 months after the 

balance sheet date which are classified as non-

current assets. Loans and receivables are included 

in receivables in the balance sheet.

Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value 

through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators 

of impairment at each balance sheet date. 

Financial assets are impaired where there is 

objective evidence that as a result of one or more 

events that occurred after the initial recognition 

of the financial asset the estimated future cash 

flows of the investment have been impacted. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 

the amount of the impairment is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset 

is reduced by the impairment loss directly 

for all financial assets with the exception of 

trade receivables where the carrying amount 

is reduced through the use of an allowance 
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Heading

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  ABB GRAIN LTD FINANCIAL REPORT 200858

account. When a trade receivable is  

uncollectible, it is written off against the 

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries  

of amounts previously written off are credited 

against the allowance account. Changes in the 

carrying amount of the allowance account are 

recognised in profit or loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale  

equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, 

the amount of the impairment loss decreases 

and the decrease can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment 

was recognised, the previously recognised 

impairment loss is reversed through profit 

or loss to the extent the carrying amount of 

the investment at the date the impairment is 

reversed does not exceed what the amortised 

cost would have been had the impairment  

not been recognised. 

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, 

any subsequent increase in fair value after an 

impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.

(h) Financial Instruments Issued by  
the Company
Debt and Equity Instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as 

either liabilities or as equity in accordance with 

the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Transaction costs on the issue of  

equity instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of  

equity instruments are recognised directly  

in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of  

the equity instruments to which the costs  

relate. Transaction costs are the costs that  

are incurred directly in connection with the  

issue of those equity instruments and which 

would not have been incurred had those 

instruments not been issued.

Interest and Dividends

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses 

or as distributions of profit consistent with the 

balance sheet classification of the related debt  

or equity instruments.

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are 

measured initially at their fair values and 

subsequently at the higher of the amount 

recognised as a provision and the amount 

initially recognised less cumulative amortisation 

in accordance with the revenue recognition 

policies described in note 1(s).

(i) Foreign Currency
Foreign Currency Transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the 

financial year are brought to account using 

the exchange rate in effect at the date of the 

transaction. Foreign currency monetary items  

at reporting date are translated at the exchange 

rate existing at reporting date. Non-monetary 

assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair 

value was determined.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit  

or loss in the period in which they arise except 

for exchange differences on transactions  

entered into in order to hedge certain foreign 

currency risks.

Foreign Operations

The individual financial statements of each  

group entity are presented in its functional 

currency being the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity 

operates. For the purpose of the consolidated 

financial statements, the results and financial 

position of each entity are expressed in Australian 

dollars, which is the presentation currency for the 

consolidated financial statements. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of 

the consolidated entity’s overseas operations 

are translated at exchange rates prevailing at 

the reporting date. Income and expense items 

are translated at the average exchange rates 

for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, 

are recognised in the foreign currency translation 

reserve, and recognised in profit or loss on 

disposal of the foreign operation.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

the acquisition of a foreign entity on or after the 

date of transition to A-IFRS are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 

at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting 

date. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 

the date of transition to A-IFRS is treated as an 

Australian dollar denominated asset.

(j) Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination 

is initially measured at its cost, being the excess 

of the cost of the business combination over 

the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of 

the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities recognised. Goodwill is subsequently 

measured at its cost less any impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 

is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-

generating units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

business combination. CGUs (or groups of CGUs) 

to which goodwill has been allocated are tested 

for impairment annually, or more frequently if 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

goodwill might be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU (or groups 

of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount of  

the CGU (or groups of CGUs), the impairment loss 

is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount  

of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or groups 

of CGUs) and then to the other assets of the  

CGU (or groups of CGUs) pro-rata on the basis  

of the carrying amount of each asset in the  

CGU (or groups of CGUs). An impairment 

loss recognised for goodwill is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed 

in a subsequent period.

On disposal of an operation within a CGU,  

the attributable amount of goodwill is included 

in the determination of the profit or loss on 

disposal of the operation.

(k) Impairment of other Tangible and 
Intangible Assets 
At each reporting date, the consolidated entity 

reviews the carrying amounts of its non- 

current assets, other than deferred tax assets,  

to determine whether there is any indication  

of impairment. Where an indication of 

impairment exists, and at least annually for 

goodwill, an estimate of the recoverable  

amount is made to determine the extent  

of any impairment loss.

Assets are assessed for impairment on a cash 

generating unit basis. A cash generating unit  

is the smallest grouping of assets that generate 

independent cash flows, and generally represent 

supply chain assets grouped according to their 

least cost freight grain flow to port, individual 

malt plants and other individual business 

operations. Goodwill is allocated to the 

consolidated entity’s business segments,  

and impairment assessed based on the 

recoverable amount of the cash generating  

units comprising the respective business 

segments. Assets not allocated to individual  

cash generating units or business segments  

are assessed for impairment on a consolidated 

entity basis.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash 

generating unit is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 

asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 

recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 

other than in respect of goodwill, the carrying 

amount of the asset or cash generating unit is 

increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount, but only to the extent that 

the increased carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset or cash generating unit 

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised in profit or loss. An impairment of 

goodwill is not subsequently reversed.
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Calculation of Recoverable Amount and  

Key Assumptions

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash 

generating unit is the greater of its fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are based 

on management’s projections and expectations 

of grain volumes in respect of supply chain assets 

and cash generating units, effective production 

capacities in respect of malt manufacture 

assets and cash generating units, and estimated 

maintainable earnings based on recent historical 

experience and management projections and 

expectations. The cash flows are projected over 

periods of 5 to 20 years depending on the nature 

of the assets, and assume no growth other than 

long term inflationary impacts. Terminal values, 

where appropriate, are estimated based on the 

Growth and Perpetuity Model. The estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value  

of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Where an asset does not generate cash flows 

that are independent from other assets, the 

consolidated entity estimates the recoverable 

amount of the cash generating unit to which  

the asset belongs.

(l) Income Tax
The income tax expense for the period is the 

tax payable on the current period’s taxable 

income based on the national income tax rate 

for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in 

deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 

temporary differences between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 

in the financial statements, and by unused tax 

losses. Current tax for current and prior periods is 

recognised as a liability or asset to the extent that 

it is unpaid or refundable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 

for temporary differences at the tax rates 

expected to apply when the assets are recovered 

or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates 

which are enacted or substantively enacted 

in each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are 

applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible 

and taxable temporary differences to measure 

the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception 

is made for certain temporary differences 

arising from the initial recognition of an asset 

or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability 

is recognised in relation to these temporary 

differences if they arose in a transaction, other 

than a business combination, that at the time  

of the transaction did not affect either 

accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for  

temporary differences and unused tax losses 

only if it is probable that future taxable amounts 

will be available to utilise those temporary 

differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not 

recognised for temporary differences between 

the carrying amount and tax bases of 

investments in controlled entities where the 

parent entity is able to control the timing of  

the reversal of the temporary differences and  

it is probable that the differences will not  

reverse in the foreseeable future. Current and 

deferred tax balances attributable to amounts 

recognised directly in equity are also recognised 

directly in equity.

Tax Consolidation

Effective 1 October 2002, ABB Grain Ltd and its 

wholly owned Australian controlled entities 

elected to form a consolidated entity and be 

treated as a single entity for income tax purposes. 

The head entity within the tax consolidated 

entity for the purposes of the tax consolidation 

system is the parent entity, ABB Grain Ltd. 

Tax expense, deferred tax assets and deferred 

tax liabilities arising from temporary differences 

of the members of the tax consolidated group 

are recognised by each member of the tax 

consolidated group and are calculated by 

reference to the amounts in the member’s 

individual financial statements.

A tax funding agreement, setting out the funding 

obligations of members of the tax consolidated 

group in respect of income tax amounts,  

has been put in place between the members 

of the tax consolidated group. Under the tax 

funding agreement, the members of the tax 

consolidated group are required to compensate 

ABB Grain Ltd for any current tax liability assumed 

by ABB Grain Ltd and ABB Grain Ltd is required to 

compensate a member for any current receivable 

and deferred tax asset relating to unused tax 

losses or unused tax credits that are transferred 

to ABB Grain Ltd. The tax funding agreement 

gives rise to an intercompany receivables and 

payables in ABB Grain Ltd equating to the tax 

liability and tax assets assumed.

(m) Intangible assets
Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised 

as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

Where no internally-generated intangible asset 

can be recognised, development expenditure 

 is recognised as an expense in the period  

as incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development 

(or from the development phase of an internal 

project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the 

following are demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the 

intangible asset so that it will be available for  

use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset 

and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable 

future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, 

financial and other resources to complete the 

development and to use or sell the intangible 

asset; and 

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 

attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.

Internally-generated intangibles

Internally-generated intangible assets are stated 

at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

impairment, and are amortised on a straight-line 

basis over their useful lives as follows:

Capitalised development costs  3 – 5 years

Intangible assets acquired in a  

business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business 

combination are identified and recognised 

separately from goodwill where they satisfy the 

definition of an intangible asset and their fair 

values can be measured reliably. 

(n) Inventories
Inventories, with the exception of inventories held 

for trading, are valued at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. Cost is determined as follows:

(i) Consumable stocks include supplies for 

ongoing operations of the consolidated 

entity and are valued on a weighted average 

cost basis.

(ii) Grain stocks, work in progress and finished 

goods for malt manufacture are valued 

using the absorption costing method, 

including direct materials, direct labour and 

an appropriate proportion of variable and 

fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being 

allocated on the basis of normal operating 

capacity. These costs are assigned on a first-in 

first-out basis.

(iii) Merchandise finished goods in rural services 

are valued on an average cost basis and 

fertiliser is assigned on a first-in, first-out basis. 

Net realisable value is determined as the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course  

of business less the estimated costs necessary  

to make the sale.

Inventories held for trading are measured  

at their fair value less estimated costs to sell,  

with the changes in their fair value less costs  

to sell recognised in the income statement.

(o) Leased Assets
Leases are classified as finance leases when  

the terms of the lease transfer substantially all  

the risks and rewards incidental to ownership  
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of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases 

are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially 

recognised at their fair value or, if lower,  

at amounts equal to the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, each determined  

at the inception of the lease. The corresponding 

liability to the lessor is included in the balance 

sheet as a finance lease obligation. 

Lease payments are apportioned between 

finance charges and reduction of the lease 

obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 

interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Finance charges are charged directly against 

income, unless they are directly attributable 

to qualifying assets, in which case they are 

capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 

general policy on borrowing costs. 

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight 

line basis over the estimated useful life of the 

asset and lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as  

an expense on a straight-line basis over the  

lease term, except where another systematic 

basis is more representative of the time pattern  

in which economic benefits from the leased  

asset are consumed. 

(p) Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified 

as held for sale are measured, at the lower of 

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are 

classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 

will be recovered principally through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. 

This condition is regarded as met only when 

the asset (or disposal group) is available for 

immediate sale in its present condition subject 

only to terms that are usual and customary 

for such a sale and the sale is highly probable. 

The sale of the asset (or disposal group) must 

be expected to be completed within one year 

from the date of classification, except in the 

circumstances where sale is delayed by events  

or circumstances outside the Group’s control  

and the Group remains committed to a sale.

(q) Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements 

and equipment under finance lease are stated 

at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment. Cost includes expenditure that  

is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

item. In the event that settlement of all or part  

of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost  

is determined by discounting the amounts 

payable in the future to their present value as  

at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant  

and equipment, including freehold buildings  

but excluding land. Depreciation is calculated 

on a straight line basis so as to write off the net 

cost or other revalued amount of each asset over 

its expected useful life to its estimated residual 

value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 

over the period of the lease or estimated useful 

life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight 

line method. The estimated useful lives, residual 

values and depreciation method are reviewed  

at the end of each annual reporting period,  

with the effect of any changes recognised on  

a prospective basis.

The following estimated useful lives are used  

in the calculation of depreciation:

• Buildings 5 – 50 years

• Plant and equipment 3 – 70 years

The cost of repairs and maintenance on property, 

plant and equipment is expense as incurred.

The carrying value of property, plant and 

equipment is reviewed for impairment when 

events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that carrying value may not be recoverable. 

Recoverable amount is determined on the basis 

described in the accounting policy note for 

impairment of assets (note 1(k)).

(r) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has 

a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 

a result of a past event, it is probable that the 

Group will be required to settle the obligation, 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the 

best estimate of the consideration required to 

settle the present obligation at reporting date, 

taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. Where a provision  

is measured using the cashflows estimated to 

settle the present obligation, its carrying amount 

is the present value of those cashflows.

When some or all of the economic benefits 

required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, the receivable is 

recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and the amount 

of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(s) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable. Amounts 

disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 

allowances and amounts collected on behalf  

of third parties. Revenue is recognised for the 

major business activities as follows:

Sale of Goods and Services

Revenue from the sale of goods and services  

is recognised upon the provision of the goods  

or services to the customer. Amounts billed  

in advance are recorded as a current liability  

until such time as the goods or services are 

provided to the customer.

Interest Income

Interest income is recognised on a time  

proportion basis using the effective interest 

method. When a receivable is impaired, the 

consolidated entity reduces the carrying amount 

to its recoverable amount, being the estimated 

future cash flow discounted at the original 

effective interest rate of the instrument, and 

continues unwinding the discount as interest 

income. Interest income on impaired loans is 

recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividends

Dividend revenue from investments is recognised 

when the shareholder’s right to receive payment 

has been established.

(t) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised 

net of the amount of goods and services tax 

(GST), except:

(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not 

recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition  

of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii) for receivables and payables which are 

recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from,  

or payable to, the taxation authority is included  

as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow 

statement on a gross basis. The GST component 

of cash flows arising from investing and  

financing activities which is recoverable from,  

or payable to, the taxation authority is classified 

as operating cash flows.

(u) Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing 

the profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity 

other than ordinary shares, by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the reporting period, adjusted for bonus 

elements in ordinary shares issued during the 

reporting period.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures 

used in the determination of basic earnings  

per share to take into account the after income 

tax effect of interest and other financing costs 

associated with dilutive potential ordinary  

shares and the weighted average number  

of shares assumed to have been issued for  

no consideration in relation to dilutive  

potential ordinary shares.
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Standards and Interpretations Issued not yet effective

At the date of adoption of the financial report, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

Reference Title Summary
Application date  
for standard

Impact on  
Group financial report

Application 
date for group

AASB 8 Operating Segments New Australian 

Accounting Standard 

requiring adoption  

of a ‘management 

approach’  

to segment reporting. 

1 January 

2009

AASB 8 is a disclosure standard which will 

have no direct impact on the amounts 

included in the Group’s financial statements 

and is not expected to have an impact on 

the Group’s segment disclosure as current 

segment information is consistent with internal 

management reports. 

1 October 

2009

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements (revised 

September 2007)

Amendments to AASB 

101. 

1 January 

2009

AASB 101 is a disclosure standard which will 

have no direct impact on the amounts included 

in the Group’s financial statements. 

1 October 

2009

AASB 

2008-1 

Amendment to 

Australian Accounting 

Standard – Share-based 

payments: Vesting 

Conditions  

and Cancellations.

This standard makes 

amendments to AASB 2 

‘Share based payments’

1 January 

2009

The Group does not anticipate that amendment 

will have a material effect on the financial 

statements

1 October 

2009

AASB 

2008-2

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Puttable 

Financial Instruments 

and Obligations arising 

on Liquidation

This standard makes 

amendments to 

AASB 132 ‘Financial 

Instruments’ and AASB 

101 ‘Presentation of 

Financial Statements’

1 January 

2009

The amendment is not expected to have an 

impact on the Group’s financial report.

1 October 

2009

AASB 

2008-3

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from 

AASB 3 and AASB 7

The standard makes 

amendments to 

AASB 3 ‘Business 

Combinations’ and 

AASB 127 ‘Consolidated 

and Separate Financial 

Statements’

1 July 2009 The amendment may have an impact on 

business combination acquisitions made after 1 

October 2009. 

1 October 

2009

AASB 

2008-4 

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Key 

Management Personnel 

Disclosures by  

Disclosing Entities

This standard makes 

amendments to AASB 

124 ‘Related Party 

Disclosures’

30 June 2008 AASB 124 is a disclosure standard which will 

have no direct impact on the amounts included 

in the Group’s financial statements.

1 October 

2008

AASB 

2008-7

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Cost of 

an investment in a 

Subsidiary, Jointly 

Controlled Entity or 

Associate

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards: AASB 127, 

AASB 118, AASB 136.

1 January 

2009

The Group does not anticipate that the 

amendment will have a material effect on the 

financial statements

1 October 

2009

AASB 

2008-8

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Eligible 

Hedged Items

This standard makes 

amendments to 

AASB 139 ‘Financial 

Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement’

1 July 2009 The Group does not enter into hedges for those 

items specified in the amendment, therefore the 

standard is not expected to have any impact on 

the Group’s financial report. 

1 October 

2009
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2. Business and Geographical Segments

Information on Business Segments 

Products and Services within each  

Business Segment

For management purposes, the Group is 

organised into four major operating divisions. 

These divisions are the basis on which the Group 

reports its primary segment information  

as follows:

• Supply Chain – includes the provision of 

storage and handling services for grain and 

other bulk commodities, utilising ABB’s 111 

country silos and 7 export shipping terminals 

along an integrated supply chain. Supply chain 

also includes ABB’s Professional Grain Services 

subsidiary which specialises in packing bulk 

and bagged grain in shipping containers for 

export, as well as providing a full range of grain 

cleaning, grading and bagging facilities.  

In addition, supply chain includes PCL Feeds 

and NZ Grain and Seeds, whose activities are 

feed supply and maize drying respectively;

Reference Title Summary
Application date  
for standard

Impact on  
Group financial report

Application 
date for group

AASB 

2008-10

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – 

Reclassification of 

Financial Assets

This standard makes 

amendments to 

AASB 139 ‘Financial 

Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement’

1 July 2008 The Group has not elected to reclassify any 

financial assets permitted under this standard. 

1 October 

2008

AASB 

Interpre- 

tation  

12 

Service Concession 

Arrangements 

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from 

AASB Interpretation 12 

(AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 

118, AASB 120, AASB 121, 

AASB 127, AASB 131 and 

AASB 139)

1 January 

2008

The Group currently has no service concession 

arrangements or public-private-partnerships 

(PPP), therefore the standard is not expected to 

have any impact on the Group’s financial report. 

1 October 

2008

AASB 

Interpre- 

tation  

13 

Customer Loyalty 

Programmes

Adopts a revenue 

allocation rather than 

cost accrual approach 

for customer loyalty 

programmes. 

1 July 2008 The Group currently has no customer loyalty 

programmes therefore the standard is not 

expected to have any impact  

on the Group’s performance. 

1 October 

2008

AASB 

Interpre- 

tation  

14 

The Limit on a Defined 

Benefit Asset, Minimum 

Funding Requirements 

and their Interaction

Interpretation provides 

guidance on the 

treatment of defined 

benefit plans under AASB 

119 ‘Employee Benefits’

1 January 

2008

The Group currently has no post-employment 

defined benefit plans or other long-

term defined benefit plans therefore the 

interpretation is not expected to have any 

impact on the Group’s financial report. 

1 October 

2008

AASB 

Interpre- 

tation  

15 

Hedges of a net 

investment  

in a foreign operation

This Interpretation 

provides guidance on 

accounting for the hedge 

of a net investment in a 

foreign operation under 

AASB 139 ‘Financial 

Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement’

1 October 

2008

The Group does not currently hedge against 

exposure to foreign exchange differences arising 

from investments in foreign operations therefore 

the interpretation is not expected to have any 

impact on the Group’s financial report. 

1 October 

2008
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Primary Reporting Format: Business Segment

2008 Supply chain Grain marketing
Malt 

manufacture
Rural services Other Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Revenue

Revenue from external sources 89.1 1,475.9 321.3 332.5 19.4 2,238.2

Intersegment revenues 51.7 219.6 - - (271.3) -

Total segment revenue 140.8 1,695.5 321.3 332.5 (251.9) 2,238.2

Results

Segment EBITDA 36.1 66.2 42.0 12.8 (15.8) 141.3

Depreciation and amortisation 

expense
(20.3) (0.3) (6.2) (0.8) (4.0) (31.6)

Segment EBIT 15.8 65.9 35.8 12.0 (19.8) 109.7

Net interest revenue/(expense) 0.6 (30.8) (1.5) (8.1) 1.0 (38.8)

Segment result 16.4 35.1 34.3 3.9 (18.8) 70.9

Income Tax Expense (22.1)

Net profit attributable to the 

members of ABB Grain Ltd
48.8

Assets

Segment assets 537.0 652.2 296.5 187.1 136.9 1,809.7

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 36.9 173.1 47.3 38.2 369.0 664.5

Unallocated 34.3

698.8

Net segment assets/(liabilities) 500.1 479.1 249.2 148.9 (232.1) 1,145.2

Net unallocated liabilities (34.3)

Net assets 1,110.9

Investments in associates and jointly 

controlled entities
- - - - 3.5 3.5

Acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment, intangibles and other 

non-current segment assets

52.7 - 11.5 7.6 45.9 117.7

Share of profits of associates 

accounted for using the equity 

method

(2.6) - - - 0.4 (2.2)

Inter-segment sales are recorded at amounts equal to competitive market prices charged to external customers for similar goods and services.

• Grain Marketing – includes the accumulation 

of grain from all growing regions in Australia, 

and the trading of wheat, barley, sorghum, 

oats, triticale, pulses, cottonseed and other 

agricultural commodities;

• Malt Manufacture – includes eight malt 

manufacturing plants located across Australia 

with a total malting capacity of 500,000 tonnes 

per annum, and is one of Australia’s  

largest suppliers to Australian malthouses;

• Rural Services – includes fertiliser and 

agricultural chemical supply, livestock 

marketing, wool marketing, wool broking 

though ABB’s subsidiary Adelaide Wool 

Company, and financial services that include 

lending products for both farm inputs and 

funding farm outputs; and

• Other - includes corporate expenses, other 

investments and elimination of intersegment 

transactions and balances.
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Primary Reporting Format: Business Segment (continued)

2007 Supply chain
Grain 

marketing

Malt 

manufacture
Rural services Other Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Revenue

Revenue from external sources 62.0 1,021.2 250.5 164.6 18.4 1,516.7

Intersegment revenues 38.2 147.4 - - (185.6) -

Total segment revenue 100.2 1,168.6 250.5 164.6 (167.2) 1,516.7

Results

Segment EBITDA 30.2 10.6 35.6 5.6 (16.1) 65.9

Depreciation and amortisation 

expense
(22.8) (0.3) (6.1) (0.4) (1.2) (30.8)

Segment EBIT 7.4 10.3 29.5 5.2 (17.3) 35.1

Net interest revenue/(expense) 0.1 (20.7) 0.5 (4.2) 0.1 (24.2)

Segment result 7.5 (10.4) 30.0 1.0 (17.2) 10.9

Income Tax Expense (3.6)

Net profit attributable to the 

members of ABB Grain Ltd
7.3

Assets

Segment assets 511.0 985.9 278.1 128.1 68.1 1,971.2

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 19.5 537.5 22.1 23.2 447.2 1,049.5

Unallocated 22.4

1,071.9

Net segment assets/(liabilities) 491.5 448.4 256.0 104.9 (379.1) 921.7

Net unallocated liabilities (22.4)

Net assets 899.3

Investments in associates and 

jointly controlled entities
- - - - 0.1 0.1

Acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment, intangibles and other 

non-current segment assets

42.0 - 3.5 2.3 10.5 58.3

Share of profits of associates 

accounted for using the equity 

method

- - - - (0.6) (0.6)

2. Business and Geographical Segments (continued)
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Secondary Reporting Format: Geographic Segment

Australia New Zealand Asia Other Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

2008 Segment revenue 1,299.8 230.8 641.9 65.7 2,238.2

2007 Segment revenue 1,122.7 50.7 304.9 38.4 1,516.7

2008 Segment assets 1,726.0 77.0 - 6.7 1,809.7

2007 Segment assets 1,942.2 27.0 - 2.0 1,971.2

3.  Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Revenue from the sale of goods 2,139.1 1,441.4 1,862.4 1,272.0

Revenue from the rendering of services 76.4 63.0 7.4 1.7

2,215.5 1,504.4 1,869.8 1,273.7

Interest Revenue:

Bank deposits 3.9 2.6 1.8 2.1

Other loans and receivables 0.7 0.6 4.1 0.6

Grain pools 3.5 2.9 3.5 2.9

Investments in associates 1.3 1.0 1.2 0.9

9.4 7.1 10.6 6.5

Dividends 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2

Other 13.1 5.0 8.5 6.6

2,238.2 1,516.7 1,889.1 1,287.0

A portion of the Group’s revenue from the sale of goods denominated in foreign currencies is cash flow hedged. The amounts disclosed above for revenue 

from the sale of goods include the recycling of the effective amount of the foreign currency derivatives that are used to hedge foreign currency revenue.

4.  Finance Costs

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 57.2  35.5 56.2 35.8

Amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets (9.0) (4.2) (0.8) -

Interest expense 48.2 31.3 55.4 35.8

The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed generally is 7.82%p.a. (2007: 7.00%p.a.).      

2. Business and Geographical Segments (continued)
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5.  Profit for the Year

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

(a) Gains and Losses

Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at after crediting/(charging)  

the following gains and losses:

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment -            1.3 - -

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 7.8 (0.6) 6.7           (0.6)

Change in fair value of inventories classified as held for trading (133.1) 29.0 (127.5) 29.0

(b) Income and Expenses Relating to Financial Instruments

Profit/(loss) for the year includes the following income and expenses arising from movements  

in the carrying amounts of financial instruments (other than derivative instruments in an  

effective hedge relationship)

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents):

Interest revenue 9.4 12.5 10.6 11.9

Exchange gain/(loss) 7.8 (0.6) 6.7 (0.6)

Increase in allowance for doubtful debts (4.9) (4.3) (4.6) (4.3)

Gain/(loss) on settlement 1.0 0.7 1.0 0.6

13.3 8.3 13.7 7.6

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss:

Change in fair value of financial assets and liabilities classified  

as held for trading
138.1 (51.7) 140.6 (35.9)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Interest expense (44.7) (36.7) (52.1) (41.2)

Ineffectiveness arising from cash flow hedges (0.9) 1.2 - -

(c) Other Expenses

Profit for the year includes the following expenses:

Depreciation of non-current assets 28.7 27.5 1.1 1.0

Amortisation of non-current assets 2.9 3.3 1.3 0.8

31.6 30.8 2.4 1.8

Research and development costs immediately expensed 1.4 0.5 1.4 0.1

Operating lease minimum lease payments 5.5 3.9 3.1 1.9

Defined contribution superannuation expense 6.1 4.8 2.8 2.2

Equity-settled share-based payments 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3

Retirement and termination benefits 0.6 1.6 0.3 0.9
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6.  Income Taxes

Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Tax Expense /(Income) Comprises:

Current tax expense/(income) 13.3 14.9 (5.5) 3.5

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the  

current tax of prior years
(1.2) 0.2 0.1 0.1

Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination and  

reversal of temporary differences
10.0 (11.5) 3.9 (16.7)

Total tax expense/(income) 22.1 3.6 (1.5) (13.1)

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit from operations reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as 

follows: 

Profit from operations 70.9 10.9 (3.2) (43.8)

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 21.3 3.3 (1.0) (13.1)

Change in tax rate (NZ) (0.2) - - -

Tax rate differential 0.9 - - -

Share of net (profit)/loss of associates 0.6 0.2 (0.1) -

22.6 3.5 (1.1) (13.1)

Other (0.5) 0.1 (0.4) -

22.1 3.6 (1.5) (13.1)

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax 

law. There has been no change in this corporate tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period. There has been a change in the New Zealand 

corporate tax rate from 33% to 30% which will apply in subsequent reporting periods.
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6.  Income Taxes (continued)

Income Tax Recognised Directly in Equity

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

The following current and deferred amounts were charged/(credited) directly to equity during the period: 

Current Tax

Revaluations of financial instruments treated as cash flow hedges (8.1) 4.4 (0.7) 0.4

(8.1) 4.4 (0.7) 0.4

Current Tax assets and Liabilities

Current Tax

Tax payable (9.9) (11.6) (8.0) (10.9)

Deferred Tax Balances

Deferred tax assets

Temporary differences 26.7 53.0 15.3 48.1

26.7 53.0 15.3 48.1

Deferred Tax liabilities

Temporary differences (51.0) (75.4) (29.9) (59.5)

(51.0) (75.4) (29.9) (59.5)

Net deferred tax liability (24.3) (22.4) (14.6) (11.4)
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 6.  Income Taxes (continued)

Deferred Tax Balances

Consolidated

2008
Opening 

balance

Charged to 

income

Charged to 

equity

Closing  

balance

$million $million $million $million

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities: 

Property, plant & equipment 8.5 5.0 - 13.5

Pool receivable 5.1 5.1 - 10.2

Derivative financial instruments 30.5 (4.5) (8.5) 17.5

Trading stock valued at fair value 26.8 (26.7) - 0.1

Foreign exchange differences - 2.6 - 2.6

Other 4.5 2.2 0.4 7.1

75.4 (16.3) (8.1) 51.0

Gross Deferred Tax Assets:

Employee benefits 3.9 0.4 - 4.3

Foreign exchange differences 8.4 (4.3) - 4.1

Derivative financial instruments 37.8 (30.6) - 7.2

Trading stock valued at fair value - 4.4 - 4.4

Other 2.9 3.8 - 6.7

53.0 (26.3) - 26.7

(22.4) (10.0) 8.1 (24.3)

2007
Opening 

balance

Charged to 

income

Charged to 

equity

Closing  

balance

$million $million $million $million

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities: 

Property, plant & equipment 4.2 4.3 - 8.5

Pool receivable 32.4 (27.3) - 5.1

Derivative financial instruments 6.5 19.7 4.3 30.5

Trading stock valued at fair value 16.9 9.9 - 26.8

Other 2.2 2.2 0.1 4.5

62.2 8.8 4.4 75.4

Gross Deferred Tax Assets:

Employee benefits 3.6 0.3 - 3.9

Foreign exchange differences 1.8 6.6 - 8.4

Losses available to offset future income 16.7 (16.7) - -

Derivative financial instruments 10.2 27.6 - 37.8

Other 0.3 2.5 0.1 2.9

32.6 20.3 0.1 53.0

(29.6) 11.5 (4.3) (22.4)
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6.  Income Taxes (continued) 

Company

2008
Opening 

balance

Charged to 

income

Charged to 

equity

Closing  

balance

$million $million $million $million

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Pool receivable 5.1 5.1 - 10.2

Derivative financial instruments 26.2 (12.3) (1.1) 12.8

Foreign exchange differences - 2.6 - 2.6

Trading stock valued at fair value 25.3 (25.3) - -

Other 2.9 1.0 0.4 4.3

59.5 (28.9) (0.7) 29.9

Gross Deferred Tax Assets:

Employee benefits 1.2 0.6 - 1.8

Foreign exchange differences 8.6 (4.5) - 4.1

Trading stock valued at fair value - 4.1 - 4.1

Derivative financial instruments 36.7 (35.9) - 0.8

Other 1.6 2.9 - 4.5

48.1 (32.8) - 15.3

(11.4) (3.9) 0.7 (14.6)

2007
Opening 

balance

Charged to 

income

Charged to 

equity

Closing  

balance

$million $million $million $million

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Pool receivable 32.4  (27.3) - 5.1

Derivative financial instruments 6.5      19.4 0.4 26.2

Trading stock valued at fair value 24.0         1.3 - 25.3

Other (0.6) 3.5 - 2.9

62.3 (3.1) 0.4 59.5

Gross Deferred Tax Assets:

Employee benefits 1.1 0.1 - 1.2

Foreign exchange differences 1.7 6.9 - 8.6

Losses available to offset future income 16.7 (16.7) - -

Derivative financial instruments 14.9 21.8 - 36.7

Other - 1.5 0.1 1.6

34.4 13.6 0.1 48.1

(27.9) 16.7 (0.3) (11.4)
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7.  Trade and Other Receivables

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Current

Current trade receivables (i) 212.8 153.7 174.4 125.0

Allowance for doubtful debts (8.8) (4.9) (8.4) (4.8)

204.0 148.8 166.0 120.2

Goods and services tax recoverable - 0.6 - 1.0

Prepayments 12.3 5.1 10.2 2.2

Security deposits 11.5 52.8 11.5 52.8

Controlled entity receivables - - 203.9 144.6

Associate and jointly controlled entity receivables 22.4 0.3 21.9 -

Related party receivables (Grain Pools) 29.3 32.8 29.3 32.8

Other 21.8 15.9 15.3 10.1

301.3 256.3 458.1 363.7

Non-Current

Non-current related party receivables 11.4 14.2 - -

Allowance for doubtful debts (0.9) (1.1) - -

10.5 13.1 - -

311.8 269.4 458.1 363.7

(i) The average credit period on sales of goods is 29 days. No interest is charged on the trade receivables for the first 21 days from the date of the invoice. 

Thereafter, interest is charged at 13.95% p.a. on the outstanding balance. 

6.  Income Taxes (continued) 

Tax Consolidation
Relevance of Tax Consolidation to the Group

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian 

resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated 

group with effect from 1 October 2002 and are 

therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. 

The head entity within the tax-consolidated 

group is ABB Grain Ltd. 

Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax  

Sharing Agreements

Entities within the tax-consolidated group have 

entered into a tax funding arrangement and 

a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity. 

Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, 

ABB Grain Ltd and each of the entities in the 

tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax 

equivalent payment to or from the head entity, 

based on the current tax liability or current tax 

asset of the entity. Such amounts are reflected 

in amounts receivable from or payable to other 

entities in the tax-consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between 

members of the tax-consolidated group 

provides for the determination of the allocation 

of income tax liabilities between the entities 

should the head entity default on its tax payment 

obligations or if an entity should leave the tax-

consolidated group. The effect of the tax sharing 

agreement is that each member’s liability for tax 

payable by the tax-consolidated group is limited 

to the amount payable to the head entity under 

the tax funding arrangement. 

No amounts have been recognised in the 

financial statements in respect of the tax sharing 

agreement as payment of any amount under the 

tax sharing agreement is considered remote.
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7.  Trade and Other Receivables (continued)
At 30 September, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

Total Current Past Due

$ million 30-60 days 60-90 days 90-120 days > 120 days

2008

Consolidated 212.8 143.8 44.1 5.9 4.6 14.4

Company 174.4 121.8 32.6 3.0 3.8 13.2

2007

Consolidated 153.7 117.5 23.3 4.8 2.4 5.7

Company 125.0 99.0 18.4 1.9 1.5 4.2

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

. Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Balance at beginning of the year 4.9 1.4 4.8 1.1

Amounts written off during the year (1.0)     (0.1) (1.0) (0.1)

Amounts recovered during the year - (0.7) - (0.6)

Increase in allowance recognised in income statement 4.9 4.3 4.6 4.4

Balance at end of the year 8.8 4.9 8.4 4.8

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was 

initially granted up to year end.  The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.  Accordingly, the Directors 

believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts. The Group’s policy requires all customers to pay in 

accordance with agreed payment terms. At 30 September 2008 receivables of $7.1m (2007: $1.9m) relate to forward physical contracts that have been 

renegotiated for future delivery, these are past due > 90 days. At 30 September 2008 current trade receivables of $8.8m (2007: $4.9m) for the group and 

$8.4m (2007: $4.8m) for the Company were considered impaired, all were past due > 90 days. All other classes within trade and other receivables do not 

contain impaired assets. Based on the credit history of these other classes, whom there is no recent history of default, it is expected that these amounts will 

be received. 

8.  Inventories

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Inventories at Cost

Grain stocks 12.3 20.8 - 13.9

Consumables stocks 0.5 0.3 0.1 -

Work in progress 12.3 3.0 - -

Finished goods 82.0 69.2 51.0 55.6

Provision for inventory obsolescence (0.2) - (0.1) -

106.9 93.3 51.0 69.5

Agricultural commodity stocks held for trading at fair value less costs to sell 219.3 250.0 174.4 227.3

326.2 343.3 225.4 296.8
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9. Other Financial Assets

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Investments carried at cost:  

Non-current 

Shares in controlled entities - - 694.5 695.4

Shares in unlisted entities (i) 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9

1.9 1.9 696.4 697.3

Derivatives that are designated as hedging instruments carried at fair value:  

Current

Foreign currency forward contracts - 13.8 - -

Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedges 0.6 2.4 0.2 1.3

0.6 16.2 0.2 1.3

Financial assets that are classified as held for trading:  

Current

Commodity and freight forward contracts 119.4 405.7 103.4 405.7

Foreign currency forward contracts 14.3 10.8 14.1 10.8

133.7 416.5 117.5 416.5

Available-for-sale carried at fair value:  

Non-current

Other 0.5 0.5 - -

0.5 0.5 - -

Disclosed in the financial statements as: 

Current other financial assets 134.3 432.7 117.7 417.8

Non-current other financial assets 2.4 2.4 696.4 697.3

136.7 435.1 814.1 1,115.1

(i) Shares in unlisted entities are held in inactive markets, and due to the absence of a reasonable fair value due to the nature of the entities,  

are measured at cost.      
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10.  Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Investments in associates - 0.1 - -

Investments in jointly controlled entities  3.5 - 3.5 -

3.5 0.1 3.5 -

Name of entity Principal activity
Country of 
incorporation

Ownership interest Published fair value 

2008 2007 2008 2007

% % $ million $ million

Associates

Wheat Australia Pty Ltd  Grain export Australia 33 33 - 0.1

- 0.1

Jointly Controlled Entities

Australian Bulk Alliance Pty Ltd Grain handling Australia 50 50 - -

National Grower Register Pty Ltd Grower services Australia 50 50 - -

New World Grain Ltd (i) Grain export United Kingdom 50 - 3.5 -

3.5 -

(i) Incorporated 4 December 2007
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Consolidated

2008 2007

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out below: $ million $ million

Financial Position: 

Total assets 0.1 0.3

Total liabilities 0.1 0.2

Net assets - 0.1

Group’s share of associates’ net assets - -

Financial Performance:

Total revenue 0.1 91.5

Total profit for the year (0.2) 0.2

Group’s share of associates’ profit/(loss) before tax (0.1) 0.1

Group’s share of associates’ income tax expense - -

Group’s share of associate’s profit/(loss)  (0.1) 0.1

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly controlled entities is set out below: 

Financial Position:

Current assets 56.9 4.3

Non-current assets 41.4 44.3

Current liabilities 58.8 3.1

Non-current liabilities 53.7 52.1

Net assets (14.2) (6.6)

Group’s share of jointly controlled entities’ net assets (7.1) (3.3)

Financial Performance:

Income 99.4 13.4

Expenses 103.6 14.3

Group’s share of jointly controlled entities’ profit/(loss) before tax (2.8) (0.5)

Group’s share of jointly controlled entities’ income tax expense (0.7) (0.1)

Group’s share of jointly controlled entities’ profit/(loss) (2.1) (0.4)

Dividends Received from Associates and Joint Ventures  
During the year, the Group received $nil dividends (2007: $nil) from its associates and dividends of $nil (2007: $nil) from its jointly controlled entities. 

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments 

The Group’s share of the contingent liabilities, capital commitments and other expenditure commitments of associates and jointly controlled entities  

are disclosed in notes 24 and 23 respectively.

10.  Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method (continued)



Heading

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  ABB GRAIN LTD FINANCIAL REPORT 200876

11.  Property, Plant and Equipment

Consolidated

Freehold land  

 

at cost

Buildings  

 

at cost

Plant and 

equipment  

at cost 

Lease plant and 

equipment  

at cost

Capital work in 

progress  

at cost

Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 October 2006 29.0 75.2 704.6 0.9 61.5 871.2

Additions 5.1 1.2 2.6 - 51.2 60.1

Transfers - - 19.5 - (19.5) -

Disposals (0.9) - - (0.9) - (1.8)

Balance at 30 September 2007 33.2 76.4 726.7 - 93.2 929.5

Additions 0.7 4.6 4.9 - 98.6 108.8

Disposals - (1.1) (0.6) - - (1.7)

Transfers 1.2 1.8 16.8 1.2 (21.0) -

Balance at 30 September 2008 35.1 81.7 747.8 1.2 170.8 1,036.6

Accumulated Depreciation / Amortisation and Impairment

Balance at 1 October 2006 - (15.6) (332.9) (0.6) - (349.1)

Disposals - - - 0.6 - 0.6

Reversals of impairment - - 0.6 - - 0.6

Depreciation expense - (2.6) (24.9) - - (27.5)

Balance at 30 September 2007 - (18.2) (357.2) - - (375.4)

Disposals - 0.9 0.9 - - 1.8

Depreciation expense - (2.7) (25.8) (0.2) - (28.7)

Balance at 30 September 2008 - (20.0) (382.1) (0.2) - (402.3)

Net Book Value

As at 30 September 2007 33.2 58.2 369.5 - 93.2 554.1

As at 30 September 2008 35.1 61.7 365.7 1.0 170.8 634.3
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11.  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Company

Freehold land  

 

at cost

Buildings  

 

at cost

Plant and 

equipment  

at cost 

Lease plant and 

equipment  

at cost

Capital work in 

progress  

at cost

Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 October 2006 - 2.3 7.2 - 1.4 10.9

Additions - 0.1 1.9 - 7.5 9.5

Disposals - - (0.1) - - (0.1)

Transfers - - 1.7 - (1.7) -

Balance at 30 September 2007 - 2.4 10.7 - 7.2 20.3

Additions - - - - 20.4 20.4

Disposals - - (0.1) - - (0.1)

Transfers - 0.2 3.1 - (3.3) -

Balance at 30 September 2008 - 2.6 13.7 - 24.3 40.6

Accumulated Depreciation / Amortisation and Impairment

Balance at 1 October 2006 - (1.8) (4.2) - - (6.0)

Disposal - - 0.1 - - 0.1

Depreciation expense - (0.1) (0.9) - - (1.0)

Balance at 30 September 2007 - (1.9) (5.0) - - (6.9)

Disposals - - - - - -

Transfer - 1.2 0.6 - - 1.8

Depreciation expense - (0.1) (1.0) - - (1.1)

Balance at 30 September 2008 - (0.8) (5.4) - - (6.2)

Net Book Value

As at 30 September 2007 - 0.5 5.7 - 7.2 13.4

As at 30 September 2008 - 1.8 8.3 - 24.3 34.4

During the year ended 30 September 2008, the Group reassessed the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment assets and cash generating 

units and determined no impairment losses (2007: $nil), and an impairment reversal of $0.6 million for a Supply Chain receival site in 2007.  The estimates of 

recoverable amounts were based on value in use using a pre-tax discount rate of 12.9% (2007: 12.5%). Management believes that any reasonably possible 

change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause any impairment.

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying amount of other assets during the year:

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Buildings 2.7 2.6 0.1 0.1

Plant and equipment 25.8 24.9 1.0 0.9

Lease plant and equipment 0.2 - - -

28.7 27.5 1.1 1.0



Heading

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  ABB GRAIN LTD FINANCIAL REPORT 200878

12. Intangible Assets

Consolidated Company

Capitalised 

development 

at cost

Goodwill at cost Total Capitalised 

development 

at cost

Goodwill at cost Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 October 2006 30.9 346.4 377.3 2.9 1.0 3.9

Additions 2.2 - 2.2 1.8 - 1.8

Acquisitions through business 

combinations
- 4.1 4.1 - 4.1 4.1

Disposals (0.2) - (0.2) - - -

Balance at 30 September 2007 32.9 350.5 383.4 4.7 5.1 9.8

Additions 2.0 - 2.0 - - -

Acquisitions through business 

combinations
- 8.9 8.9 1.8 5.2 7.0

Disposals - - - - - -

Balance at 30 September 2008 34.9 359.4 394.3 6.5 10.3 16.8

Accumulated Amortisation and Impairment 

Balance at 1 October 2006 (23.1) - (23.1) (1.4) - (1.4)

Amortisation expense (i) (3.3) - (3.3) (0.8) - (0.8)

Disposals 0.1 - 0.1 - - -

Balance at 30 September 2007 (26.3) - (26.3) (2.2) - (2.2)

Amortisation expense (i) (2.9) - (2.9) (1.3) - (1.3)

Disposals - - - - - -

Balance at 30 September 2008 (29.2) - (29.2) (3.5) - (3.5)

Net Book Value

As at 30 September 2007 6.6 350.5 357.1 2.5 5.1 7.6

As at 30 September 2008 5.7 359.4 365.1 3.0 10.3 13.3

(i) Amortisation expense is included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in the income statement. The following useful lives are  

used in the calculation of amortisation:

Capitalised development: 5 years
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12. Intangible Assets (continued)

Allocation of goodwill to business segments
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the consolidated entity’s business segments based on the expected benefits to be 

derived from that goodwill, as follows:

Consolidated

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Supply chain 94.1 94.1

Grain marketing 123.4 123.4

Malt manufacture 70.5 70.5

Rural services 10.3 4.9

Other 61.1 57.6

359.4 350.5

During the year ended 30 September 2008, the consolidated entity reassessed the recoverable amount of its intangible assets and determined  

no impairment losses (2007:$nil). The estimates of recoverable amounts were based on value in use determined using a pre-tax discount rate  

of 12.9% (2007: 12.5%). Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based  

would not cause any impairment.

13. Trade and Other Payables

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Trade payables and accruals 118.0 67.9 60.6 34.2

GST payable 1.9 - 1.7 -

Related party payables (Grain Pools) 1.4 13.1 1.4 12.9

Other 21.2 16.4 16.4 4.3

142.5 97.4 80.1 51.4

14. Borrowings

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Current

Bank loans (unsecured – at amortised cost) (1) 92.9 141.6 87.0 141.6

Finance lease (secured – at amortised cost) 0.2 - - -

93.1 141.6 87.0 141.6

Non-Current

Bank loans (unsecured – at amortised cost) (1) 300.0 300.0 300.0 300.0

Finance lease (secured – at amortised cost) 0.8 - - -

300.8 300.0 300.0 300.0

(1) Variable rate loans at 7.76% p.a. The Group hedges a portion of the loans via an interest rate swap exchanging variable rate interest for fixed rate interest. 

For further information on financing facilities, refer to note 30(b).
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15. Other Financial Liabilities

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Derivatives that are designated as hedging instruments carried at fair value: $ million $ million $ million $ million

Current

Foreign currency forward contracts 13.9 - - -

Interest rate swaps 2.6 - 2.6 -

16.5 - 2.6 -

Derivatives that are classified as held for trading:

Current

Commodity and freight forward contracts 68.9 470.9 59.6 467.5

Foreign currency forward contracts 20.5 13.9 20.5 14.5

89.4 484.8 80.1 482.0

Disclosed in the financial statements as: 

Current other financial assets 105.9 484.8 82.7 482.0

16. Provisions

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Current

Employee benefits 13.2 11.2 5.7 3.4

Workers compensation 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.4

Other - 0.2 - -

13.9 12.1 6.1 3.8

Non-Current

Employee benefits 1.1 1.0 0.3 0.2

1.1 1.0 0.3 0.2

15.0 13.1 6.4 4.0

Reconciliation of Workers Compensation Provision

Consolidated

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Balance at beginning of financial year 0.7 0.9

Additional provisions recognised - -

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits - (0.2)

0.7 0.7
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17. Other Liabilities

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Current

Deferred income 7.3 1.0 7.0 0.5

7.3 1.0 7.0 0.5

18. Issued Capital

171,341,438 fully paid ordinary shares (2007: 149,224,575)

1,009.5 808.9 1,009.5 808.9

1,009.5 808.9 1,009.5 808.9

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the 

Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value.

2008 2007

No. million $ million No. million $ million

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Balance at beginning of financial year 149.2 808.9 144.5 776.3

Dividend reinvestment plan issues 0.8 7.2 1.7 11.4

Underwritten dividend and share placements 21.0 191.0 3.0 20.6

Exempt employee share plan - - - 0.3

Deferred employee share plan - 0.2 - 0.3

Share purchase plan 0.3 2.2 - -

Balance at end of financial year 171.3 1,009.5 149.2 808.9
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18. Issued Capital (continued)

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per 

share and carry the right to dividends.  

Terms and conditions associated with each  

class of share:

A-Class Shares
19,658 A-Class shares were redeemed on  

31 July 2007 at a nominal value of $1.00 per  

share following a resolution to adopt a single 

share structure.

Ordinary (previously B-Class) Shares
Ordinary shares are ordinary shares listed on the 

Australian Stock Exchange and can be owned 

and traded by any person, not just active grain 

growers and no person can own more than 15% 

of the total ordinary shares. 

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”)
The Company has established a DRP under which 

holders of ordinary shares may elect to acquire 

additional shares in lieu of cash dividends.  

Shares are issued at a discount not exceeding 

10% to their market valuation with their valuation 

determined by reference to the weighted 

average price of shares during the 5 business 

days commencing immediately before and 

inclusive of the record date and the 5 business 

days immediately following record date.  

The take-up under the DRP of the 2008 interim 

dividend was fully underwritten.

Deferred Employee Share Plan (“DESP”)
Under the DESP, Directors and employees 

may elect to sacrifice their fees, salaries and/

or performance incentive payments to receive 

shares in ABB. The election is required to be 

made at the commencement of the financial 

year, in the case of salaries or fees, or in the 

case of performance incentive payments at the 

time of accepting an offer to participate in the 

performance incentive scheme. The issue price 

is based on the average market price for the 5 

business days prior to the allotment date.

In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, 

approval of shareholders is sought before issuing 

shares to Directors under the DESP.

Exempt Employee Share Plan (“EESP”)
Under the EESP the Board may elect to issue 

up to $1,000 worth of shares to each employee, 

taking advantage of tax concessions available  

for employee share plans. The issue price is based 

on the average market price for the 5 business 

days prior to the allotment date. No shares were 

issued pursuant to the EESP during the reporting 

period.

Capital Raising
On 4 June 2008, the Company completed a 

$187.2 million share placement through the  

issue of 20.5 million new ordinary shares. 

Share purchase plan (“SPP”)
During the year, a SPP was offered where 

shareholders were given an opportunity to 

acquire an additional parcel of ABB ordinary 

shares, up to a maximum value of $5,000. Shares 

were issued at a discount of 11.3% to their 

market valuation with their valuation determined 

by reference to the weighted average ex-

dividend price of shares during the 5 business 

days up to and including the date when the 

placement price was set (3 June 2008). 
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19.  Reserves

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Share-based payments 0.6 0.3 0.6 0.3

Hedging (10.2) 9.7 (1.6) 1.0

Foreign currency translation (0.7) (0.5) - -

(10.3) 9.5 (1.0) 1.3

Share-Based Payments

Balance at beginning of financial year 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2

Share-based payment 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.1

Balance at end of financial year 0.6 0.3 0.6 0.3

The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of share rights issued under the LTI Plan and the fair value of options issued under the 

Executive Share Option Plan, as described in Note 31.

Hedging Reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year 9.7 (0.6) 1.0 -

Gain/(loss) recognised:

Forward exchange contracts (25.3) 14.6 - -

Interest rate swaps (4.0) 1.2 (3.7) 1.0

Transfer to profit or loss:

Forward exchange contracts (included in other income on the face of the 

income statement)
0.9 (1.2) - -

Deferred tax arising on hedges 8.5 (4.3) 1.1 -

Balance at end of financial year (10.2) 9.7 (1.6) 1.0

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on 

the hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial 

hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year (0.5) - - -

Translation of foreign operations (0.2) (0.5) - -

Deferred tax arising from translation - - - -

Balance at end of financial year (0.7) (0.5) - -

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign controlled entities into Australian dollars are brought 

to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. 
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20. Retained Earnings

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Balance at beginning of financial year 80.9 104.2 (9.8) 51.5

Net profit attributable to members of ABB Grain Ltd 48.8 7.3 (1.7) (30.7)

Dividends provided for or paid (note 22) (18.0) (30.6) (18.0) (30.6)

Balance at end of financial year 111.7 80.9 (29.5) (9.8)

21. Earnings per Share

Consolidated

2008 2007

Cents per share Cents per share

Basic earnings per share 31.2 4.9

Diluted earnings per share 31.2 4.9

Basic Earnings per Share 
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted 

earnings per share are as follows:

  

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Profit attributable to members of the parent entity 48.8 7.3

2008 2007

No. million No. million

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share  

and diluted earnings per share
156.3 147.7

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 156.5 150.0

  

 22. Dividends

2008 2007

Cents per share Total $ million Cents per share Total $ million

Recognised Amounts  
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Interim dividend: Fully franked at a 30% tax rate 7.0 10.5 5.0 7.4

Final dividend: Fully franked at a 30% tax rate 5.0 7.5 16.0 23.2

12.0 18.0 21.0 30.6
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2008 2007

Unrecognised Amounts  
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Final dividend: Fully franked at a 30% tax rate 14.0 24.0 5.0 7.5

On 20 November 2008, the Directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 14.0 cents per share to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares in respect of 

the financial year ended 30 September 2008, to be paid to shareholders on 7 January 2009. The dividend will be paid to all shareholders on the Register of 

Members on 17 December 2008. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $21.4 million.

On 25 November 2008, Ausbulk Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary, paid a $103m dividend to ABB Grain Ltd to allow for the final 2008 dividend of 14.0 cents  

per share to be declared.

Company

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Adjusted franking account balance 32.1 32.6

Impact on franking account balance of dividends not recognised (10.2) (3.2)

21.9 29.4

23. Commitments for Expenditure

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments 
Plant and Equipment 

Not longer than 1 year 17.9 33.1 0.6 0.6

Later than one year but not later than five years 10.0 - - -

27.9 33.1 0.6 0.6

Intangible Assets

Not longer than 1 year 14.8 2.3 14.8 2.3

Later than one year but not later than five years - - - -

14.8 2.3 14.8 2.3

Group’s Share of Jointly Controlled Entities’ Capital Commitments

Not longer than 1 year - 0.1 - -

42.7 35.5 15.4 2.9

(b) Lease Commitments

Finance lease liabilities and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements.

22. Dividends (continued)
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24. Contingent Liabilities 

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees in respect of a joint venture entity’s bank loan 12.0 10.5 12.0 10.5

Litigation and Proceedings 
An assessment of current litigation and proceedings by the Directors, and advice from legal advisors, 

has not resulted in a provision being recognised, as it is not probable that a future sacrifice of 

economic benefits will be required or the amount is not capable of reliable measurement.

Other Guarantees 

As disclosed in note 27, the parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with certain 

controlled entities. The effect of this Deed is that ABB Grain Ltd and each of these controlled entities 

has guaranteed to pay any deficiency of any of the companies party to the Deed in the event of  

any of those companies being wound up. The Company has also issued letters of financial support  

to its jointly controlled entities Australian Bulk Alliance Pty Ltd and National Growers Registers Pty Ltd.

Workers’ Compensation 

The consolidated entity is a self-insurer in South Australia for workers’ compensation liabilities.  

The provision in the balance sheet for workers’ compensation is included in current employee 

entitlements and has been made on the basis of an independent actuarial assessment at balance 

date and is subject to a bank guarantee for $1,562,000 (2007: $1,561,000) in favour of WorkCover 

Corporation as required by the South Australia Workers’ Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1986. 

The amount of the guarantee exceeds the current provision.

For operations outside of South Australia, insurance is maintained for workers’ compensation  

through the appropriate statutory funds operating in that state or territory.

25.  Accounting for Pooling Arrangements
The consolidated entity conducts pools on behalf of growers.  The financial information relating  

to the pools has not been recognised in the results of the consolidated entity as explained in the 

statement of accounting policies (note 1(a)) on Grain Pools.

In the financial year ended 30 September 2008, revenues of $205.3 million (2007: $247.8 million)  

were generated by the consolidated entity for the pools.  Additionally, as at 30 September 2008, 

inventory valued at estimated net realisable value of $7.2 million (2007: $11.9 million) was held on 

behalf of growers. These revenues and inventories are not consolidated in the consolidated entity.
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26.  Leases 

Finance Leases 
Leasing arrangements  

Finance leases relate to plant and equipment. The consolidated entity has options to purchase the plant and equipment for a nominal amount at the 

conclusion of the lease agreements.

Commitments in Relation to Finance Lease Payments

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Minimum Lease Payments

Not longer than 1 year 0.2 - - -

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 0.5 - - -

Longer than 5 years 0.4 - - -

 1.1 - - -

Future finance charges (0.1) - - -

Recognised as a liability 1.0 - - -

Disclosed in the Financial Statements as: 

Current borrowings (note 14) 0.2 - - -

Non-current borrowings (note 14) 0.8 - - -

 1.0 - - -

Operating Leases  
Leasing Arrangements  

Operating leases relate to leasing arrangements for property and motor vehicles, and have been entered into with various lease terms up to 25 years. 

Commitments in Relation to Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Payments

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Not longer than 1 year 8.6 5.8 4.3 2.9

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 15.4 13.2 5.2 4.0

Longer than 5 years 29.3 19.4 - 0.1

 53.3 38.4 9.5 7.0
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27.  Subsidiaries

Name of entity Country of incorporation Ownership interest

2008 2007

% %

Parent Entity

ABB Grain Ltd Australia 

Name of controlled entity

ABB Grain (NZ) Ltd New Zealand 100 100

ABB Insurance Ltd New Zealand 100 100

ABB Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

ABB Rural Finance Pty Ltd (registered 1/11/2007) Australia 100 -

Adelaide Malting Company Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

Australian Barley Board Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

Bay Grain Driers Limited New Zealand 100 -

Ceretech Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

Grain Australia Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

Graintrust Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Graintrust Nominees Pty Ltd (in liquidation) Australia 100 100

Joe White Maltings Systems Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

Jossco USA Inc United States of America 100 100

Maltco International Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

National Milling Limited (registered 17/01/2008) New Zealand 100 -

NZ Grain and Seed Limited New Zealand 100 -

PCL Feeds Limited (registered 22/05/2008) New Zealand 100 -

Professional Grain Services Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

South Australian Bulk Handling Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

Southern Wharf Services Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100

The Lentil Company Pty Ltd (deregistered 11/5/2008) Australia - 100

TLC World Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Wardle Co Pty Ltd (formerly Ausbulk Financial Services Pty Ltd) (1) Australia 100 100

ABB Grain Ltd Closed Group

ABB Grain Export Ltd Australia 100 100

AusBulk Ltd Australia 100 100

AusMalt Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Joe White Maltings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Jossco Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

United Grower Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, as amended, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relief has been granted to these entities, 

from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for the preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports.  As a condition of the class order 98/1418 

as amended, ABB Grain Ltd and these subsidiaries are parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, under which each party guarantees the debts of others.

(1) These entities were removed from the Deed of Cross Guarantee via a Deed of Revocation on 22 September 2008, these entities were small  

proprietary for the year ended 30 September 2008 and therefore exempt from the preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports under  

the Corporations Act 2001.
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The consolidated income statement of the entities party to the deed of cross guarantee are:

Consolidated

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Income Statement

Revenue  2,261.7 1,426.2

Other income 20.8 (47.0)

Share of profits/(losses) of associates accounted for using the equity method (2.2) (0.6)

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (3.8) (39.5)

Purchase of grain and other commodities (1,702.3) (916.5)

Employee benefits expense (89.1) (72.8)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (30.7) (30.8)

Transport and handling charges (265.2) (190.6)

Finance costs (50.7) (36.3)

Other expenses  (95.7) (85.7)

Profit before tax expense 42.8 6.4

Income tax expense  (15.5) (2.3)

Profit for the year 27.3 4.1

The Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Entities Party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee are:

Consolidated

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Balance Sheet 
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 19.3 7.4

Trade and other receivables 301.1 235.4

Other financial assets 118.4 432.3

Inventories 271.3 323.9

 Total current assets 710.1 999.0

Non-Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 10.5 12.7

Investments accounted for using the equity method 3.5 0.4

Other financial assets 32.1 9.6

Property, plant and equipment 607.6 552.3

Intangibles 339.5 356.8

Total non-current assets 993.2 931.8

Total assets 1,703.3 1,930.8

27.  Subsidiaries (continued)
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Consolidated

2008 2007

$ million $ million

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 103.6 63.9

Borrowings 87.2 141.6

Other financial liabilities 96.7 481.3

Current tax payables 14.3 10.8

Provisions 13.2 12.3

Other 7.1 0.5

Total current liabilities 322.1 710.4

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings  300.8 300.0

Other financial liabilities - 3.2

Deferred tax liabilities 15.5 22.4

Provisions 1.0 1.0

Total non-current liabilities 317.3 326.6

Total liabilities 639.4 1,037.0

Net assets 1,063.9 893.8

Equity

Issued capital 1,009.5 808.9

Reserves (9.8) 9.5

Retained earnings* 64.2 75.4

Total equity 1,063.9 893.8

*Retained earnings  

Retained earnings as at beginning of the financial year  75.4 101.9

Retained earnings of entities removed from the deed of cross guarantee (20.5) -

Net profit 27.3 4.1

Dividends provided for or paid  (18.0) (30.6)

Retained earnings as at end of the financial year  64.2 75.4

27.  Subsidiaries (continued)
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28. Acquisitions of Businesses
On 31 December 2007, the consolidated entity 

acquired the business, including the loan book, 

plant and equipment and employee benefits 

of Stawool Brokers for cash consideration of 

$7.1 million. The primary activity of Stawool 

is wool broking, marketing and financing 

services. Goodwill of $4.8 million was recognised 

reflecting expected future benefits from 

expected synergies, revenue growth and the 

assembled workforce. These benefits are not 

recognised separately from goodwill as the 

future economic benefits arising from them 

cannot be reliably measured. Since acquisition, 

Stawool contributed $0.1 million to the Group’s 

net profit before tax. 

On 30 April 2008, the consolidated entity 

acquired 100% of issued share capital of NZ Grain 

and Seed Ltd for cash consideration of  

$5.2 million (known as TAG). The acquisition 

included issued capital of TAG’s subsidiary 

Bay Grain Driers Limited. Both entities are 

incorporated in New Zealand. The primary 

activities of TAG are maize drying and maize 

trading. The acquisition complements ABB’s 

entry into animal feed production. Goodwill of 

$0.8 million was recognised reflecting expected 

future benefits from expected synergies, revenue 

growth and the assembled workforce and certain 

employees remaining with the Company. These 

benefits are not recognised separately from 

goodwill as the future economic benefits arising 

from them cannot be reliably measured. Since 

acquisition, TAG contributed $1.0 million to the 

Group’s net profit before tax. 

On 30 June 2008, the consolidated entity 

acquired the business of PCL Feeds for cash 

consideration of $3.0 million. The primary activity 

of PCL Feeds is the sale and supply of compound 

animal feeds for ruminant animals. Goodwill  

of $2.7 million was recognised reflecting 

expected future benefits from expected 

synergies and revenue growth. These benefits  

are not recognised separately from goodwill  

as the future economic benefits arising from 

them cannot be reliably measured. Since 

acquisition, PCL Feeds contributed $0.3 million  

to the Group’s net profit before tax. 

Other immaterial businesses were acquired  

for cash consideration of $1.1 million and 

goodwill of $0.6 million was recognised. 

Due to the seasonality of the acquired business,  

it is impractical to assess the revenue and profit 

of the combined entity had the acquisitions been 

in existence at the beginning of the period. 

The net assets acquired in the above business combinations, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:

Acquiree’s carrying 
amount

Fair value 
adjustments

Fair value

$ million $ million $ million

Net Assets Acquired: 

Trade and other receivables  6.2 - 6.2

Inventory  3.7 - 3.7

Property, plant and equipment 2.7 1.6 4.3

Trade and other payables (6.2) - (6.2)

Employee benefits  (0.5) - (0.5)

 5.9 1.6 7.5

Goodwill arising on acquisition  8.9

Total cash consideration  16.4
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29.  Financial Instruments

(a)  Significant accounting policies 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis  

on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in  

note 1 to the financial statements.

(b)  Categories of Financial Instruments

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million 

Financial Assets

Fair value through profit of loss (FVTPL) – Financial assets held for trading  133.7 416.5 117.5 416.5

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships 0.6 16.2 0.2 1.3

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 287.8 207.7 437.1 317.5

Available-for-sale financial assets 2.4 2.4 - - 

Financial Liabilities

Fair value through profit of loss (FVTPL) – Financial liabilities held for trading 89.4 484.8 80.1 482.0

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships 16.5 - 2.6 -

Trade and other payables 142.5 97.4 80.1 51.4

Borrowings 393.9 441.6 387.0 441.6

(c)  Financial Risk Management Objectives

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of 

financial risks: market risk (including currency 

risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk), 

credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s principal 

financial instruments comprise receivables, 

payables, bank loans and overdrafts, forward 

commodity contracts and derivatives.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments 

such as foreign exchange contracts, agricultural 

commodity futures and options and interest rate 

swaps to hedge certain risk exposures.  Trading in 

derivatives has also been undertaken, specifically 

in agricultural commodity futures and options 

and forward currency contracts. These traded 

derivatives provide economic hedges, but do not 

qualify for hedge accounting and are based on 

limits set by the Board.  

Use of Financial Instruments 

Supply Chain business segment does not enter 

into derivative financial instruments.

Grain Marketing business segment enters into 

grain forward purchase and sales contracts 

with various external counterparties including 

growers, grain traders and other customers.  

To manage grain commodity price risk, grain 

marketing enters into various grain commodity 

futures and options in both the Australian and 

world markets.  Forward freight contracts are also 

entered into by the grain marketing segment.  

Foreign exchange forward contracts are also 

entered into to manage exposure related to 

exchange rate risk.  The financial instruments 

of the Grain Marketing business segment have 

been classified as held-for-trading and stated 

at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 

recognised in profit or loss. 

Malt Manufacture business segment enters 

into foreign exchange forward contracts to 

hedge exchange rate risk arising on the export 

of malt. Foreign exchange forward contracts 

are taken out for periods of up to 18 months. 

Hedge accounting currently applies to the malt 

manufacture business segment (refer note 1(e)). 

Rural Services business segment enters into 

wool forward purchase and sale contracts and 

manages wool commodity price risk by entering 

into various futures and option contracts.  The 

rural services business segment also enters into 

foreign exchange forward contracts to manage 

exchange rate risk related to the export of wool 

and the importing of fertiliser.  Hedge accounting 

is not applied for foreign exchange contracts 

taken out for fertiliser transactions. 

Interest rate swaps are entered into by the 

Company to mitigate the risk of rising interest 

rates.  Hedge accounting (refer note 1(e)) 

currently applies to interest rate swaps, and they 

are recorded in the ‘Other’ business segment. 

Interest rate swaps are executed for periods up 

to 5 years. 

The Group manages its exposure to key financial 

risks, including commodity price, interest rate 

and currency risk in accordance with the Group’s 

financial risk management policy. The objective 

of the policy is to support the delivery of the 

Group’s financial targets whilst protecting future 

financial security.  The Group’s Risk Management 

function monitor and manage financial risks 

relating to the operations of the Group through 

internal risk reports which analyse exposures 

by degree and magnitude of risk.   Group Risk 

Management identifies, evaluates and hedges 

financial risks in close co-operation with the 

Group’s operating units. The Board provides 

written principles for overall risk management, 

as well as policies covering specific areas, such as 

foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
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use of derivative financial instruments and non-

derivative financial instruments, and investment 

of excess liquidity.

Primary responsibility for identification 

and control of financial risks rests with the 

Management Risk Committee under the 

authority of the Board Corporate Risk & 

Compliance Committee. The Board Corporate 

Risk & Compliance Committee reviews and 

agrees policies for managing each identified 

risk, including the setting of limits for trading in 

derivatives, hedging cover of foreign currency 

and interest rate risk, credit allowances, and future 

cash flow forecast projections.

(d)  Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that 

entities in the Group will be able to continue as 

a going concern while maximising the return 

to stakeholders through the optimisation of the 

debt and equity balance.  The Group’s objective 

is to have the financial flexibility to fund the 

operating and capital requirements of a diverse 

agricultural based company, including the capital 

intensive commodity marketing business.

The capital structure of the Group consists of 

debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed  

in note 14, cash and cash equivalents and  

equity attributable to equity holders of the 

parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and 

retained earnings as disclosed in notes 18, 19  

and 20 respectively.

The Directors review the capital structure 

regularly.  As part of this review the Directors 

consider the cost of capital and the risks 

associated with each class of capital.  The Group 

balances its overall capital structure through 

the payment of dividends, new share issues and, 

where applicable, share buy-backs.  The Group’s 

policy is to borrow centrally to meet anticipated 

funding requirements. Capital use limits are set 

for business segments to assist balancing the 

capital structure and maximise capital returns. 

Various assessment criteria are applied to 

investments and capital projects to maximise 

returns, such as achieving a return greater than 

Weighted Average Cost of Capital (“WACC”).

On 31 July 2007, the Group adopted a single class 

of shareholding following the redemption of all 

A-class shares held by growers. The change to 

a single class structure has enabled the Group 

to improve its access to capital markets and 

consequently improved its ability to grow and 

maintain a strong and well resourced presence in 

the grain market. This is evidenced by the capital 

raising of $187.2 million on 4 June 2008. 

The Group monitors the relative levels of debt 

to equity by reference to the gearing ratio 

calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 

Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 

less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is 

calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance 

sheet plus net debt. The gearing ratio is below 

any contractual requirement. 

The gearing ratios at 30 September 2008 and 30 September 2007 were as follows: 

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Borrowings 393.9 441.6 387.0 441.6

Less cash and cash equivalents (32.1) (12.1) (16.0) (5.6)

Net debt 361.8 429.5 371.0 436.0

Total equity 1,110.9 899.3 979.0 800.4

Total capital 1,472.7 1,328.8 1,350.0 1,236.4

Gearing ratio 24.6% 32.3% 27.5% 35.3%

 
(e)  Market Risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in agricultural commodity prices (refer note 29(f )), foreign currency exchange  

rates (refer note 29(g)) and interest rates (refer note 29(h)). The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure  

to commodity price, foreign currency and interest rate risk, including:

• foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the export of malt, the import of fertiliser, and forward purchase and sales  

of agricultural commodity contracts denominated in a foreign currency;

• exchange-traded futures and option contracts to minimise the effects of changes in the prices of agricultural commodities on physical inventory held, 

forward agricultural commodity purchase and sales contracts and forward freight purchase and sales contracts; and

• interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

The Group measures market risk exposures using value-at-risk (VaR) for the grain and wool commodities.

29.  Financial Instruments (continued)
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(f) Agricultural Commodity Price  
Risk Management

The Group’s diverse range of services are spread 

across the agribusiness supply chain, including 

accumulation, storage, malt, processing, logistics, 

fertiliser, financial services, wool broking and 

export, livestock broking and export, agricultural 

chemicals, marketing, ship chartering and trading. 

As a result, the Group is exposed to the following 

agricultural and other related commodities, 

including wool, grain and freight that are subject 

to price fluctuations. 

The Group uses exchange-traded futures and 

option contracts to minimise the effects of 

changes in the prices of agricultural commodity 

physical inventory and agricultural commodity 

forward purchase and sales contracts. Exchange 

traded futures and option contracts are valued 

at the quoted market prices. Forward purchase 

contracts and forward sales contracts are 

valued at the quoted market prices adjusted 

for differences in local markets. Changes in the 

market value of forward purchase and sale 

contracts, and exchange traded futures and 

options contracts, are recognised in earnings as 

gains or losses of financial instruments in the 

profit or loss statement. Exchange-traded futures 

and option contracts are predominately settled 

in cash, while agricultural commodity forward 

purchase and sales contracts are settled by either 

physical delivery of the commodity or cash.  

The Group is exposed to loss in the event of  

non-performance by the counter-party to 

forward purchase and forward sales contracts. 

The values of these contracts are reduced by 

a provision related to the potential loss in the 

event of non-performance.

To further manage commodity price risk the 

Group places restrictions over the commodities 

traded, quantities and positions to trade, the 

types of derivatives, products and services which 

can be transacted, counterparties to trade with 

and which employees can execute contracts. 

Agricultural Commodity Price Sensitivity

All market risk associated with commodity 

price risk is measured using the Value at Risk 

(VaR) method. The VaR calculation quantifies 

potential changes in the value of commodity 

positions as a result of market price movements. 

The Group takes the view that all commodity 

price risk should be monitored in the same 

way, irrespective of its origin – whether as a 

consequence of asset ownership, customer sales, 

hedging or position taking. Consequently, the 

Group’s overall VaR must be interpreted in that 

context. The Company’s VaR approximates the 

Group’s VaR. 

The VaR risk measure estimates the potential 

loss in pre-taxation profit over a given holding 

period for a specified confidence level. The VaR 

methodology is a statistically defined, probability-

based approach that takes into account market 

volatilities as well as risk diversification by 

recognising offsetting positions and correlations 

between products and markets. Risks can be 

measured consistently across all markets and 

products, and risk measures can be aggregated 

to arrive at a single risk number. The five-day 

VaR number used by the group reflects the 95% 

probability that the gain or loss in a five day 

period will not exceed the reported VaR based 

on the last 12 month’s pricing movements. The 

inputs into the VaR calculation are open position 

volumes, current market prices, and the variability 

of prices over the previous 12 months, all of 

which are updated daily. The daily net agricultural 

commodity position consists of inventory held 

for trading, forward purchase and sales contracts 

held for trading, and exchange-traded contracts, 

and all are included in the VaR calculation. The 

VaR at balance date is not representative of 

the risk throughout the year as the year end 

exposure does not reflect the exposure during 

the year. The analysis should therefore be used 

with care. In practice, as markets move, the Group 

actively manages its risk and adjusts hedging 

strategies as appropriate. 

The Group has established policies that limit  

the amount of agricultural commodity positions 

permissible, which are a combination of quantity 

and VaR limits. VaR levels are reported daily  

and compared with approved limits. Limits  

are regularly reviewed to ensure consistency  

with risk appetite, market developments and 

business activities. 

Consolidated

2008 2007

$million $million

Historical VaR (95%, five day)

Agricultural commodity price VaR 2.9 4.7

(g) Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies and as a result foreign currency exposures arise. The Group’s potential 

currency exposures comprise translational exposure in respect of non-functional currency monetary items and transactional exposure in respect of 

non-functional currency expenditure and revenues. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign 

exchange contracts, resulting in an economic hedge against net foreign exchange risk exposure for agricultural commodities. The Management Risk 

Committee meets weekly to monitor foreign exchange risk exposure. The Corporate Risk Compliance Committee meets quarterly to oversee this function.
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The AUD carrying amount of unhedged foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities, exposed to foreign currency risk at the 

reporting date is as follows:

Consolidated Company

USD EUR JPY NZD USD EUR JPY NZD

$A million $A million $A million $A million $A million $A million $A million $A million

30 September 2008

Cash 18.3 - 0.2 4.6 10.6 - 0.2 0.2

Receivables 63.1 5.1 - 32.4 63.1 5.1 - 6.5

Payables - - - (47.2) - - - -

Borrowings (34.7) - - - (34.7) - - -

46.7 5.1 0.2 (10.2) 46.7 5.1 0.2 6.7

30 September 2007

Cash 5.1 - - 1.4 6.8 - - -

Receivables 13.0 - - 17.4 13.0 - - 9.4

Payables (3.1) - - (18.6) (3.1) - - -

Borrowings (30.6) - - - (30.6) - - -

(15.6) - - 0.2 (13.9) - - 9.4

Foreign Currency Sensitivity 

The Group is exposed to US dollars (USD), Euro (EUR), Japanese Yen (JPY), New Zealand dollars (NZD), Canadian Dollars (CAD) and Singapore Dollars (SGD).

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% 

represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 

foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity 

analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than  

the currency of the lender or the borrower. The sensitivity is calculated assuming all other variables remain constant. The sensitivity at balance date is  

not representative of the sensitivity throughout the year as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year. The sensitivities  

should therefore be used with care. A positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss and other equity where the Australian Dollar strengthens 

against the respective currency.

Consolidated Company

+10% +10% -10% -10% +10% +10% -10% -10%

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

30 September 2008

US Dollars (4.2) 23.2 5.2 (28.3) (3.5) - 4.3 -

Euro (0.5) 3.1 0.6 (3.0) (0.5) - 0.6 -

Japanese Yen - 3.3 - (4.0) - - - -

New Zealand Dollars (0.6) 1.5 0.7  (3.0) (0.6) - 0.7 -

Canadian Dollars - - - - - - - -

Singapore Dollars - 0.9 - (1.2) - - - -

(5.3) 32.0 6.5 (39.5) (4.6) - 5.6 -
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Consolidated Company

+10% +10% -10% -10% +10% +10% -10% -10%

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

Profit  

$ million

Equity  

$ million

30 September 2007

US Dollars 1.4 27.8 (1.7) (30.3) 1.3 - (1.5) -

Euro - 0.3 - (0.3) - - - -

Japanese Yen - 1.6 - (8.2) - - - -

New Zealand Dollars (0.9) 1.8 1.0 (1.0) (0.9) - 1.0 -

Canadian Dollars - - - - - - - -

Singapore Dollars - 0.4 - (0.5) - - - -

0.5 31.9 (0.7) (40.3) 0.4 - (0.5) -

Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange contracts denominated in United States, New Zealand, Canadian and Singapore Dollars, Euros, Japanese Yen 

and Swiss Francs. When it is determined that a foreign exchange exposure exists, it is the Group’s policy to 100% hedge against the exposure. The Group 

has entered into forward foreign exchange and foreign currency option contracts, which are timed to mature between 1 and 22 months when the related 

underlying transactions being hedged are expected to mature. 

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts that are designated as held for trading and outstanding as at reporting date, all amounts 

are shown in the foreign currency:

2008 2007

Average 

Rate(1)
Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years Total

   Average 

Rate(1)
Less than  

1 year 
1-2 years Total 

million million million million million million

Foreign Exchange Contracts for Foreign 
Currency against Australian Dollar
Buy US dollar 0.86 149.4 - 149.4 0.83 189.6 0.7 190.3

Sell US dollar 0.85 292.4 0.1 292.5 0.82 105.5 0.5 106.0

Buy Euro 0.58 0.2 - 0.2 0.60 0.4 - 0.4

Sell Euro 0.59 8.1 - 8.1 0.60 8.0 - 8.0

Buy New Zealand dollar 1.19 0.9 - 0.9 - - - -

Sell New Zealand dollar 1.22 57.1 - 57.1 - - - -

Buy Canadian dollar 0.93 13.2 - 13.2 0.87 7.9 - 7.9

Sell Canadian dollar 0.87 11.7 - 11.7 0.90 18.0 0.1 18.1

Foreign Exchange Contracts for Euro  
against Canadian Dollar

Buy Euro 1.54 6.3 - 6.3 0.69 31.3 - 31.3

Sell Euro 1.56 7.1 - 7.1 0.69 20.6 - 20.6

(1) Average rates for the individual period do not materially differ from the overall average rates disclosed.
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2008 2007

   Average 

Rate(1)
Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years Total

   Average 

Rate(1)
Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years Total 

million million million million million million

Foreign Exchange Contracts for Euro  
against New Zealand Dollar
Buy Euro 0.47 5.1 - 5.1 0.56 0.8 - 0.8

Sell Euro 0.46 0.3 - 0.3 - - - -

Foreign Exchange Contracts for US Dollar 
against Euro
Buy US dollar - - - - 1.37 1.2 - 1.2

Sell US dollar - - - - 1.36 0.4 - 0.4

Foreign exchange Contracts for US Dollar 
against Canadian Dollar
Buy US dollar 1.05 0.2 - 0.2 1.06 1.0 - 1.0

Sell US dollar 1.03 1.2 - 1.2 1.05 2.2 - 2.2

Foreign Exchange Contracts for US dollar 
against New Zealand Dollar
Buy US dollar 0.66 22.6 - 22.6 0.71 9.1 - 9.1

Sell US dollar 0.67 9.6 - 9.6 0.70 16.2 - 16.2

(1) Average rates for the individual period do not materially differ from the overall average rates disclosed.
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The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts that are designated as hedging instruments and outstanding as at reporting date, all 

amounts are shown in the foreign currency:

2008 2007

   Average 

Rate(1)
Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years Total

   Average 

Rate(1)
Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years Total 

million million million million million million

Foreign Exchange Contracts for Foreign 
Currency against Australian Dollar 

Buy US dollar 0.84 33.6 4.3 37.9 0.82 16.6 1.8 18.4

Sell US dollar 0.83 217.3 22.8 240.1 0.80 163.3 76.1 239.3

Buy Euro 0.57 17.7 14.6 32.3 0.61 0.8 1.6 2.4

Sell Euro 0.57 24.2 24.9 49.1 0.58 1.5 3.1 4.6

Buy Japanese yen 88.4 865.0 240.0 1,105.0 92.0 449.0 - 449.0

Sell Japanese yen 89.7 2,714.0 1,435.0 4,149.0 89.0 1,089.0 1,160.0 2,249.0

Buy Singapore dollars 1.19 1.0 0.5 1.5 1.15 1.5 - 1.5

Sell Singapore dollars 1.20 8.8 4.6 13.4 1.22 4.5 2.9 7.4

Buy Swiss Franc 0.93 0.5 - 0.5 - - - -

Sell Swiss Franc 0.91 0.1 - 0.1 - - - -

(1) Average rates for the individual period do not materially differ from  

the overall average rates disclosed. 

At 30 September 2008, the Group had open purchases on FX put option 

contracts of $nil (2007: USD$20 million).

Specific Commitments

Unrecognised foreign exchange gains and losses are deferred in relation  

to forward exchange contracts that are hedging specific commitments,  

a net loss of $25.3 million (2007: $14.6 million gain) has been deferred  

as at 30 September. This loss is offset by an unrecognised foreign currency 

gain on the underlying transactions being hedged. In the current year,  

these unrealised losses have been deferred in the hedging reserve to the  

extent the hedge is effective. 

Other Derivatives 

A net loss of $0.9 million (2007: $1.2 million gain) has been brought to 

account as at 30 September 2008 in the income statement in relation to 

forward foreign exchange contracts that are hedging general commitments.
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(h) Interest Rate Risk Management

The Group’s exposure to market risk for 

changes in interest rates relates primarily to the 

consolidated entity’s long term debt obligations. 

It is the Group’s current policy to protect part 

of the long term loans from exposure to rising 

interest rates by hedging a minimum of 50% 

of long term debt. Accordingly, the Group has 

entered into interest rate swap contracts under 

which it is obliged to receive interest at variable 

rates and to pay interest at fixed rates. 

The Company and the Group’s exposures  

to interest rates on financial assets and financial 

liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 

management section of this note.

Interest Rate Sensitivity 

The sensitivity analysis below has been 

determined based on the exposure to interest 

rates for both derivative and non-derivative 

instruments at the reporting date and the 

stipulated change taking place at the beginning 

of the financial year and held constant 

throughout the reporting period.  

A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents 

management’s assessment of the possible 

change in interest rates. This assumes that the 

change in interest rates is effective from the 

beginning of the financial year end the fixed/

floating mix and balances is constant over the 

year. However, interest rates and the debt profile 

of the Group are unlikely to remain constant in 

the coming financial year and therefore such 

sensitivity analysis should be used with care. 

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 

basis points higher or lower across the yield 

curve and all other variables were held constant, 

the Group’s net profit would increase/decrease 

by $1.0 million (2007: increase/decrease by $1.4 

million). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s 

exposure to interest rates on its variable rate 

borrowings and cash deposits.

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 

50 basis points higher or lower and all other 

variables were held constant, the Company’s net 

profit would increase/decrease by $0.9 million 

(2007: increase/decrease by $1.5 million). This is 

mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to 

interest rates on its variable rate borrowings and 

cash deposits.

Interest Rate Swap and Option Contracts

Under interest rate swap and option (swaption) 

contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the 

difference between fixed and floating rate 

interest amounts calculated on agreed notional 

principal amounts. Such contracts enable the 

Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest 

rates on the cash flow exposures on issued 

variable debt held. The fair value of interest rate 

swaps and swaptions at the reporting date is 

determined by discounting the future cash  

flows using the curves at reporting date and 

the credit risk inherent in the contract, and are 

disclosed below. 

The following tables detail the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap and swaption contracts outstanding as at reporting date:

Notional principal amount Fair value

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Outstanding Floating for Fixed Contracts 
Consolidated

Less than 1 year  46.0 22.0 0.3 0.2

1 – 2 years  25.0 46.0 0.1 0.9

2 – 3 years  79.0 25.0            (2.5) 0.3

3 – 4 years  46.0 22.0 - 0.4

4 – 5 years  25.0 26.0 0.1 0.5

  221.0 141.0 (2.0) 2.3

Company

Less than 1 year  - 22.0 - 0.2

1 – 2 years  - 46.0 - 0.9

2 – 3 years  79.0 25.0 (2.5) 0.3

3 – 4 years  46.0 22.0 - 0.4

4 – 5 years  25.0 26.0 0.1 0.5

  150.0 141.0 (2.4) 2.3

The contracted fixed rates on interest rate swaps range from 5.12% to 8.01% 

(2007: 5.12% - 6.21%). The total notional principal amount of swaps currently 

in place covers approximately 65% of long term debt.

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the 

interest rate swaps and options is the Australian BBSW. The Group will settle 

the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts 

for fixed rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in order 

to reduce the Group’s cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest 

rates on borrowings. The interest rate swaps and options, and the interest 

payments on the loan occur simultaneously and the amount deferred in 

equity is recognised in profit or loss at loan maturity.
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(i) Credit Risk Management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty 

will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in financial loss to the Group. The 

Group has adopted a policy of only dealing 

with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining 

sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a 

means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 

from defaults. Credit exposure is controlled 

by customer credit limits and managed by 

the Executive Management Risk Committee, 

overseen by the Board and Corporate Risk 

Compliance Committee. 

Trade receivables consist of a large number of 

customers, spread across diverse industries and 

geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is 

performed on the financial condition of accounts 

receivable and, where appropriate, letters of 

credit, liens and other security is obtained and 

credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased.

The Group controls credit risk on derivative 

financial instruments by setting limits related 

to the credit worthiness of customers and 

counterparties. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded 

in the financial statements, net of any allowances 

for losses, represents the Company’s and the 

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without 

taking account of the value of any collateral 

obtained. The concentration of credit risk is  

in Australia.

Credit risk further arises in relation to financial 

guarantees given to certain parties. Such 

guarantees are only provided in exceptional 

circumstances and are subject to specific  

Board approval.

For further information on credit risk, refer 

to note 7. 

(j) Liquidity Risk Management

Maturity Profile of Financial Instruments

The Group’s liquidity risk refers to the ability to 

settle or meet its obligations as they fall due and 

is managed as part of the risk strategy. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 

borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring 

forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The Management Risk Committee receives 

liquidity reports from the treasury function 

on a weekly basis and the treasury function 

reviews liquidity reports daily. In July 2008, the 

Group completed a $1.2 billion multi-currency 

syndicated debt facility, included in note 30(b) is 

a listing of additional undrawn facilities that the 

Company/Group has at its disposal to further 

reduce liquidity risk.

Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables

The following tables detail the Company’s and 

the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its 

financial liabilities (derivative and non-derivative) 

and derivative financial assets. The tables have 

been drawn up based on the undiscounted 

cash flows of financial assets and liabilities 

based on the earliest date on which the Group 

can be required to pay. The table includes both 

interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment 

column represents the possible future cash flows 

attributable to the instrument included in the 

maturity analysis which are not included in the 

carrying amount of the financial asset or liability 

on the balance sheet.
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Consolidated

Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4+ years

Adjust- 

ment
Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Year ended 30 September 2008 

Financial Liabilities – Non Derivatives

Non-interest bearing (142.5) - - - - - (142.5)

Finance lease liability (0.2) (0.5) (0.4) - - 0.1 (1.0)

Borrowings (35.9) (30.0) (414.5) - - 87.5 (392.9)

(178.6) (30.5) (414.9) - - 87.6 (536.4)

Financial Assets – Derivatives

Interest rate swaps 0.3 0.1 0.1 - 0.1 - 0.6

Foreign exchange contracts 702.3 58.3 - - - (746.3) 14.3

Commodity contracts 104.3 2.5 - - - - 106.8

Options - - - - - - -

Futures 12.6 - - - - - 12.6

819.5 60.9 0.1 - 0.1 (746.3) 134.3

Financial Liabilities – Derivatives

Interest rate swaps - - (2.6) - - - (2.6)

Foreign exchange contracts (722.4) (58.3) - - - 746.3 (34.4)

Commodity contracts (64.5) (0.3) - - - - (64.8)

Options (0.1) - - - - - (0.1)

Futures (1.7) (2.3) - - - - (4.0)

(788.7) (60.9) (2.6) - - 746.3 (105.9)
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Consolidated

Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4+ years

Adjust- 

ment
Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Year Ended 30 September 2007 

Financial Liabilities – Non Derivatives

Non-interest bearing (97.4) - - - - - (97.4)

Finance lease liability - - - - - - -

Borrowings (30.9) (30.9) (469.9) - - 90.1 (441.6)

(128.3) (30.9) (469.9) - - 90.1 (539.0)

Financial Assets – Derivatives    

Interest rate swaps 0.2 1.0 0.3 0.4 0.5 - 2.4

Foreign exchange contracts 521.0 115.0 0.1 - - (612.8) 23.3

Commodity contracts 337.9 15.1 - - - - 353.0

Options 6.7 - - - - - 6.7

Futures 45.0 2.2 - - - - 47.2

910.8 133.3 0.4 0.4 0.5 (612.8) 432.6

Financial Liabilities – Derivatives    

Foreign exchange contracts (514.8) (111.8) (0.1) - - 612.8 (13.9)

Commodity contracts (376.7) (9.4) - - - - (386.1)

Options (10.9) - - - - - (10.9)

Futures (72.3) (1.6) - - - - (73.9)

(974.7) (122.8) (0.1) - - 612.8 (484.8)
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Company

Less than  

1 year  
1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4+ years

Adjust- 

ment
Total

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Year Ended 30 September 2008 

Financial Liabilities – Non Derivatives

Non-interest bearing (80.1) - - - - - (80.1)

Finance lease liability - - - - - - -

Borrowings (30.0) (30.0) (414.5) - - 87.5 (387.0)

(110.1) (30.0) (414.5) - - 87.5 (467.1)

Financial Assets – Derivatives

Interest rate swaps - 0.1 0.1 - - - 0.2

Foreign exchange contracts 433.0 0.2 - - - (419.1) 14.1

Commodity contracts 90.2 0.6 - - - - 90.8

Options - - - - - - -

Futures 12.6 - - - - - 12.6

535.8 0.9 0.1 - - (419.1) 117.7

Financial Liabilities – Derivatives

Interest rate swaps - - (2.6) - - - (2.6)

Foreign exchange contracts (439.4) (0.2) - - - 419.1 (20.5)

Commodity contracts (55.4) (0.1) - - - - (55.5)

Options (0.1) - - - - - (0.1)

Futures (1.7) (2.3) - - - - (4.0)

(496.6) (2.6) (2.6) - - 419.1 (82.7)
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Company

Less than  

1 year  

1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4+ years Adjust- 

ment

Total 

$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

Year Ended 30 September 2007 

Financial Liabilities – Non Derivatives

Non-interest bearing (51.4) - - - - - (51.4)

Finance lease liability - - - - - - -

Borrowings (30.9) (30.9) (469.9) - - 90.1 (441.6)

(82.3) (30.9) (469.9) - - 90.1 (493.0)

Financial Assets – Derivatives

Interest rate swaps - - 0.4 0.4 0.5 - 1.3

Foreign exchange contracts 313.5 1.5 0.1 - - (305.5) 9.6

Commodity contracts 337.9 5.2 9.9 - - - 353.0

Options 6.7 - - - - - 6.7

Futures 45.0 2.2 - - - - 47.2

703.1 8.9 10.4 0.4 0.5 (305.5) 417.8

Financial Liabilities – Derivatives

Foreign exchange contracts (318.5) (1.4) (0.1) - - 305.5 (14.5)

Commodity contracts (373.3) (9.4) - - - - (382.7)

Options (10.9) - - - - - (10.9)

Futures (72.3) (1.6) - - - - (73.9)

(775.0) (12.4) (0.1) - - 305.5 (482.0)

(k) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following assumptions and methods were 

used to estimate fair value:

Commodity Contracts 

The fair value of financial assets and financial 

liabilities with standard terms and conditions  

and traded on active liquid markets are 

determined with reference to quoted market 

prices. Where such prices are not available the 

Group uses a variety of methods and makes 

assumptions that are based on quoted market 

prices for similar commodities and market 

conditions existing at each balance date. 

Foreign Exchange Contracts,  

Options and Futures  

The fair value is calculated using quoted prices. 

Where such prices are not available fair value 

is determined in accordance with generally 

accepted pricing models based on discounted 

cash flow analysis. 

Interest Rate Swaps 

The present value of expected cash flows has 

been used to determine fair value using yield 

curves derived from market parameters that 

accurately reflect their term structure.

Cash, Receivables, Payables and Short  

Term Borrowings 

The carrying amounts of these financial 

instruments approximate fair value because  

of their short maturity.

Transaction costs are included in the 

determination of net fair value.
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30.  Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

(a)  Businesses Acquired 

During the financial year, the Group acquired six businesses. The net cash outflow on acquisition was $16.4 million. Refer to note 28 for further  

details of these acquisitions.

(b) Financing Facilities

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Unsecured multi-currency bank facilities with various maturity  

dates through to 30 September 2011, and which may be extended  

by mutual agreement: 

amount used 385.0 441.6 385.0 441.6

amount unused 815.0 528.4 815.0 528.4

1,200.0 970.0 1,200.0 970.0

(c)  Non Cash Financing and Investing Activities 

$7.2 million of dividends were paid via the issue of 0.8 million shares under ABB’s dividend reinvestment plans for the 2007 final and 2008 interim dividends.

A further 20.5 million ordinary shares were also issued via a capital raising for net proceeds of $187.2 million. The purpose of the capital raising was the 

funding of a malt plant and container packaging facility and ABB’s New Zealand construction programme and working capital.

During the year, eligible shareholders were also invited to participate in a share purchase plan. The plan resulted in 0.2 million shares being issued for 

proceeds of $2.2 million.
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(d) Reconciliation of Profit for the Period to Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ million $ million $ million $ million

Profit attributable to the members of ABB Grain Ltd 48.8 7.3 (1.7) (30.7)

(Gain)/loss on revaluation of fair value through profit or loss financial assets (138.1) 50.5 (140.5) 58.1

(Gain)/loss on sale or disposal of non-current assets - (1.3) -

Share of associates’ profit 2.2 0.6 (0.5) -

Depreciation and amortisation 31.6 30.8 2.4 1.8

Equity-settled share-based payment 2.5 0.2 2.5 0.2

Change in fair value of inventories held for trading 133.1 (29.0) 127.5 (29.0)

Dividends received and receivable - (0.2) - (0.2)

Other non-cash items (9.0) - (0.8) -

Reversal of impairment of non-current assets - (0.6) - -

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liability (1.7) 11.6 (2.9) 10.9

(Increase)/decrease in current tax asset - 10.2 - 9.5

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances (6.7) (7.2) 3.1 (16.5)

Changes in Net Assets and Liabilities, Net of Effects from  
Acquisition and Disposal of Businesses: 
(Increase)/Decrease in Assets:

Current receivables (51.2) (54.2) (95.5) (34.6)

Other financial assets 436.5 (364.5) 440.6 (369.3)

Current Inventories (119.7) (9.6) (56.1) 20.2

Other current assets - - - -

Non-current trade receivables 2.6 0.2 - -

Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities:

Current payables 43.6 18.3 28.7 11.0

Current provisions 2.3 (0.1) 2.8 (0.1)

Other current liabilities 6.3 (0.9) 6.5 (1.1)

Other financial liabilities (378.9) 360.1 (399.3) 342.1

Non-current provisions 0.1 0.3 0.1 (0.2)

Net cash from operating activities 4.3 22.5 (83.1) (27.9)

30.  Notes to the Cash Flow Statement (continued)
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31.  Share-based Payments
The consolidated entity has an ownership-based remuneration plan, the ABB Grain Ltd Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), and the Executive Share  

Option Plan.

Long Term Incentive Plan

The LTIP entitles eligible executives to a bonus following satisfaction of 3 key performance measures over a 3 year period (the “performance period”). 

This comprises:

• Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”);

• Return on Equity (“ROE”); 

• Relative TSR as measured against a peer group of industry companies;

The date of granting the performance rights (“Grant date”) for each annual tranche is the date at which the Board and participating executives have a 

shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement. Amounts earned under the LTIP must be received in shares under the Deferred 

Employee Share Plan. The acquisition price is based on the volume weighted closing share price for 60 trading days after 30 September of the first year of 

the performance period of each annual tranche. At 30 September 2008, three tranches had been approved by the Board and are summarised as follows:

Company

LTIP tranche Performance period Acquisition Fair Total fair

price/share value/share value

$ $ $

Tranche 1
1 October 2004 to  

30 September 2007
6.91 3.81 210,365

Tranche 2
1 October 2005 to  

30 September 2008
6.98 4.32 333,096

Tranche 3
1 October 2006 to  

30 September 2009
6.48 4.49 289,176

An expense of $230,408 has been recognised for the 2008 financial year (2007: $80,011). This amount represents one third of the performance period fair 

value expense for each applicable tranche, adjusted for LTIP participants who have not met tenure requirements and the difference between estimated  

and actual rights granted to participants.

Set out below is a summary of the maximum share rights granted under the LTIP. The maximum share rights calculated under the LTIP is higher than  

the expected vesting volume as the maximum share rights volume excludes adjustments for not meeting performance hurdles and tenure requirements. 

Company

Share rights movement 2008 2007 2006 2005

No. No. No. No.

Opening balance at beginning of the financial year 262,217 228,746 100,599 -

Share rights granted during the financial year - 120,951 128,147 100,599

Share rights vested during the financial year (14,490) - - -

Share rights forfeited during the financial year (43,693) (87,480) - -

Closing balance at the end of the financial year 204,034 262,217 228,746 100,599
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Fair value of the share rights granted in the three tranches was determined by an external valuer, Leadenhall VRG Pty Ltd, using the Carrett and Wong 

methodology for the TSR hurdles, and a 3 year average calculation for ROE.

The key assumptions used in the fair value calculation of LTIP share rights granted for the most recent tranche (2006/07) are as follows:

Long Term Incentive Plan 2008 – Changes to Performance Measures

An additional tranche was offered to participants after 30 September 2008. Grant date for the 2008 tranche was 24th October 2008. An independent review 

of the structure of the LTIP has resulted in the following changes to performance measures:

Weightings and Performance Levels LTI Plan 2008 tranche

Measure Weighting % of TFR Performance period Performance level

Threshold Target Stretch

(0% of weighted 

TFR)

(30% of 

weighted TFR)

(100% of 

weighted TFR)

TSR relative growth over 

performance period
50% 15% 3 years

50%ile of 

ASX/S&P 200

62.5%ile of 

ASX/S&P 200

75%ile of 

ASX/S&P 200

Growth in share price 

(compounded) over  

performance period

50% 15% 3 years 5% per annum 7.5% per annum 12% per annum

Total 100% 30%

Grant date for the 2008 tranche occurred after 30 September 2008. Accordingly, no liability has been recognised in the financial statements at  

30 September 2008.

LTIS Performance Measure 

TSR Hurdles 

Key Assumption  

The risk free rate of 5.6% (2006: 5.6%), based on the 2 year Government  

Bond rate, is used in the valuation model to simulate TSR’s and ABB’s future 

share price and to discount future share prices.  Management believes  

that the risk free rate is appropriate as it approximates the term of the LTIP 

bonus rights.  

Volatility of 19.97% (2006: 21.32%) has been estimated using historic data 

from 30 September 2004 to 30 September 2006.  Management believes  

that this period is appropriate as all comparison companies were listed over 

this period, and represents the most recent history prior to grant date.

Correlations between the TSR returns are a required input into the valuation 

model.  The raw correlations between all companies TSR’s are calculated 

and then standardised for use in the model via a Cholesky Decomposition.  

Management believes the correlations are appropriate as the Cholesky 

Decomposition creates standardised terms that when multiplied by random 

variables in the model, generate returns that will closely resemble the 

historic standard deviations for each Company’s TSR.

LTIS Performance Measure 

ROE

Key Assumption  

The fair value of the LTIP rights under the ROE hurdle is based on the  

market price of ABB shares at grant date adjusted for the present value of 

projected dividends, as the recipients of the LTIP rights are not entitled to 

dividends over the performance period.  Management believes that the 

projected dividends are reasonably achievable.

31.  Share-based Payments (continued)
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Executive Share Option Plan 

Options over shares in ABB Grain are granted under the ABB Grain Ltd Executive Share Option Plan. The Executive Share Option Plan is available to ABB’s 

senior executive team as part of an ongoing strategy of retention and motivation. Vesting of the options is subject to a performance requirement of 10% per 

annum compound growth in ABB Grain Ltd’s share market price over a three year period. Once vested, the options remain exercisable for a period of two 

years. 

The terms and conditions of the grant of options affecting remuneration in this reporting period are as follows:

Grant date
Date vested and 

exercisable
Expiry date Exercise price

Value per option at 

grant date

30 April 2008 30 April 2011 30 April 2013 $11.55 $2.27

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted is allocated equally over the period from grant date to vesting date. Fair values at grant date  

are determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at grant  

date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share. The exercise price of the options is based on the value weighted average price  

at which the Company’s shares are traded on the Australian Stock Exchange for the 60 market trading days up to and including grant date. 

An expense of $122,660 has been recognised for the 2008 financial year (2007: nil). This amount represents one third of the performance period fair  

value expense prorated.

32.  Key Management Personnel Compensation

Details of Key Management Personnel

The consolidated entity has adopted ASIC Class Order 06/50 and has transferred the detailed remuneration disclosures to the Directors’ report.  

The relevant information can be found in the remuneration report on pages 34 to 45.

The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the consolidated entity and the Company is set out below:

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $ 

Short-term employment benefits 3,967,730 3,531,580 3,967,730 3,531,580

Post-employment benefits 561,052 289,207 561,052 289,207

Termination benefits 2,983 370,120 2,983 370,120

Share-based payment 266,438 179,845 266,438 179,845

4,798,203 4,370,752 4,798,203 4,370,752

 

31.  Share-based Payments (continued)
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Key Management Personal Equity Holdings

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares of ABB Grain Ltd 

Opening 

Balance @ 

1/10/07

Granted as 

remuneration

Share Rights 

vested

Net other 

change

Closing Balance 

@ 30/09/08

Balance held 

nominally

2008 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

M A Iwaniw 61,276 - 6,501 905 68,682 -

P R Gunner 36,581 - - - 36,581 -

A R Barr 3,174 - - 45 3,219 -

P W Daniel 64,248 - - 310 64,558 -

T M Day 48,730 - - - 48,730 -

R M Johns 130,532 - - 7,593 138,125 -

K G Osborn 10,663 - - 686 11,349 -

T J Ryan 30,192 - - 3,407 33,599 -

M F Venning 264,654 - - 3,693 268,347 -

Key Executives

K R David 257 - - 5 262 -

I N Farnsworth 2,012 - - (2,012) - -

P E Jones 21,218 5,784 - (6,846) 20,156 -

T J O’Connor 71,043 - 2,704 (30,000) 43,747 -

S D Read 4,000 - - 2,000 6,000 -

A S Roff 262 - 2,385 - 2,647 -

G J Spiel 1,956 - - 28 1,984 -

J P Warda 2,811 - 2,900 678 6,389 -

B Wojewidka - - - - - -

32.  Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)
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Key Management Personal Equity Holdings

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares of ABB Grain Ltd 

Opening 

Balance @ 

1/10/06

Granted as 

remuneration

Share Rights 

vested

Net other 

change

Closing Balance 

@ 30/09/07

Balance held 

nominally

2007 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

M A Iwaniw 56,751 - - 4,525 61,276 -

P R Gunner 36,581 - - - 36,581 -

A R Barr 3,080 - - 94 3,174 -

P W Daniel 63,593 - - 655 64,248 -

T M Day 63,730 - - (15,000) 48,730 -

R M Johns 116,935 - - 13,597 130,532 -

K G Osborn 10,349 - - 314 10,663 -

T J Ryan 18,005 - - 12,187 30,192 -

M F Venning 256,906 - - 7,748 264,654 -

Key Executives

P M Collins 9,066 - - (9,066) - -

I N Farnsworth - - - 2,012 2,012 -

A Gee 884 - - 310 1,194 -

P E Jones 13,345 7,426 - 447 21,218 -

T J O’Connor 71,043 - - - 71,043 -

S D Read - - - 4,000 4,000 -

P G Ryan 1,711 - - (1,711) - -

G J Spiel - - - 1,956 1,956 -

J P Warda 2,046 - - 765 2,811 -

32.  Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)
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Maximum Bonus Rights to ordinary shares of ABB Grain Ltd

ABB Grain Ltd previously disclosed expected share rights vesting volumes. The tables below now provide a summary of the maximum share rights that the 

Managing Director and key executives may receive on achievement of all three hurdles.

Opening 

Balance @ 

1/10/07

Granted as 

remuneration

Share rights 

vested

Rights  

forfeited

Closing Balance 

@ 30/09/08

Balance held 

nominally

2008 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Director

M A Iwaniw 103,910 - (6,501) (19,782) 77,627 -

Key Executives

K R David - - - - - -

P E Jones 15,166 - - - 15,166 -

T J O’Connor 35,791 - (2,704) (8,125) 24,962 -

S D Read 13,511 - - - 13,511 -

A S Roff 30,522 - (2,385) (6,949) 21,188 -

G J Spiel 24,865 - - - 24,865 -

J P Warda 38,452 - (2,900) (8,836) 26,716 -

B Wojewidka - - - - - -

Opening 

Balance @ 

1/10/06

Granted as 

remuneration

Share rights 

vested

Rights 

 forfeited

Closing Balance 

@ 30/09/07

Balance held 

nominally

2007 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Director

M A Iwaniw 63,842 40,068 - - 103,910 -

Key Executives

P M Collins 25,318 - - (25,318) - -

T O’Connor 22,616 13,175 - - 35,791 -

P E Jones - 15,166 - - 15,166 -

S D Read - 13,511 - - 13,511 -

P G Ryan 25,104 - - (25,104) - -

G J Spiel 11,284 13,581 - - 24,865 -

J P Warda 24,448 14,004 - - 38,452 -

32.  Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)
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33.  Related Party Transactions

(a)  Equity Interests in Related Parties

Equity Interests in Subsidiaries

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are 

disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

Equity Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

Details of interests in associates and joint ventures are disclosed in note  

10 to the financial statements.

(b)  Transactions with Key Management Personnel and Equity Holdings

Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in  

the Directors’ Report.

Details of key management personnel equity holdings are disclosed  

in note 32.

(c) Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel

The profit from operations does not include any item of revenue or expense 

that resulted from transactions with key executives or their related entities, 

other than remuneration as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, 

and the Directors Report.

Total assets and liabilities do not include any item in relation to key 

executives or their related entities.

As grain farmers, some of the Directors use the services of the consolidated 

entity, under normal terms and conditions. No Director has received or 

become entitled to receive, during or since the end of the financial year,  

a benefit because of a contract made by the consolidated entity or a related 

body corporate with a Director, a firm of which a Director is a member or  

an entity in which a Director has a substantial financial interest.

(d)  Transactions with other Related Parties

Related parties include:

• the parent entity (ABB Grain Ltd)

• associates

• joint ventures in which the entity is a venturer

• subsidiaries

• grain commodity pools

• other related parties.

Transactions between ABB Grain Ltd and its Related Parties

During the financial year, the following transactions occurred between  

the Company and its related parties:

• sale of malt barley from ABB Grain Ltd to Joe White Maltings Pty Ltd

• provision of grain storage and handling services by Ausbulk Ltd to ABB 

Grain Ltd

• provision of container and packing services by Professional Grain Services 

Pty Ltd to ABB Grain Ltd

• sale of grain from ABB Grain Ltd to ABB Grain (NZ) Ltd

• sale and purchases between ABB Grain Ltd and New World Grain Ltd

• interest received from Australian Bulk Alliance Pty Ltd and New World Grain 

Ltd by ABB Grain Ltd for non-current and current loans receivable, respectively.
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Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $ 

Related Party Revenue 
Revenue from the Sale of Goods

Controlled entities - - 208,269,000 142,166,000

- - 208,269,000 142,166,000

 

Revenue from the Rendering of Services

Controlled entities - - 51,718,000 38,235,000

Other related parties 2,993,000 291,000 2,993,000 291,000

2,993,000 291,000 54,711,000 38,526,000

 

Interest Revenue

Associates and jointly controlled entities 1,333,000 1,011,000 1,211,000 913,000

Other related parties (Pools) 3,485,000 7,831,000 3,485,000 7,831,000

4,818,000 8,842,000 4,696,000 8,744,000

7,811,000 9,133,000 267,676,000 189,436,000

Trade and other Receivables 
Current

Controlled entities - - 203,900,000 144,629,000

Associates and jointly controlled entities 22,387,000 253,000 21,927,000 50,000

Other related parties (Pools) 29,300,000 32,529,000 29,300,000 32,529,000

51,687,000 32,782,000 255,127,000 177,208,000

 

Non-Current

Associates and jointly controlled entities 11,423,000 14,330,000 - -

11,423,000 14,330,000 - -

63,110,000 47,112,000 255,127,000 177,208,000

Trade and other Payables 
Current

Other related parties (Pools) 1,350,000 13,149,000 1,350,000 12,943,000

1,350,000 13,149,000 1,350,000 12,943,000

Transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries were eliminated in the preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

(e)  Terms and Conditions

Transactions between the Company and its related parties in the consolidated entity during the years ended 30 September 2008 and 2007 occurred within 

a normal customer relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on similar transactions to other customers, with the 

exception of no fixed term for repayment of intercompany loans within the consolidated entity.  Outstanding balances are unsecured and repayable in cash.

33.  Related Party Transactions (continued)
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34.  Remuneration of Auditors

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $ 

Auditor of the Parent Entity

Audit or review of the financial report 428,563 430,591 428,563 393,394

Other non-audit services 92,588 59,213 44,710 59,213

521,151 489,804 473,273 452,607

Related Practice of the Parent Entity Auditor

Audit or review of the financial report 81,434 37,705 - -

Taxation Compliance services - - - -

81,434 37,705 - -

The auditor of ABB Grain Ltd is PricewaterhouseCoopers.
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Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of ABB Grain Ltd 

will be held on Wednesday 25 February 2009 at 

11am (registration from 10am) at the Holiday Inn, 

Hindley St, Adelaide, South Australia.

The Notice of Meeting and voting papers are 

mailed to all shareholders at the same time as the 

annual report (if requested).  The annual report 

and Notice of Meeting are also available on the 

ABB website, www.abb.com.au.

Dividends
ABB has a policy of returning 65% of company 

profits to shareholders as dividends.

For the year ended 30 September 2008, ABB paid 

a fully franked interim dividend on 30 June 2008 

of 7 cents per ordinary share, and has declared 

a fully franked final dividend paid on 7 January 

2009 of 14 cents per ordinary share.

Shareholders should retain all remittance advices 

and statements relating to dividend payments for 

taxation purposes.

Shareholders have the option of receiving 

dividend payments either by direct credit or 

cheque. Further information on these dividend 

payment options can be obtained from ABB’s 

share registry operated by Computershare 

Investor Services Pty Limited.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”)
ABB has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

which allows shareholders to purchase  

extra shares in ABB in lieu of some or all  

of their dividend.

Shareholders who wish to participate in  

ABB’s DRP, or wish to change their existing 

instructions under the DRP, should contact  

ABB’s share registry.

Shareholding Information Online
Shareholders can check their holdings in  

ABB Grain shares on-line by going to www-

au.computershare.com and then clicking on 

“Investors”.  This will allow shareholders to  

access details of their holding using their 

shareholder number.

Shareholder Taxation Information Online
Information on capital gains tax issues related 

to the merger of ABB Grain Ltd, AusBulk Ltd and 

United Growers Holdings Ltd can be found under 

the “Investors” section of ABB’s website, www.abb.

com.au, under the sub-menu “Taxation”.

Further Information
Further information is available on ABB’s website, 

www.abb.com.au, under the ”Investors” section.  

A copy of the Company constitution is also 

available on the website.

Shareholder Information
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Top 20 Shareholders as at 20 December 2008 (ungrouped)

Name Ordinary shares held Percentage of total shares

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 15,630,412 9.13

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 14,898,815 8.71

National Nominees Limited 10,714,939  6.26

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 10,571,564 6.18

Warnford Nominees Pty Limited 4,713,279 2.75

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,759,333 2.20

ANZ Nominees Limited 3,125,301 1.83

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 2 2,732,997 1.60

AMP Life Limited 1,640,548 0.96

Suncorp Custodian Services Pty Limited 1,587,649 0.93

Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd 1,222,931 0.71

Menegazzo Enterprises Pty Ltd 1,094,030 0.64

Pan Australian Nominees Pty Limited 983,377 0.57

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 978,275 0.57

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 893,954 0.52

Queensland Investment Corporation 858,524 0.50

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 792,106 0.46

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSCO ECA 631,468 0.37

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 3 608,277 0.36

Cs Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 489,881 0.29

Totals: Top 20 Holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES (TOTAL) 77,927,660 45.53
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Distribution of Shareholders as at 20 December 2008

Range Total holders Units % of Issued Capital

1 - 1,000 9,397 3,403,483 1.99

1,001 - 5,000 7,217 17,585,886 10.26

5,001 - 10,000 2,275 16,288,938 9.50

10,001 - 100,000 2,307 47,973,898 28.00

100,001 and above 55 86,096,360 50.25

Total 21,251 171,348,565 100.00

Substantial Shareholders
As at 27 October, 2008, there was one substantial shareholder of ABB Grain Ltd according to the formal ASX definition of the term. 

Third Avenue Management LLC had a relevant interest in 14,634,574 ordinary shares, representing 8.54% of issued capital.

Shares Held in Escrow
As at 17 December, 2008, no ordinary shares were held in escrow.

Non-Marketable Share Parcels
As at 17 December, 2008, there were 1,932 holders of non-marketable parcel shares, representing 53,315 ordinary shares.

Five Year Financial History

AIFRS AIFRS AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Tonnages

Grain Receivals on behalf of the Barley Pools mt  0.1  0.2  1.7  1.2  2.8 

Grain Trading sales mt  4.3  3.7  5.1  3.9  3.5 

Supply Chain receivals mt  3.5  1.8  6.6  4.2 -

Malt sales kt  463.0  501.7  408.0  405.0 -

Revenue from Ordinary Activities (1) 

Supply Chain $m  140.8  100.2  166.1  129.8  0.8 

Grain Marketing $m  1,695.5  1,168.6  882.7  834.7  776.2 

Malt Manufacture $m  321.3  250.5  181.2  189.0  2.5 

Rural Services $m  332.5  164.6 - - -

Other $m  (251.9)  (167.2)  (78.0)  (52.2)  16.4 

Total revenue from ordinary activities $m  2,238.2  1,516.7  1,152.0  1,101.3  795.9 
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Notes:  
1. Financial Services and pool management fees have been reallocated to Grain Marketing in line with current reporting. 
2. Change to single class of shareholding in 2007, B Class shares became ordinary shares. 
3. 2004 Returns normalised for only 4 days of merged equity.

AIFRS AIFRS AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Earnings before interest expense, income tax, 

depreciation and amortisation, and significant items
$m  141.3  65.9  138.6  107.4  45.6 

Earnings before interest expense and income tax $m  109.7  35.1  109.5  76.9  43.8 

Profit from Ordinary Activities before Income Tax and 

Amortisation of Goodwill (1) 

Supply Chain $m  16.4  7.5  52.8  17.2  (0.2)

Grain Marketing $m  35.1  (10.4)  51.4  42.8  43.4 

Malt Manufacture $m  34.3  30.0  12.9  23.5  0.2 

Rural Services $m  3.9  1.0 - - -

Other $m  (18.8)  (17.2)  (22.0)  (24.1)  (11.9)

Significant Items $m - - - - (5.0)

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax and 

amortisation of goodwill
$m  70.9  10.9  95.1  59.4  26.5 

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax $m  48.8  7.3  66.7  41.7  17.1 

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax but before 

goodwill amortisation and significant items
$m  48.8  7.3  66.7  41.7  22.7 

Earnings per share cents  31.2  4.9  47.1  29.8  34.6 

Earnings per share before amortisation of goodwill and 

significant items
cents  31.2  4.9  47.1  29.8  45.9 

Dividends (Fully Franked)

Interim cents 7.0 5.0 14.0 8.0 12.0 

Final cents 14.0 5.0 16.0 9.0 13.0 

Special cents - - - - 15.0

Other Information

Number of Ordinary Shares (year end) (2) m  171.3  149.2  144.5  140.3  139.5 

Shareholder’s Equity $m  1,110.9  899.3  880.1  816.1  797.2 

Return on Average Equity (ROE) before amortisation of 

goodwill (3) % 4.9% 0.8% 7.9% 5.2% 17.6%

ROE (excluding merger goodwill) % 6.5% 1.2% 11.3% 7.6% 17.6%

Net Assets per Ordinary Share $  6.49  6.03  6.09  5.82  5.71 

Net Tangible Assets per Ordinary Share $  4.35  3.63  3.64  3.28  3.22 

Gearing (Net Debt / Net Tangible Assets) % 49% 79% 73% 42% 55%

Gearing (Net Debt / Equity) % 33% 48% 44% 24% 31%

Five Year Financial History (continued)
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ABB Grain Ltd is a company limited by shares, 

incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Current Directors
Perry Gunner – Chairman 

Max Venning – Deputy Chairman 

Michael Iwaniw – Managing Director  

Andrew Barr 

Paul Daniel 

Trevor Day 

Ross Johns 

Kevin Osborn  

Timothy Ryan

Company Secretary
Ashley Roff

Registered Office
124-130 South Terrace 

Adelaide SA 5000

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers 

91 King William Street 

Adelaide SA 5000

To request an Annual Report
Telephone: (08) 8211 7199 

Email:  abb@abb.com.au 

Internet:  www.abb.com.au

ABB’s annual report and other material  

is available on the Company’s website  

www.abb.com.au.

Annual Report Mailing List
Shareholders are required to opt in to  

receive a hard copy of the annual report;  

the default option is to access the report via 

ABB’s company website www.abb.com.au.  

If shareholders wish to change their current 

option, they should notify ABB’s share registry  

in writing quoting their shareholder number.

Change of Address
ABB’s share registry should be informed of any 

change in address as soon as possible in writing. 

Shareholders should quote their previous 

address, new address and shareholder number.

Share Registry
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 

Level 5 

115 Grenfell Street 

Adelaide SA  5000

Share Registry Enquiries
Enquiries regarding shareholdings should be 

directed to ABB’s share registry, either at the 

address above or by calling Computershare  

on 1300 550 374.

Stock Exchange Listing
ABB Grain Ltd shares are listed on the  

Australian Stock Exchange –  

ASX code: ABB
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